Public Document Pack

QSwaIe

BOROUGH COUNCIL

AGENDA
PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING

Date: Thursday, 28 April 2016
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Council Chamber, Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT

Membership:

Councillors Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart, Bobbin, Andy Booth, Roger Clark,

Richard Darby, Mike Dendor, Mark Ellen, Sue Gent, James Hall, Mike Henderson,

James Hunt, Lesley Ingham, Peter Marchington, Bryan Mulhern (Chairman), Prescott (Vice-
Chairman) and Ben Stokes.

Quorum =6

Pages
1. Fire Evacuation Procedure

The Chairman will advise the meeting of the evacuation procedures to
follow in the event of an emergency. This is particularly important for
visitors and members of the public who will be unfamiliar with the building
and procedures.

The Chairman will inform the meeting whether there is a planned
evacuation drill due to take place, what the alarm sounds like (i.e. ringing
bells), where the closest emergency exit route is, and where the second
closest emergency exit route is, in the event that the closest exit or route
is blocked.

The Chairman will inform the meeting that:

(a) in the event of the alarm sounding, everybody must leave the building
via the nearest safe available exit and gather at the Assembly points at
the far side of the Car Park; and

(b) the lifts must not be used in the event of an evacuation.

Any officers present at the meeting will aid with the evacuation.

It is important that the Chairman is informed of any person attending who
is disabled or unable to use the stairs, so that suitable arrangements may

be made in the event of an emergency.

2. Apologies for Absence and Confirmation of Substitutes



Minutes

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 April 2016 (Minute Nos.
634 - 641) as a correct record.

Declarations of Interest

Councillors should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or
other material benefits for themselves or their spouse, civil partner or
person with whom they are living with as a spouse or civil partner. They
must declare and resolve any interests and relationships.

The Chairman will ask Members if they have any interests to declare in
respect of items on this agenda, under the following headings:

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act
2011. The nature as well as the existence of any such interest must be
declared. After declaring a DPI, the Member must leave the meeting and
not take part in the discussion or vote. This applies even if there is
provision for public speaking.

(b) Disclosable Non Pecuniary (DNPI) under the Code of Conduct
adopted by the Council in May 2012. The nature as well as the existence
of any such interest must be declared. After declaring a DNPI interest,
the Member may stay, speak and vote on the matter.

Advice to Members: If any Councillor has any doubt about the
existence or nature of any DPI or DNPI which he/she may have in any
item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice from the Director of
Corporate Services as Monitoring Officer, the Head of Legal or from other
Solicitors in Legal Services as early as possible, and in advance of the
Meeting.

Part B reports for the Planning Committee to decide

5.

Planning Working Group

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 April 2016 (Minute
Nos. 646 — 647).

15/507246/FULL 320 Minster Road, Minster, ME12 3NR

Report of the Head of Planning

To consider the attached report (Parts 2 and 5).

The Council operates a scheme of public speaking at meetings of the
Planning Committee. All applications on which the public has registered
to speak will be taken first. Requests to speak at the meeting must be

registered with Democratic Services (democraticservices@swale.gov.uk
or call 01795 417328) by noon on Wednesday 27 April 2016.

1-135


mailto:democraticservices@swale.gov.uk

7. Exclusion of the Press and Public

To decide whether to pass the resolution set out below in respect of the
following item:

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt
information as defined in Paragraphs 5 and 7.

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege
could be maintained in legal proceedings.
7. Information relation to any action in connection with the prevention,
investigation or prosecution of crime.
8. Report of the Head of Planning 136

To consider the attached report (Part 6).

Issued on Tuesday, 19 April 2016

The reports included in Part | of this agenda can be made available
in alternative formats. For further information about this service, or
to arrange for special facilities to be provided at the meeting, please

contact DEMOCRATIC SERVICES on 01795 417330. To find out
more about the work of the Planning Committee, please visit
www.swale.gov.uk

Director of Corporate Services, Swale Borough Council,
Swale House, East Street, Sittingbourne, Kent, ME10 3HT



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING SERVICES

Planning Items to be submitted to the Planning Committee

28 APRIL 2016

Standard Index to Contents

DEFERRED ITEMS Items shown in previous Minutes as being deferred from that
meeting may be considered at this meeting

PART 1 Reports to be considered in public session not included
elsewhere on this Agenda

PART 2 Applications for which permission is recommended
PART 3 Applications for which refusal is recommended
PART 4 Swale Borough Council’'s own development; observation on

County Council’s development; observations on development in
other districts or by Statutory Undertakers and by Government
Departments; and recommendations to the County Council on
‘County Matter’ applications.

PART 5 Decisions by County Council and the Secretary of State on
appeal, reported for information

PART 6 Reports containing “Exempt Information” during the consideration
of which it is anticipated that the press and public will be
excluded

ABBREVIATIONS: commonly used in this Agenda

CDA Crime and Disorder Act 1998

GPDO The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order
1995

HRA Human Rights Act 1998

K&MSP Kent and Medway Structure Plan 2006

SBLP Swale Borough Local Plan 2008

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



INDEX OF ITEMS FOR PLANNING COMMITTEE — 28 APRIL 2016

. Minutes of last Planning Committee Meeting
Deferred Items

. Minutes of any Working Party Meetings

Part 2

21 15/510082/FULL HARTLIP

Pg1-7

2.2 15/508144/FULL IWADE

Pg8-16

23 15/508661/FULL SITTINGBOURNE

Pg 17 - 35

24 15/510605/FULL SITTINGBOURNE

Pg 36 - 87

25

Pg 88 —128 15/510595/0UT NEWINGTON

Part 5 - Index

Pg 129

5.1 15/506335/FULL MINSTER

Pg 130 - 132

5.2 SW/12/0987 GRAVENEY

Pg 133 -135

Page 3

46 Hartlip Hill

6 Sheerstone

Ceres Court, Eagles Close

Central Park Stadium Church Road

Land off London Road

226 Chequers Road

1 New House, Broom Street



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28 APRIL 2016 PART 2
Report of the Head of Planning
PART 2

Applications for which PERMISSION is recommended

2.1 REFERENCE NO - 15/510082/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Demolition of rear extension and outbuildings. Erection of rear and side extensions and loft
conversion to include dormers and rooflights.

ADDRESS 46 Hartlip Hill Hartlip Kent ME9 7NZ

RECOMMENDATION Approve

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposal is acceptable in principle and does not impact unacceptably upon residential or
visual amenities.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Recommendation contrary to Parish Council view

WARD Hartlip, Newington | PARISH/TOWN  COUNCIL | APPLICANT Mr S Collins

& Upchurch Hartlip AGENT Mr Simon Edgington
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE

29/01/16 11/01/16

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

None

MAIN REPORT

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 No.46 Hartlip Hill is a detached bungalow located in a row of similarly sized
properties, with a varied mixture of property types located on the opposite side of the
highway.

1.02 The property is located within a fairly substantially sized plot. The frontage of the
property extends to some 13m in depth and includes a landscaped garden and a
driveway which extends to the side of the property.

1.03 There are outbuildings located to the rear of the property and along the common
boundary with No.44 Hartlip Hill.

1.04 The rear garden is large, measuring approximately 50m in depth and 15m in width.

Page 5




Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

2.04

3.0

3.01

4.0

4.01

4.02

4.03

4.04

5.0

5.01

PROPOSAL

This application seeks planning permission for the demolition of the existing rear
extension and outbuildings, an increase to the height and width of the bungalow, a
rear extension, and formation of rooms in the roofspace.

The property as existing measures 8.3m in width and would be widened to a width of
9.6m. The rear extension would measure a maximum 10.4m in depth and match the
width at the front of the dwelling.

The roof of the bungalow would be raised from its existing height of 5.5m to 6.1m.
The pitched roof design of the existing bungalow will be retained. To the rear, the
proposed extension will have a hipped roof with the ridgeline turned at 90 degrees to
that at the front of the dwelling.

The loft space of the dwelling would also be utilised, and as a result of this two
pitched-roof dormer windows and a rooflight are proposed on the rear elevation. On
the east facing side elevation four rooflights are proposed and on the west facing
rooflight two rooflights are proposed.

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS
Potential Archaeological Importance.
POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG) are relevant in terms of encouraging good design standards and
minimising the potential impacts of any development upon the amenity of
neighbouring residents.

The adopted Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 echoes a similar sentiment, and
policies E1, E19, E24 in particular encourage the provision of high-quality
development and minimising potential amenity impacts for local residents. Policy E6
and RC4 aims to restrict development within the countryside and the adopted SPG
(referred to below) recommends that extensions to rural properties do not increase
the floor space of the original property by more than 60% in total.

The publication draft of the emerging Local Plan, entitled Bearing Fruits 2031, was
agreed by Members at Full Council late last year and was agreed in principle by the
Local Plan Inspector last year, and, as such, carries some weight in the
determination of planning applications. Policies DM14, DM16, DM19 are relevant in
this instance.

The Council’s adopted Supplementary Planning Guidance entitled “Designing an
Extension” is also relevant, and provides general design guidance. The SPG
remains a material consideration, having been through a formal review and adoption
process.

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

Surrounding properties were sent a consultation letter. Five responses were
received to the proposal, raising the following summarised objections:

2

Page 6



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

6.0

6.01

6.02

6.03

6.04

7.0

7.01

e The proposal is disproportionate and not in keeping with the surrounding
bungalows;

o Would adversely impact upon the streetscene as the existing roof heights are all
identical;

e The proposal will significantly reduce natural light received to neighbouring
dwellings;

e The proposal will give rise to overlooking of surrounding gardens and properties;

e The existing roof tiles are asbestos;
Construction noise will take place at unsociable hours over a long period of time;

CONSULTATIONS
Hartlip Parish Council objects to this application with the following observations:

“HPC is very concerned about the size of the proposed conversion which
would appear to increase the size of the footprint by 60% giving a much larger
footprint than for numbers 44 and 48 Hartlip Hill and is too large for rural
constraint policies. It is noted that in the letter from Edgington Architectural
Services, reference is made to using members of the family in the building
trade to carry out some of the works and the work will be undertaken in two
phases. The proposed new roof is one metre higher than the existing and will
impact on neighbours and affect their amenity. To buy a house with 2
bedrooms when you require 5 seems odd.

HPC have endeavoured to consult the neighbours. Mr. Crawford at 48 Hartlip
Hill has just sold his house and will be moving out shortly and it is not known
whether the new purchasers are aware of the proposals. It may well come as
a very unpleasant surprise to them. Mr Munn at 44 Hartlip Hill is very
concerned about the effect on his amenity. He will almost certainly be lodging
a letter of objection. He is also concerned about the fact that as the work is to
be carried out by family members, it may be undertaken in anti-social hours.

For the above reasons HPC objects to this application. No doubt you will
consider very carefully any comments made by neighbours and efforts should
be made to consult the new owners of No.48.

If this, or a revised application is granted a condition should be added limiting
the number of hours worked to 8.00am to 5.00pm. on Monday to Friday.”

Upchurch Parish Council (the rear site boundary abuts the boundary of Upchurch
Parish) responded stating that they “can see no reason to object to this application
provided that neighbours comments are taken into consideration.”

Network Rail has no objection or further observations to make.

KCC Archaeology are satisfied that “no archaeological measures are needed.”

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

Application papers and correspondence relating to planning reference
15/510082/FULL.

Page 7



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

8.0

8.01

8.02

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

APPRAISAL
Principle of Development

The site lies within the designated countryside where the principle of development is
governed by policies E6, RC4 and the adopted SPG. These advise that “modest”
extensions in the countryside will be acceptable subject to them not increasing the
size of the dwelling by more than 60% over the floor space of the original property.

In this instance, the application proposes an increase on the original floorspace of
approximately 267%. However, the Council has for some time now considered the
Hartlip Hill area to amount to an exception to the normal policies of restraint for
development in the countryside. The area is suburban in character, comprising of a
substantial length of ribbon development, giving an entirely developed frontage to the
road on both sides of the A2. As such, whilst for the purposes of the Swale Borough
Local Plan 2008 the site is located in the countryside, in reality there is little harm to
the character of the countryside resulting from development to these dwellings. The
policies of rural restraint have accordingly been applied less rigorously here on a
number of separate occasions, as large extensions to these dwellings would not be
likely to cause material harm to the countryside.

| am therefore of the opinion that whilst the proposed extension would be well in
excess of what | would normally consider acceptable, it is acceptable in principle in
this location.

Visual Impact and impact upon the streetscene

Concern has been raised locally regarding the change of design and the impact that
this would have upon the character of the streetscene. When viewed from the front
elevation the host property is of a similar scale and design to the adjoining properties,
moving eastwards a further 4 properties are also of a similar in appearance.
However, the application as proposed would limit the increase in the ridge height to
0.6m. In addition the application has been amended so that the roof of the rear
extension is symmetrical when viewed from the front, this in my view retains the
sense of balance of the property.

| also take into consideration that due to the gap between the properties, an increase
in roof height of 0.6m and the retention of the pitched roof with front facing gable
would result in a design which was not significantly out of keeping with the adjacent
dwellings. Furthermore, | note that properties on the opposite side of the highway
are a mixture of heights, types and designs. As such, in my view, the proposal would
not be considerably out of keeping with surrounding properties. In my view the
scheme would therefore not impact unacceptably on either visual amenities or the
streetscene.

Residential Amenity

The existing rear elevations of both adjacent properties (Nos. 44 and 48) project
beyond the rear elevation of the host property. As proposed, the rear extension
would project beyond the rear elevation of No.44 by 5m at a height of 6.1m.
However, the flank wall of the extension closest to No.44 would be separated by a
distance of 6.5m. | also note that the application will include the demolition of
existing outbuildings, a humber of which are located either on, or within 1m of the
boundary with No.44. As such, the built form will be moved further away from the
common boundary. | also pay regard to the SPG which in the case of well spaced

4

Page 8



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

8.07

8.08

8.09

8.10

8.11

detached properties allows for degree of flexibility in terms of the acceptability of rear
projections Overall | take the view that due to the separation distance between the
two properties, the hip of the roof sloping away from the side boundary and the
removal of the existing outbuildings that the proposed extension would not have an
unacceptably overbearing impact upon the occupiers of No.44 or cause a significant
loss of light.

On the opposite side, N0.48 has a rear projection abutting the boundary with the host
property which projects approximately 1m past the rear elevation of the proposed
extension. As such | also take the view that the proposal would not have an
unacceptably overbearing impact upon the occupiers of N0.48 or cause a significant
loss of light to this property.

Local concern has also been raised regarding overlooking of neighbouring properties
and gardens. The application proposes rooflights in the side facing roof slopes and
two dormer windows and a rooflight in the rear facing roof slope. The rear facing
dormer windows and rooflight would provide rearward views in a conventional
manner. As such | consider that this element of the proposal would not give rise to
unacceptable levels of overlooking.

The rooflights on the side elevation serve the stairway and the loft space / storage
area. Although | appreciate that there would be the opportunity in future to convert
this space into a habitable room | note that the rooflights would be located towards
the middle and the front of the roofspace. As such the main views available would be
of the roofs of the neighbouring dwelling. As such, in my view the proposal would not
give rise to unacceptable levels of overlooking or loss of privacy.

Parking

The application site as existing has a driveway which runs from the frontage of the
property and along the side of the dwelling. The proposal will retain this driveway but
due to the increase in the width of the dwelling it will be reduced to 2.8m in the area
between the flank wall and the side boundary. As contained in Supplementary
Planning Guidance 4 — Kent Vehicle Parking Standards, July 2006, a width of 2.9m is
required when bounded on both sides. However, the driveway would continue in
front of the property. As such, there would still be room to park vehicles and due to
the size of the frontage, within which a landscaped garden would be retained, | do
not consider that parking would therefore be a significantly dominant feature to the
front of the dwelling. | also note the existing planting which runs along the boundary
with No.48 which would also have the impact of screening vehicles. As such |
consider that the parking arrangements are acceptable and would not significantly
harm the street scene.

Other Matters

| also note that comments have been made regarding possible asbestos at the site
and that construction may cause harm to neighbouring amenities. | will deal with
these issues in turn. Firstly, the issue of asbestos is not covered by the planning
process but via separate legislation, and would be considered at the Building
Regulations stage. Secondly, although not normally imposed on a domestic
extension, in this case, due to the relatively large addition to the dwelling | have
recommended an hours of construction condition. | therefore believe that
neighbouring amenities will be protected in this regard.

5

Page 9



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

9.0 CONCLUSION

9.00 Overall | consider that the principle of development is accepted in this location, the
proposal would not be significantly out of keeping with the existing street scene and it
would not have an unacceptable impact upon residential amenities. | recommend
that planning permission be granted.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION — GRANT Subject to the following conditions:

(1) The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is
granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

(2) The materials used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby approved shall match those as stated on the application
form.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenities.

(3) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: EAS/15/07/04A; EAS/15/07/05A; EAS/15/07/06A;
EAS/15/07/07A; EAS/15/07/08A, received 10™ March 2016.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

(4) No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following
times:- Monday to Friday 0730 — 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 — 1300 hours
unless in association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.
The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner
by:

e Offering pre-application advice.

o \Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

e As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance:

The applicant/agent was advised of minor changes required to the application and these
were agreed.

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

6

Page 10



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.1

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

2.2 REFERENCE NO - 15/508144/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL
Erection of attached dwelling, creation of garden and associated landscaping.

ADDRESS 6 Sheerstone lwade Kent ME9 8RN

RECOMMENDATION Approve

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

The proposed dwelling is within the built up area boundary and would not unacceptably harm
residential or visual amenities or the streetscene.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
Called in by ClIr Stokes

WARD Bobbing, lwade & | PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL | APPLICANT Whitby Building
Lower Halstow lwade Solutions Ltd.
AGENT Robinson Escott
Planning
DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE
02/12/15 31/3/2016

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

None

MAIN REPORT
1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.01 No.6 Sheerstone is comprised of a two storey semi detached property with a
landscaped garden to the front and side and private amenity space extending to 27m
to the rear.

1.02 In front of the property lies an area of amenity space which separates Sheerstone
from Ferry Road.

1.03 On the western side of the highway, in this part of Sheerstone, the properties are
predominately semi detached. On the opposite side of Ferry Road the style of
property is predominately 2 storey and terraced in nature. As such, there is a mixture
of property type and design within close proximity of the application site.

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.01 This application seeks planning permission for a two storey dwelling. The dwelling
would be attached to the existing property at No.6 Sheerstone. The property would

be orientated away from No.6 and address the highway at a similar angle as No. 2
and 4.

Page 13




Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

2.02

2.03

2.04

2.05

3.0

3.01

4.0

4.01

4.02

4.03

4.04

4.05

Due to the orientation of the property it would measure 7.8m in width along the
stepped front elevation and 3.6m in width at the very rear of the property. The
dwelling would be 8.8m in depth, 5m to the eaves and 7.8m in overall height with a
pitched roof.

Internally the dwelling would be comprised of a hallway, lounge, kitchen, dining room
and w.c. whilst at first floor level would be two bedrooms and a bathroom.

A portion of the proposed property’s frontage would be comprised of hardstanding
with the remainder being a landscaped garden. The hardstanding would continue for
12.6m in depth adjacent to the property. There would be provision to park 3 cars
within the curtilage of the proposed property.

The existing rear amenity space of No.6 would be approximately halved to give the
existing property at No.6 and the proposed adjacent property a similar amount of
private amenity space. This would be approximately 27m in length and 6.6m in width
immediately to the rear of the properties before tapering inwards towards the rear.
PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

Potential Archaeological Importance

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

The NPPF and the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) both advocate
provision of new residential development within sustainable urban locations close to
local shops and services, subject to good design and no serious amenity issues
being raised.

Development Plan

Policy E1 sets out standards applicable to all development, saying that it should be
well sited and appropriate in scale, design and appearance with a high standard of
landscaping, and have safe pedestrian and vehicular access whilst avoiding
unacceptable consequences in highway terms;

Policy E19 states that the Borough Council expects development to be of high quality
design and should amongst other requirements provide development that is
appropriate to its context in respect of scale, height and massing, both in relation to
its surroundings, and its individual details;

Policy H2 states that planning permission for new residential development will be
granted for sites within the defined built up areas, in accordance with the other
policies of the Local Plan.

Policy T3 states that the Borough Council will only permit development if appropriate

vehicle parking is provided in accordance with Kent County Council parking
standards.

Page 14



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

5.0

5.01

6.0

6.01

6.02

6.03

6.04

6.05

7.0

7.01

8.0

8.01

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

Surrounding properties were sent a consultation letter and a site notice was
displayed close to the site. Three responses were received which raised the
following summarised objections:

- Will exacerbate existing parking problems in the area;

- Water / sewer pipes are within the boundary of No.6 causing complications if
the get damaged / blocked,;

- No need for this dwelling;

- Where would construction vehicles park?

- Lower value of existing properties;

CONSULTATIONS

Iwade Parish Council “has concerns about parking as regards this application.
Parking in Sheerstone is problematic, often both sides of the road outside of this
property are blocked with parked cars. As these are three bedroomed homes the
Parish Council requests that provision is made on site for two cars per property - no.
6 and the new build.”

KCC Archaeology “confirm that no archaeological measures are required in
connection with the proposal.”

| have consulted verbally with the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager
who has requested an hours of construction condition.

Southern Water requests that if consent is granted then a condition is imposed
relating to diversion of public sewers and an informative relating connection to the
public foul sewerage system.

As three objections to the scheme have been received, | contacted the Ward
Members, summarising the reasons why | believed the application to be acceptable
and also giving them the opportunity to call the application into Planning Committee if
they wished. Their responses were as follows:

Clir Stokes: “As there are some objections | will like to call in this application to
committee.”
No response was received from Cllr Dewar-Whalley.

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

Application papers and correspondence relating to planning reference
15/508144/FULL.

APPRAISAL

It is important to note at the outset that during the course of this application
amendments have been made to the scheme which have reduced the scale of the
property resulting in a two bedroomed property rather than 3 bedrooms as originally
applied for. Further to this, provision for three parking space within the curtilage of
the dwelling has now also been provided.

10

Page 15



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

8.02

8.03

8.04

8.05

8.06

8.07

8.08

In light of the above, in my view the key considerations in the determination of this
application are as follows:

- Principle of development;

- Impact upon residential amenities;

- Impact upon visual amenities and the streetscene;
- Parking provision

Principle of Development

The application site lies within the built up area boundary where the erection of new
dwellings is acceptable in principle in accordance with both locally and nationally
adopted policies. As such the development of this site is acceptable as a matter of
principle.

Residential Amenities

The flank elevation of the property, facing towards No.4 Sheerstone is L shaped. At
its closest point it is separated from the flank wall of this adjacent property by a
distance of 4.7m and by 5.4m at its furthest point. The proposed property is set
approximately 1.8m forward of the building line of No.2 and 4 Sheerstone and
approximately in line with the rear elevation of these properties. As such | take the
view that the proposal would not impact unacceptably on the neighbouring amenities
of No.4 Sheerstone.

On the opposite side, the proposed dwelling projects at two storey level past the rear
elevation of No.6 by 1.8m. This is in compliance with the depth of projections usually
allowed, as set out in the Council’s adopted SPG. However, as the property
proposed projects beyond No.6 close to the common boundary | have recommended
a condition removing permitted development rights under Class A to protect
neighbouring amenities in the future.

Visual Amenities and the Streetscene

When originally submitted, the application proposed a larger dwelling which was only
1.5m away from the common boundary with No.4. The result of this was that the
width of the frontage, extending to 9m would have had a dominant impact upon the
streetscene. As such, after discussions with the agent / applicant an amended plan
was received, reducing the scale of the dwelling.

The result of the above amendment is that the dwelling proposed in this application is
of a similar scale to the property that it is attached to and the existing dwellings within
Sheerstone. Although it is noted that the property would turn the existing semi
detached dwellings (No.6 and 8) into a terrace of three | do not consider this to be
significantly out of keeping with the existing streetscene. The reason for this is
because although this part of Sheerstone itself is comprised of semi detached
properties, on the opposite side of Ferry Road there are terraced properties present
within close proximity of the application site. As such | do not consider that there is a
dominant property type within the area.

I note that the application form states that the proposed external finishing materials
will match the existing materials used in the construction of No.6 Sheerstone. |
believe that this is an appropriate approach to take and this will result in the
appearance of the development being in keeping with the existing dwelling. To
ensure this | have included a relevant condition to this effect.

11

Page 16



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

8.09

8.10

8.11

8.12

9.0

9.01

Parking

Local concern has been raised regarding the parking pressures that exist within the
vicinity of the application site. When originally submitted the application proposed no
parking within the curtilage. | considered this to be unacceptable and as such after
discussions with the agent parking space has now been provided within the site
boundary. Further to this, due to the reduction in the scale of the dwelling, an
element of the parking provision is located to the side of the property, the result of
this is that some of the parking space would be partially screened from public
vantage points. Overall | note that the site has the ability to support three parking
spaces, this is over and above KCC Highways and Transportation standard for a
property of this size in this location. Members should note that currently no6 has no
on site parking facilities and this position would remain the same as a result of this
development As such, | do not consider that this proposal would worsen the parking
situation in the surrounding area.

Other Matters

Concern has also been raised locally regarding the public water supply and
sewerage system which runs beneath the application site. As a result of this |
considered it prudent to consult with Southern Water. They have responded, raising
no objection but requesting a condition relating to diversion of public sewers and an
informative relating connection to the public foul sewerage system. | note details that
have been submitted from the applicant which indicates discussions with Southern
Water regarding this site. However, the actual measures which will be undertaken to
divert the public sewers have not been submitted. | have therefore included this
condition requiring the details along with the informative and in light of this | consider
that this matter has been adequately dealt with.

Further objections have been received which have been summarised above and to
which | respond as follows. Firstly, there is a clear and established need for
additional housing in the Borough and this scheme would make a modest
contribution to this. Secondly, as this application is for a single dwelling | consider
that the period of construction will be limited. As such, | do not consider that parking
of construction vehicles will cause unacceptable harm to highway or residential
amenities. Thirdly, the lowering of property values is not a material planning
consideration and therefore no further comment will be made regarding this.

I have for completeness set out a Habitat Regulations Assessment below. This
confirms that whilst mitigation could be provided by way of developer contributions,
this is not considered appropriate for developments fewer than 10 dwellings. The
cost of mitigation will be met by developer contributions on developments over 10
dwellings. In view of this it is not considered that the development will have a
harmful impact on the special interests of the SPA and Ramsar sites.

CONCLUSION

Overall | consider that the proposal would provide an additional dwelling, within the
built up area boundary without causing unacceptable harm to residential or visual
amenities or the streetscene. Concern has been raised regarding parking but the
application has been amended to now include adequate parking provision within the
curtilage of the proposed dwelling. | believe the proposal to be acceptable and
recommend that planning permission be granted.

12

Page 17



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

10.0

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT Subject to the following conditions/

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which the permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development hereby permitted shall take place in accordance with the following
drawings: 2516-15-PL001 Rev P8 and 2516-15-PL002 Rev P7, received 22"
February 2016.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning

No development shall take place until details have been submitted to the Local
Planning Authority and approved in writing, which set out what measures have been
taken to ensure that the development incorporates sustainable construction
techniques such as water conservation and recycling, renewable energy production
including the inclusion of solar thermal or solar photo voltaic installations, and energy
efficiency. Upon approval, the details shall be incorporated into the development as
approved.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the dwelling
hereby permitted shall match those on the existing building (No.6 Sheerstone) in
terms of type, colour and texture.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity

No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape
works, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. These details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other features,
planting schedules of plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of a
type that will encourage wildlife and biodiversity, ), plant sizes and numbers where
appropriate, means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an implementation
programme.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging wildlife
and biodiversity, and to ensure that such matters are agreed before work is
commenced.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part
of the development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area.

Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

13

Page 18



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

8)

9)

10)

11)

12)

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area

The area shown on the submitted plan as vehicle parking and turning space shall be
kept available for such use at all times and no permanent development, whether
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any order revoking or re-enacting that Order) or not, shall
be carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular
access thereto; such land and access thereto shall be provided prior to the
occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted.

Reason: Development without adequate provision for the parking of cars is likely to
lead to car parking inconvenient to other road users and in a manner detrimental to
highway safety and amenity.

No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times:-
Monday to Friday 0730 — 1900 hours, Saturdays 0730 — 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

Upon completion, no further development permitted by Class A or Class E of Part 1
of Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that
Order) shall be carried out without the prior permission in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of neighbouring amenities.

The access details shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to the first
occupation of any dwellings hereby approved, and the access shall thereafter be
maintained in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and amenity.

Adequate precautions shall be taken during the period of construction to prevent the
deposit of mud and/or other debris on the public highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

13) The developer must advise the local authority (in consultation with Southern Water) of

the measures which will be undertaken to divert the public sewers, prior to the
commencement of the development.

Reason: To ensure that foul water and sewerage can be adequately disposed of.
Informative

A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order
to service this development. To initiate a sewer capacity check to identify the
appropriate connection point for the development, please contact Southern Water,
Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire S021 2SW (Tel: 0330
3030119) or www.southernwater.co.uk.

14

Page 19


http://www.southernwater.co.uk/

Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

Habitats Regulations Assessment

This HRA has been undertaken without information provided by the applicant.

The application site is located approximately 2.1km south of The Swale Special
Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and 1.5km south of Medway Estuary and
Marshes Special Protection Area and Ramsar site both of which are European
designated sites afforded protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010 as amended (the Habitat Regulations).

SPAs are protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds
Directive. They are classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring
migratory species. Article 4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires Member
States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any
disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard
to the objectives of this Article. The proposal therefore has potential to affect said
site’s features of interest.

In considering the European site interest, Natural England advises the Council that it
should have regard to any potential impacts that the proposal may have. Regulations
61 and 62 of the Habitat Regulations require a Habitat Regulations Assessment. NE
also advises that the proposal is not necessary for the management of the European
sites and that subject to a financial contribution to strategic mitigation, the proposal is
unlikely to have significant effects on these sites and can therefore be screened out
from any requirement for further assessment. It goes on to state that when recording
the HRA the Council should refer to the following information to justify its conclusions
regarding the likelihood of significant effects; financial contributions should be made
to the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and
Monitoring (SAMM) Strategy in accordance with the recommendations of the North
Kent Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG); the strategic mitigation will need to be
in place before the dwellings are occupied.

In terms of screening for the likelihood of significant effects from the proposal on the
SPA features of interest, the following considerations apply:

. Due to the scale of development there is no scope to provide on site
mitigation such as an on site dog walking area or signage to prevent the
primary causes of bird disturbance which are recreational disturbance
including walking, dog walking (particularly off the lead), and predation birds
by cats.

. Based on the correspondence with Natural England, | conclude that off site
mitigation is required. However, the Council has taken the stance that
financial contributions will not be sought on developments of this scale
because of the practicalities of securing payment. In particular, the legal
agreement may cost more to prepare than the contribution itself. This is an
illogical approach to adopt; would overburden small scale developers; and
would be a poor use of Council resources. This would normally mean that the
development should not be allowed to proceed, however, NE have
acknowledged that the North Kent Councils have yet to put in place the full
measures necessary to achieve mitigation across the area and that questions
relating to the cumulated impacts on schemes of 10 or less will need to be
addressed in on-going discussions. This will lead to these matters being
addressed at a later date to be agreed between NE and the Councils

concerned.
. Developer contributions towards strategic mitigation of impacts on the
features of interest of the SPA- | understand there are informal thresholds

15

Page 20



Planning Committee Report - 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.2

being set by other North Kent Councils of 10 dwellings or more above which
developer contributions would be sought. Swale Council is of the opinion that
Natural England’s suggested approach of seeking developer contributions on
minor developments will not be taken forward and that a threshold of 10 or
more will be adopted in due course. In the interim, | need to consider the best
way forward that complies with legislation, the views of Natural England, and
is acceptable to officers as a common route forward. Swale Borough Council
intends to adopt a formal policy of seeking developer contributions for larger
schemes in the fullness of time and that the tariff amount will take account of
and compensate for the cumulative impacts of the smaller residential
schemes such as this application, on the features of interest of the SPA in
order to secure the long term strategic mitigation required. Swale Council is of
the opinion that when the tariff is formulated it will encapsulate the time period
when this application was determined in order that the individual and
cumulative impacts of this scheme will be mitigated for.

Whilst the individual implications of this proposal on the features of interest of the
SPA will be extremely minimal in my opinion as this is for a single dwelling,
cumulative impacts of multiple smaller residential approvals will be dealt with
appropriately by the method outlined above.

For these reasons, | conclude that the proposal can be screened out of the need to
progress to an Appropriate Assessment. | acknowledge that the mitigation will not be
in place prior to occupation of the dwelling proposed but in the longer term the
mitigation will be secured at an appropriate level, and in perpetuity.

The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner

by:

Offering pre-application advice.

Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the
processing of their application.

In this instance:

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB

For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’'s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

16

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

2.3 Reference No — 15/508661/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL | Ref No 15/508661/FULL

Demolition of existing 3 x four storey block of flats and erection of 40 affordable dwellinghouses
with associated parking and landscaping

ADDRESS Ceres Court, Eagles Close, Sittingbourne, Kent ME10 3RJ

RECOMMENDATION - Application Permitted
SUMMARY FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE
The application is in conformity with the Local Plan and contrary representations sufficient to

necessitate reporting to the Planning Committee have not been received but Member authority is
required to enter into the S106 agreement

WARD PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Amicus Horizon
Murston Limited
AGENT Fullerlong

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
8/4/16 18/12/16 22/01/2016
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
App No Summary -
SW/05/1369 Change of use of existing car park to a fenced court area for ball games,

including landscaping works — Approved 19" December 2005
SW/04/0375 Communal garden — Approved 11" May 2004

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF SITE

1.1 Ceres Court is a post war development and appears to date from the 1960s and
comprises 3 No. four storey flat blocks providing 78 flats. The flats are a mix of 30 No.
bedsits, 30 No. one bed flats and 18 No. three bedroom maisonettes units.

1.2 The flat blocks are served by a communal open space which includes a more recent
multi-use games area and outdoor gym equipment for use by residents.

1.3  The site is located on level ground but is elevated from the neighbouring housing
development to the north. The site is enclosed on the northern boundary by a 1.5 metre
high brick wall and a grassed bank which falls away from the northern boundary to
Gorse Road. Gorse Road a cul-de-sac provides access to Murston Junior School,
which shares the western boundary of the site. A footpath connects the site to a
footpath on the south of Gorse Road, which is used regularly to access the school.

1.4  The flat blocks are accessed from Eagles Close, a two branched cul-de-sac, which is
accessed from Portland Avenue.

15 The flat blocks have now been vacated and are boarded up and empty. The
surrounding area is residential and is characterized by mainly two storey houses to the
north, south and east. To the west of the site is Murston Junior School and playfield.

17

Page 23




Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

2.0

2.1

2.2

PROPOSAL

The proposal is for the demolition of the existing 3 No. four-storey blocks of flats and
erection of 40 No. two storey dwellinghouses with associated parking and landscaping.
The houses will comprise a mix of one two and three bedroom houses each with their
own private amenity space.

The applicant, Amicus Horizon, stat that the dwellings will be 100% affordable based
on 75% affordable rent and 25% shared ownership. The proposed accommodation
schedule is summarised as follows:

Affordable Rent Shared Ownership

6 x 3 bedroom units providing 87 sq. m

2 x 3 bedroom units providing 93 sg. m (wheelchair accessible units)
14 x 2 bedroom units providing 84 sg. m

6 x 3 bedroom units providing 96 sq. m

2 x 3 bedroom units providing 100.8 sg. m

Total: 30 units

Shared Ownership

4 x 1 bedroom units providing 65.9 sg. m; and
6 x 2 bedroom units providing 84 sq. m

Total: 10 units

2.3

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

The design of the scheme is based on a contemporary design of terraced and
semi-detached houses with a combination of facing brickwork and weatherboarding to
the elevations and dual pitched roofs over covered in roof tiles.

The units are arranged around a central communal amenity area. A one way vehicle
‘loop’ is proposed through the site to reduce traffic speeds and to provide a safe
pedestrian route through the site.

The houses are arranged symmetrically either side of the entrance into Ceres Court,
continuing the layout/pattern of the existing houses in Eagles Close but bringing
forward the building line to signify the entrance and create opportunity for variation in
architectural treatment. The creation of this ‘gateway’ is assisted by the orientation of
the entrance to these properties, which face the site entrance.

One parking space will be provided for each 1 and 2 bed dwelling while the 3 bedroom
dwellings will benefit from two spaces. 9 visitor spaces will also be provided throughout
the site. A total of 64 car parking spaces are proposed. Members will note that the
existing development has 20 car parking spaces. Cycle parking will be provided within
the curtilage of each dwelling.

Amenity space is provided in the form of individual front and rear gardens to the
houses, whilst a communal area of open space will be provided centrally. Further
incidental landscaping and open space pockets are included, and trees within the site
will also offer visual relief and improved visual amenity.

18

Page 24



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

2.8

2.9

3.0

3.1

4.0

4.1

The existing multi use games area is to be retained and refurbished and existing
outdoor gym equipment is to be relocated. The scheme also includes new play
provision for younger children.

The applicant has confirmed that the amenity/games areas and open space area will
be managed and maintained by Amicus Horizon Limited.

The applicant has advised that they are not intending that the road within the site to be
adoption by the Highway Authority.

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

The application site is located within the built up area of Sittingbourne and within an
established residential area.

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Adopted Swale Borough Local Plan 2008

The following policies are relevant to the determination of the application:

Policy E1 - General development Criteria

Policy E9 - Protecting the Quality and Character of the Borough'’s landscape
Policy E19 - Achieving High Quality Design and Distinctiveness

Policy H2 - Providing for New Housing

Policy H3 — Providing for Affordable Housing

Policy T3 - Vehicle Parking for New Development

4.2

Bearing Fruits 2013

The emerging Local Plan Bearing Fruits 2013 is at an advanced stage and accordingly it is
considered to be a material consideration and weight can be given to the relevant policies.

The following policies are considered to be relevant to proposal:

ST1 - Delivering sustainable development in Swale
CP3 - delivering a wide choice of quality homes
CP4 — requiring Good Design

DM7 — Vehicle parking

DM8 — Affordable Housing

DM14 — General development Criteria

DM 19 — Sustainable Design and Construction
DM20 — Renewable and low carbon energy

4.3

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG)

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG) make clear that the overarching principle of the NPPF is a clear
presumption in favour of sustainable development. In terms of determining
applications this means approving development proposals that accord with the
development plan without delay and granting permission in cases where the
development plan is absent or out of date providing the development is in accordance
with the policies contained within the NPPF (paragraph 14).

19

Page 25



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

The NPPF also seeks to build a strong and competitive economy, supporting a
prosperous rural economy and conserving and enhancing the natural and historic
environment. Sustainable development is made up of a combination of economic,
social and environmental factors and that the role of the planning system is to
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development.

Local Authorities are advised to respond positively to opportunities for growth and
should contribute to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy.

In promoting a healthy economy, the government states its commitment to ensuring
that the planning system does everything it can to support sustainable economic
growth. Planning should operate to encourage and not act as an impediment to
sustainable growth. Therefore significant weight should be placed on the need to
support economic growth through the planning system.

Importantly planning authorities are encouraged to consider the effective use of land
by re-using land that has been previously developed (brownfield land) provided that it
is not of high environmental value.

Delivering a Wide Choice of High Quality Homes, the NPPF requires that new
residential development should be considered within the context of the presumption in
favour of sustainable development. New developments should provide an adequate
mix, size, type, tenure and range of housing, as well as seek to meet local affordable
housing requirements.

Promoting Sustainable Transport: Transport Assessments/ Statements should seek to
reduce the reliance on the use of private cars, and instead promote the use of more
sustainable modes of travel such as walking and cycling.

The NPPF seeks to promote good design and states that the Government attaches
great importance to the design of the built environment, a key aspect of sustainable
development that is indivisible from good planning, which should contribute positively
to making places better for people.

In March 2015, the NPPF incorporated nationally described space standards, which
deals with internal space within new dwellings and is suitable for application across all
tenures. It sets out requirements for the Gross Internal floor area of new dwellings at a
defined level of occupancy as well as floor areas and dimensions for key parts of the
home, notably bedrooms, storage and floor to ceiling heights.

The challenge of climate change is considered in Chapter 10 of The NPPF, which
contains a set of broad-based policies to seek to address this in new development. The
move to a low carbon future is supported and local planning authorities should plan for
new development in locations and ways that reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

The NPPF also places significant emphasis on the issue of development viability. Its
fundamental premise is that plans should take into account market signals such as
land prices and housing affordability (para. 17). The NPPF goes on to make clear that
"Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in
plan-making and decision-taking”. Furthermore, “to ensure viability, the costs of any
requirements likely to be applied to development, such as requirements for affordable
housing, standards, infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when
taking account of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive
returns to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be
deliverable” (para.173).

20

Page 26



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

197 neighbouring properties have been consulted but no representations have been
received.

CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Strategic Housing and Health Manager: Fully supports the scheme to re-develop the
site to provide 40 dwellings and advises that the accommodation schedule proposed
accurately reflects what has previously been agreed.

Environmental Protection Team Leader: No objection subject to a condition to
require the submission of a contaminated land assessment prior to the
commencement of the development; a condition to control the hours of construction
work and a condition to require the submission of a programme for the suppression of
dust during demolition and construction works.

Greenspace Manager: Confirm that we would not seek any additional play
contribution in relation to this scheme, just the relocation of the ball court and existing
fitness equipment as part of the construction.

Contract and Procurement Team: The requirements for waste receptacles for the
above planning application are as follows:

1 x 180ltr Green wheeled bin for refuse per dwelling at a cost of £39.50 per bin
1 x 240Itr Blue wheeled bin for recycling per dwelling at a cost of £39.50 per bin
1 x 23ltr Food bin per dwelling at a cost of £5 per bin

1 x 5 Itr Kitchen Caddy per dwelling at a cost of £1 per bin

Total for 40 dwellings = £3400

Environment Agency: We have assessed the application as having low
environmental risk. Therefore we have no comments to make.

Kent Police: Kent Police were consulted and advise that the scheme is broadly
acceptable but suggest that a meeting with the applicant to ensure that the opportunity
to design out crime is not missed.

The applicant has met with Kent Police and it would appear that in light of the
discussions it seems that the drawings do not need to be amended as such, but key
points were identified and the applicant has confirmed that most of the measures which
Kent Police Crime Prevention Design Advisor was seeking as good and endorsed
design practice, had already been absorbed into the applicant's employer’s
requirements and are included in the Contractors scope and pricing for the tender of
the construction of the development.

Appropriate measures to minimise the risk of crime can be secured by condition.

6.7

Kent County Council Highways and Transportation: Raise no objection subject to
minor amendments and an extract from their response reads as follows:

“The application has been submitted with the benefit of pre-application advice being
given early on in the design process, and | am pleased that the submitted layout
reflects the guidance that was provided at the time. The parking provision is in

21

Page 27



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

6.8

6.9

accordance with the Kent County Council standards adopted by Swale Borough
Council, and is generally located appropriately for the associated dwellings to avoid
on-street parking that would otherwise be more convenient to the residents.

| concur with the Transport Assessment that has been prepared for this application, in
respect to the impact on the highway network, as | do also consider that the traffic
generation of the development proposals would not be materially different than the
extant residential use of this site. Consequently, the proposals would not give rise to
any concerns regarding the capacity of the local roads and access through Eagles
Close to accommodate the level of traffic from these 40 new dwellings.

The only concern relates to the layout. Vehicular access to some of the parking spaces
may be difficult to manoeuvre in or out of and would request that the following
amendments be made to address this:

(i) The parking courtyard in the far north eastern corner of the site, in front of plots 26
to 29, does not have sufficient turning space for the end spaces outside plots 27
and 28. It is normally expected that an additional 1m length of access aisle is
provided so that vehicles can manoeuvre in or out of these difficult spaces, as
shown on page 87 of The Kent Design Guide.

(i) Similarly, the far south eastern parking area also suffers from the same
manoeuvring difficulty for the end space opposite the side of plot 33. Furthermore,
access to all the three spaces is restricted, as a 6m turning aisle is normally
required in front of the parking spaces. Here, the width of the aisle is less than
4.5m.

(ii). As with (i) and (ii) above, the end parking space opposite plot 7does not have the
additional 1m aisle length to cater for manoeuvring in or out of the space.

The above issues appear to be easily resolvable with some minor adjustments.
Consequently, provided these amendments are made, | would have no objections to
the proposals in respect of highway matters subject to conditions being attached to any
permission granted as specified”.

The above matter has been discussed with the applicant and it is considered these
matters can be addressed through minor alterations to the parking layout and without
the need for any changes to the layout of the houses. Accordingly a condition is
proposed to require details of the parking layout to be submitted and approved before
the development commences.

UK Power Networks: No objection

Natural England: “Natural England has assessed this application using the Impact
Risk Zones data (IRZs). Natural England advises your authority that the proposal, if
undertaken in strict accordance with the details submitted, is not likely to have a
significant effect on the interest features for which The Swale SPA and Ramsar has
been classified. Natural England therefore advises that your Authority is not required to
undertake an Appropriate Assessment to assess the implications of this proposal on
the site’s conservation objectives.1

In addition, Natural England is satisfied that the proposed development being carried
out in strict accordance with the details of the application, as submitted, will not
damage or destroy the interest features for which The Swale SSSI has been notified.

22

Page 28



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

6.10

6.11

We therefore advise your authority that this SSSI does not represent a constraint in
determining this application”.

Kent County Council Drainage:

“No objection to this application subject to confirmation that the proposed re-use of the
existing soakaways can be demonstrated to be viable.

We would therefore recommend that the following conditions are attached to the grant
of any planning permission:

0] Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water
drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the
local planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the
surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall duration and intensities up
to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100year storm) can be
accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of the site.

(i) No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the
implementation, maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The
scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance
with the approved details. Those details shall include:

i) atimetable for its implementation, and

i) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable
drainage system throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into
this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

(i) No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than
with the express written consent of the local planning authority (in consultation
with the Environment Agency); this may be given where it has been demonstrated
that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approval details.

Reason: To protect vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with the
National Planning Policy Framework”.

KCC Ecology advise:

“The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal has been submitted in support of this
application. It is disappointing to note that the desktop data search was restricted to
only reptiles and amphibians; it is good practice for all notable and protected species
data to be sought to inform conclusions regarding the potential for ecological impacts
to arise.

The potential for reptiles, breeding birds and hedgehogs to be present on the site and
affected by the proposed development is identified in the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal. Mitigation recommendations in respect of potential impacts to hedgehogs
and breeding birds are provided in the report; we advise that the implementation of
these measures should be secured by condition, if planning permission is granted.

23

Page 29



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

6.12

With regards to reptiles, a specific reptile survey is recommended in the report but
does not appear to have been carried out. We advise that the reptile survey must be
carried out, with the results and any necessary mitigation proposals submitted to
inform the determination of the application, ensuring appropriate regard to
Government guidance and planning policy.

The proposed development site is within the strategic mitigation zone for The Swale
SPA. It is not entirely clear what the current level of residential use of the site is, as
compared to that proposed and we advise that if the proposed development will result
in an increase in properties then a contribution to the strategic mitigation will be
necessary to avoid the need for a Habitats Regulations Assessment.

One of the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework is that “opportunities
to incorporate biodiversity in and around developments should be encouraged”. In
addition to ensuring that appropriate mitigation for identified ecological impacts is
implemented, Swale BC should seek to secure ecological enhancement measures
within the proposed development, if planning permission is granted.

Enhancement recommendations are provided in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal
and we advise that some or all of these could be appropriate; the detailed
specifications should be secured by condition, if planning permission is granted”.

The matter of the impact on ecology is discussed below in paragraph 7.6.

KCC Community Services: “As the development seeks to reduce the number of
households from 78 to 40, KCC will not be requiring any contributions towards:
Community Learning, Youth service and Libraries.

However, as 78 flats (majority (60) being 1 bedroom and below the County Education
‘applicable’ threshold of 56sqm GIA) are being replaced by 40 houses above the
County Education ‘applicable’ threshold, the proposed houses generate a higher
number of school pupils in occupation, than the existing flatted development.

The calculated net increase in the number of Primary & Secondary pupils in occupation
upon the site under the proposed development, based upon adopted Pupil Product
ratios is as follows:

Primary Education: 40 Applicable houses 11.2 18 Applicable flats 126 9.94
pupils

Secondary Education: 40 Applicable houses 8 18 Applicable flats 0.9 7.1
pupils

Primary Education: (9.94 pupils) £8,432.00 £83,814.08 Towards Phase 1
expansion of Murston Primary School

Secondary Education (7.1 pupils)  £11,799.00 £83,772.90 Towards Phase 2
extension of Sittingbourne Academy

Adult Social Care: Delivery of 1 Wheelchair accessible Home as part of the affordable
housing”.

Therefore a total developer contribution of £167,586.98 is required.

24

Page 30



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

7.0

7.1

7.2

7.3

Kent Wild Life Trust: No response.

Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board: Confirm that “this site is located outside of
the Lower Medway IDB'’s district and, provided that details of the proposed SuDS are
agreed in direct consultation with KCC’s drainage and flood risk management team,
IDB interests should not be affected by this proposal”.

Southern Water: Advised ‘that a public sewer and water distribution pipe are located
on the site. Advise it might be possible to divert the public foul sewer, so long as it
would result in no unacceptable loss of hydraulic capacity, and the work was carried
out at the developers expense to the satisfaction of Southern Water. The developer
must advise the local planning authority (in consultation with Southern Water) of the
measures which will be undertaken to divert the public sewer, prior to the
commencement of the development”.

UK Power Networks: No objection.
APPRAISAL

| consider that the key material considerations in assessing this application are as
follows:

* The Principle of the Proposed Development:
» Design and Layout:

* Impact on amenity:

* Highways Impacts:

» Ecological Impacts:

e Trees:

» Affordable Housing/Financial Contributions

Principle of Development

The application site lies within an established residential area of Sittingbourne. The
redevelopment of this existing flatted housing site to provide an alternative mix of
affordable housing is therefore acceptable as a matter of general principle.

The proposal has been the subject of detailed negotiation and discussion with the
Borough Council including consultation with the Council’'s Strategic Housing and
Health Manager. It has been confirmed that the proposal to re-develop the site to
provide 40 No. dwellings based on a mix of units accurately reflects what has been
agreed with the applicant.

It is understood that the applicant organized and has carried out consultation events
with the local school and residents, which culminated in two drop in events during
August 2015.

| draw to Members’ attention that this application would normally fall to be determined
under delegated powers but in this case authority from Members’ is required to enter
into the S106 Agreement.

Design and Layout

The general design concept and the layout of the proposal has been the subject of
pre-application consultation with Officers of the Council in June and July 2015 and are
considered to be acceptable.

25

Page 31



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

The application proposal seeks to redevelop the existing three residential blocks of
social housing, which have inherent features that have served to increase a number of
social problems within the area. There are a significant number of bedsits, which are
no longer in demand and a number of 3 bed units with no private amenity space.

The current 4 storey flat blocks are not considered to contribute in a positive sense to
the appearance of Ceres Court, Eagles Close or the character of the area in general.
The development is visible from Gorse Road and the adjoining development to the
north and to some extent it is out of keeping with the character of the area which is
generally made up of two storey houses. Furthermore the close proximity of the
neighbouring house in Eagles Close and Portland Road can be considered to be
harmed by the height and the scale of the existing four storey flatted development.

The proposed redevelopment of the site will provide contemporary designed, good
quality family housing with good quality landscaped public amenity space and private
Amenity space for each dwelling. The introduction of two storey housing will assimilate
well and make a positive contribution to the built character of the area and would
accord more closely with the grain and pattern of the neighbouring development.

The proposal will result in a reduction in the overall site density and total number of
units. This will greatly improve living conditions of the future occupiers of the new
homes as well as bringing about a significant improvement of the character of the
surrounding environment. Furthermore the proposed range and size of the units will
importantly meet the identified need as confirmed by the Council’s Strategic Housing
and Health Manager.

The contemporary design is clearly different to the style and character of the existing,
neighbouring residential development however it is considered that the introduction of
a more modern design approach will bring an element of freshness to the area and
would sit comfortably with the adjoining existing development.

The design/layout of the scheme arranges the units around a centralised amenity
space, which will provide natural surveillance within the site. The existing footpath link
to Gorse Road will maintained, but reconfiguration. This will provide a visual and
physical connection to the surrounding area and a direct walking link to the nearby
Primary School.

The northern view of the site is currently dominated by the four storey flatted
development which creates an imposing and overpowering impression from the
existing two storey housing to the north and is exacerbated by the elevated position of
the site. The replacement of the flatted development with two storey housing will result
in a marked reduction in scale and mass close to the northern and thus will be more in
keeping with the scale of the neighbouring housing. The southern edge of the
development will also provide for a much improved aspect to the adjoining two storey
housing in Eagles Close.

The level nature of the site will provide the opportunity to create a pleasant central
landscape amenity space giving the development a sense of place with an open space
with hard and soft landscaping and public seating areas.

The Gorse Road perimeter is separated from opposite housing by the existing
landscape amenity area and by significant special separation. It is important that the
northern edge of the development is clearly defined. At present this is marked by brick
wall approximately 1.2 metres high. It is considered that this should be replaced by a

26

Page 32



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

7.4

7.5

similar wall rather than timber fencing to provide longevity and therefore a condition is
suggested to secure details of the boundary treatment.

Details of the materials proposed for the development include red and buff bricks
together with weatherboarding and concrete tiles which are common features in the
locality. However, it is considered that precise details of the external finishes to the
buildings should be secured by condition.

The overall design approach is considered to present an appropriate balance through
introducing a contemporary design and optimising the development potential of this
site whilst at the same time respecting the built character of the area and bringing
forward new high quality houses to meet an identified need.

Residential Amenity

In general terms the design and the layout of the proposal is acceptable and accords
with aims of Kent Design.

However, | am concerned that plots 3, 4 9 and 10 will result in overlooking and loss of
privacy to the rear private amenity space of numbers 2 and 12 Eagles Close. This
matter has been raised with the applicant and | can advise Members that the applicant
has submitted amended drawings which adequately address the issue of overlooking
to the neighbouring properties.

This has been achieved through a change to the design of the first floor windows at the
rear of plots 3, 4, 9 and 10 by the introduction of box bay windows. The front face of the
box bay would be fitted with obscure glazing and clear glazing to the returns. This
would afford some view to either clear glazed side panels but importantly would
prevent directed views to the rear private space of the neighbouring properties. This
arrangement will at the same time provide good natural light levels to the bedroom
spaces of the new dwellings.

In order to ensure that this arrangement is maintained in perpetuity an appropriate
condition is recommended.

Highway Impacts

The application has been assessed by Kent County Council Highways and
Transportation and it has been confirmed that no objection is raised to the proposal.

It is confirmed that in respect of the impact on the highway network, that the traffic
generation of the development proposals would not be materially different than the
extant residential use of this site. Consequently, the proposals would not give rise to
any concerns regarding the capacity of the local roads and access through Eagles
Close to accommodate the level of traffic from these 40 new dwellings.

Pedestrian connectivity to the surrounding areas is maintained, although the proposals
do

involve the stopping up of some existing public highway to accommodate the new
layout of this development. However, this is acceptable and was discussed during the
early engagement between the Highway Authority and the applicant. The proposed
layout has been designed to maintain access through the site for car and HGVS,
including service vehicles such as the fire appliance and refuse freighter.

27

Page 33



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

7.6

Minor changes to the parking layout will be required to ensure proper access to the
parking spaces but this can be secured by the suggested condition (4) as set out
below.

Ecological Impacts

Member will be aware that this is an urban and managed site with trees and boundary
vegetation, areas of mown grass, hard surface roads and footpaths and hard surface
play areas. The applicants’ Preliminary Ecological Appraisal does, however, identifies
that the site has high potential to support breeding birds within the trees and the
memorial garden and the vegetation offers some potential for slow worms (Anguis
fragilis) and recommends that a reptile survey looking at presence/absence is carried.

The biodiversity value of the application site has been fully assessed by KB Ecology,
on behalf of the applicants and included a desktop study, habitat survey and fauna
survey. The assessment concentrated on the recording of the potential presence of
any protected, rare or notable species, with specific consideration in respect of bats
and badgers and birds.

The assessment concludes that, based on the evidence obtained from the ecological
survey work undertaken and with the implementation of the recommendations set out
in it, there is no reason to suggest that any ecological designations, habitats of nature
conservation interest or any protected species would be significantly adversely
affected by the proposals.

KCC Ecology advise that a reptile survey must be carried to inform the determination of
the application.

This issue has been raised with the applicant and | will report further to Members on
this matter and on the matter of breeding birds at the meeting.

As noted above Natural England have raised no objection to the proposal and further
advise if the proposal is undertaken in strict accordance with the details submitted, is
not likely to have a significant effect on the interest features for which the Swale SPA
and Ramsar has been classified. Natural England therefore advises that the Council is
not required to undertake an Appropriate Assessment to assess the implications of this
proposal on the site’s conservation objectives.1

In addition, Natural England are satisfied that the proposal, subject to it being carried
out in strict accordance with submitted details will not damage or destroy the interest
features for which The Swale SSSI has been notified and the SSSI does not represent
a constraint in determining this application.

Members will be aware that the Statement of Common Ground which has been drawn
up with Natural England in support of the Local Plan sets out an agreement between
the Council and Natural England in respect of development proposals that impact on
The Swale SPA and Ramsar site and in such cases a tariff of £223.00 per dwelling is
set.

In this case, however ever, it is important to note that the site currently comprises 78
residential units. 30 No. studio units, 30 No. one bedroom units and 18 No. three
bedroom units (total of 114 bed spaces). The proposed scheme as noted above is for
40 No. units comprising 4 No. one bedroom units, 20 No. two bedroom units and 16
No. three bedroom units (total of 92 bed spaces). In view of the reduction in the total
number of units and bedroom spaces compared to the existing situation, it is

28

Page 34



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

7.7

7.8

considered that in this case there will be no increased impact on the designated SPA
and accordingly the developer tariff contribution for mitigation is not required in this
case.

Trees

The site includes a number of established trees (46 No.) both within the site and on the
boundary adjacent to the site. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been carried
out (by DF Clark Bionomique Ltd) in support of the proposal and this assesses the
importance of trees and the impact the development may have on trees and the effect
that retained trees may have on the development.

The report highlights that the tree population within the site is largely confined to the
existing central courtyard area, the eastern boundary of the site and adjacent to the
existing sports facility. There are also a number of semi mature and mature broadleaf
trees outside the footprint area to the north of the site on Gorse Road.

The trees on site comprise mixed broadleaves both within the site and on land to the
north next to Gorse Road provide an enhancement to the visual amenity of the site and
the immediate surrounding area.

The development proposal includes the removal 13 individual trees to facilitate the
proposed development. These are located within central court yards area, on the
eastern and northern boundary and next to the multi-use games area.

The removal of the trees will have some impact upon the visual amenity of the site and
to a lesser extent on the surrounding area. However, it is considered that on balance,
the loss of the trees is not such that would result in serious harm to the character of the
area such to justify the refusal of this scheme on this ground alone bearing in mind that
the majority of the trees on the site and immediately adjoining the site will be
unaffected by the proposal.

The scheme includes new landscaping which will help mitigate the loss of the trees.
Full details of the new landscaping, to require the submission of a detailed
arboricultural method statement, tree protection measures and ground protection
details before the development is commenced can all be secured by the imposition of
appropriate conditions. The new trees and soft landscaping will be chosen with an
emphasis not only on visual amenity, but also to encourage biodiversity and the use of
indigenous species.

Affordable Housing/Financial Contributions

Member will note that this proposal is for 100% affordable housing based on 75%
affordable rent and 25% shared ownership. Notwithstanding the terms of the
application it is appropriate to require the applicant to enter into a S106 agreement to
secure the provision of affordable housing in perpetuity.

With regard to other contributions, Members will note paragraphs 7.3, 7.4, and 7.12
above where requirements for financial contributions are set out. In addition a 5%
monitoring charge is payable.

This matter is currently the subject of discussion with the applicant. An up-date on the
progress of this will be provided to Members at the meeting.

29

Page 35



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

8.0

8.1

8.2

9.0

9.1

CONCLUSION

The proposal will provide for the redevelopment of the existing flatted development and
provide 40 No. small and family sized residential units within a sustainable location
within the urban confines of Sittingbourne.

It is considered that the proposal will bring about a significant improvement to the built
character and townscape of this part of Sittingbourne and importantly will bring about
an improvement to the living conditions of the future occupiers compared with the
existing flatted development. The proposed layout will provide for private amenity
space for each unit together with a central landscaped amenity area combining hard
and soft landscaping. Parking would be provided for each unit and adequate space
would be provided for servicing and access for emergency vehicles.

RECOMMENDATION

Subiject to the submission of a reptile survey and any further conditions recommended
by KCC Ecology with regard to breeding birds that the Head of Planning be given
DELEGATED POWERS TO APPROVE this application subject to the completion of a
suitable S106 legal agreement that ensures the provision of the following:

D The provision of affordable housing;

(2) A contribution of £83,814.08 towards primary education.

3) A contribution of £83,772.90 towards secondary education.

(4) A contribution of £3,400 towards refuse/recycling bins.

(5) A suitable contribution towards the monitoring of the S106 legal agreement.

and the following conditions:

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years
from the date of this permission;

Reason: In accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

Prior to commencement of the development, written details and samples of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of any buildings and
hard surfaces have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and the development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved
materials.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development.

Prior to commencement of the development, written details and samples of the
materials to be used in the construction of the hard surface landscaping areas have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the
development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved materials.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development.

30

Page 36



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

4, The development shall not commence until there has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority details of vehicle parking and turning spaces.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the
loading, off-loading and turning of vehicles is likely to lead to such activities
inconvenient to other road users and detrimental to highway safety and amenity.

5. The area shown on the plans approved under condition 4 as vehicle parking and
turning space shall be paved and drained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning
Authority before the use is commenced or the premises occupied and shall be retained
for the use of the occupiers of, and visitors to, the premises, and no permanent
development, whether or not permitted by Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that
Order), shall be carried out on that area of land or in such a position as to preclude its
use.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the
loading, off-loading and turning of vehicles is likely to lead to such activities
inconvenient to other road users and detrimental to highway safety and amenity.

6. The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting,
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive
gradients, car parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid out in
accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority
in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections,
indicating as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a satisfactory
manner.
7. Before the first occupation of a dwelling / premises the following works between that

dwelling / premises and the adopted highway shall be completed as follows:

(A) Footways and/or footpaths shall be completed, with the exception of the wearing
course;

(B) Carriageways completed, with the exception of the wearing course, including the
provision of a turning facility beyond the dwelling together with related:
(1) highway drainage, including off-site works,
(2) junction visibility splays,
(3) street lighting, street nameplates and highway structures if any.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

8. No development shall take place until details of all fencing; walling and other boundary
treatments have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include the provision of brick wall on the northern boundary of the
site and the enclosure of the parking areas of a The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details before the first occupation of the buildings or
land and maintained thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and to
safeguard the enjoyment of the properties by existing and prospective occupiers.

31

Page 37



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

10.

11.

12.

13.

No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These
details shall include existing trees, shrubs and other features, planting schedules of
plants, noting species (which shall be native species and of a type that will encourage
wildlife and biodiversity, where possible), plant sizes and numbers where appropriate,
means of enclosure, hard surfacing materials, and an implementation programme.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging
wildlife and biodiversity and to ensure that such matters are agreed prior to the
commencement of development.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the
development or in accordance with the programme agreed in writing with the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging
wildlife and biodiversity.

Upon completion of the approved landscaping scheme, any trees or shrubs that are
removed, dying, being severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within five
years of planting shall be replaced with trees or shrubs of such size and species as
may be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and within whatever
planting season is agreed.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area and encouraging
wildlife and biodiversity."

No development shall take place until a method statement detailing the materials and
construction of the hard surfaces in accordance with the principles set out in the
current edition of BS 5837 and other current best practice guidance, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To protect the RPA of retained trees on the site.

Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage
scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local
planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme and shall demonstrate that the
surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities
up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100yr storm) can be
accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of the site.

(i)  No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the
implementation, maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage
scheme have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and
maintained in accordance with the approved details. Those details shall include:

i) a timetable for its implementation, and

i)  amanagement and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable
drainage system throughout its lifetime.

32

Page 38



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated
into this proposal and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions.

No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the
express written consent of the local planning authority (in consultation with the
Environment Agency); this may be given where it has been demonstrated that there is
no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approval details.

Reason: To protect vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance
with the National Planning Policy Framework.

During construction provision shall be made on the site, to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority, to accommodate operatives' and construction vehicles loading,
off-loading or turning on the site.

Reason: To ensure that vehicles can be parked or manoeuvred off the highway
in the interests of highway safety.

Prior to the works commencing on site details of parking for site personnel /
operatives/visitors shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority
and thereafter shall be provided and retained throughout the construction of the
development. The approved parking shall be provided prior to the commencement of
the development.

Reason: To ensure provision of adequate off-street parking for vehicles in the
interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of local residents.

Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so as to
prevent its discharge onto the highway details of which shall have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

As an initial operation on site, adequate precautions shall be taken during the progress
of the works to guard against the deposit of mud and similar substances on the public
highway in accordance with proposals to be submitted to, and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: n the interests of amenity and road safety.

No dwelling shall be occupied or the approved use commenced until space has been
laid out within the site in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority for cycles to be securely sheltered and stored.

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking
facilities for cycles in the interests of sustainable development and promoting cycle
visits.

No construction work in connection with the development shall take place on any
Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between the following times:-

Monday to Friday 0730 - 1800 hours, Saturdays 0830 - 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the District Planning
Authority.

33

Page 39



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

21.

22.

23.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a
contaminated land assessment (and associated remediation strategy if relevant),
being submitted to and approved in writing by the District Planning Authority,
comprising:

a) An investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater
sampling, carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in
accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and analysis methodology.

b) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site,
together with the results of analyses, risk assessment to any receptors and a
proposed remediation strategy which shall be of such a nature as to render
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and
surrounding environment, including any controlled waters.

Before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, all remediation works
identified in the contaminated land assessment and approved by the District Planning
Authority shall be carried out in full (or in phases as agreed in writing by the District
Planning Authority) on site under a quality assured scheme to demonstrate compliance
with the proposed methodology and best practice guidance. If, during the works,
contamination is encountered which has not previously been identified, then the
additional contamination shall be fully assessed and an appropriate remediation
scheme agreed with the District Planning Authority.

Upon completion of the works identified in the contaminated land assessment, and
before any part or agreed phase of the development is occupied, a closure report shall
be submitted which shall include details of the proposed remediation works with quality
assurance certificates to show that the works have been carried out in accordance with
the approved methodology. Details of any post-remediation sampling and analysis to
show the site has reached the required clean-up criteria shall be included in the closure
report together with the necessary documentation detailing what waste materials have
been removed from the site.

Reason: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with, in
pursuance of policies E1-E3 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008.

No asbestos associated with the demolition of the existing buildings shall remain on
the site.

Reason: In the interests of appropriate contamination control and in pursuance
of policy E1 of the Swale Borough Council Local Plan 2008

The commencement of the development shall not take place until a programme for the
suppression of dust during the demolition of existing buildings and construction of the
development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the District Planning
Authority. The measures approved shall be employed throughout the period of
demolition and construction unless any variation has been approved by the District
Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

34

Page 40



Planning Committee — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.3

24, No development shall commence until details of foul and surface water drainage have
been submitted to and proved by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with
Southern Water) including details to divert the public sewer and the development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: in the interests of public health

25. The development hereby permitted shall incorporate measures to minimise the risk of
crime. No development shall take place until details of such measures, according to
the principles and physical security requirements of Crime Prevention through
Environmental Design (CPTED) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be implemented before the
development is occupied and thereafter retained.

Reason: for the condition: In the interest of Security, Crime Prevention and
Community Safety and in accordance with the guidance within The Kent Design
Initiative (KDI) and protocol dated April 2013.

26. The window details shown for the first floor windows at the rear of plots 3, 4, 9 and 10
on drawings (PA) 010 P3, (PA) 011 P2, (PA) 012 P2, (PA) 019 P4 and (PA) 020 P2
shall be installed in accordance with the approved details before the first occupation of
the dwellings and be retained and maintained all times thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity and the privacy of the occupiers of the
neighbouring properties.

INFORMATIVE

1. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in
order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. The
applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

2. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system and water supply
system is required in order to service this development. Please contact Southern
Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2 SW
(Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk

The Council’s approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

Offering pre-application advice.

Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of
their application.

In this instance:

The application was the subject of Pre-Application consultation and advice was provided by
the Council’s Planning Officer.

35

Page 41


http://www.southernwater.co.uk/

This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

2.4 REFERENCE NO - 15/510605/FULL

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Removal of condition 2 to allow permanent use of the stadium for speedway of planning
permission SW/09/0314.

ADDRESS Central Park Stadium Church Road Sittingbourne Kent ME10 3SB

RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

On balance, the use of the site for speedway racing does not cause such significant harm as to
warrant refusal of planning permission.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

As the Head of Planning considers the application raises difficult questions of policy
interpretation and further difficult, major issues which warrant Member determination.

WARD Murston PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL APPLICANT Cearnsport Ltd
N/A AGENT Ms Mary Power

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE

30/03/16 12/02/16

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining

sites):

App No Proposal Decision Date

SW/08/0962 This application sought permanent | GRANT 16/1/09

planning permission for the use of the
site for the holding of speedway racing.
Members though resolved to grant
temporary planning permission, to allow
the use of the site on a trial basis only,
for a period of a single season. The
permission granted required the erection
of an acoustic fence (Members may
recall that the fence which has been
constructed does not comply with the
approved details), and also sets a limit
on the number of races and the start and
finish times for meetings, in accordance
with the details and specific times
submitted with the application. 17 races
are permitted per meeting, meetings can
take place once per week, and start and
finish times are: on weekdays between
1700 & 2030 hours only, with warming up
of bikes permitted from 1630, and from
1500 to 1800 hours on Bank Holiday
Mondays, with warming up of bikes from
1430 hours.

SW/09/0274 This application sought to amend the | GRANT 11/09/09
design of the acoustic fence approved
under SW/08/0962. This application was
approved. The fence as constructed
does not comply with these approved

36

Page 43




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

ITEM 2.4

details either.

SW/09/0275

This application sought to vary condition
(2) of SW/08/0962,in order to allow a
minimum of 7 seasons speedway use.
The application made clear that a
permanent planning permission was
being sought and that 7 years would be
the minimum the applicant considered
would enable the use to be viable. The
application was not originally
accompanied by any viability
information. Some information in this
regard was submitted at a late stage
during the consideration of the
application. However - it was not
considered sufficient to justify the grant
of a 7 year temporary planning
permission, nor the grant of a permanent
planning permission.

REFUSED

17/08/09

SW/09/0313

This application sought to vary condition
(7) of SW/08/0962, in order to allow the
warming up of speedway bikes at 2pm
rather than at 2:30pm as specified in the
original permission.

REFUSED

28/08/09

SW/09/0314

The application sought to vary condition
(5) of SW/08/0962, in order to allow
meetings to be held once per week only
on any weekday, rather than on either a
Monday, Tuesday or a Wednesday.

The applicant submitted appeals against
the refusal of SW/09/0275 and the
approval  (including the disputed
condition restricting use to one season
only) of SW/09/0314. At the appeal, the
applicant produced detailed viability
information, which the Inspector
considered in coming to his decision to
allow both appeals and grant temporary
planning permission for four years use
of the stadium. A copy of the appeal
decision is attached as Appendix A to
this report.

The use commenced in 2013, and may
therefore continue, under the terms of
the temporary planning permission
granted on appeal, until the end of the
2016 season.

GRANT

13/10/09

SW/14/0088

Variation of condition (7) of SW/09/0314,
to allow speedway racing between 15:00
& 22:00 hours on weekdays and bank
holidays.

REFUSED

23/9/14

37

Page 44




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

15/500862/FULL | Variation of condition 7 of SW/09/0314 to | APPROVED | 12/5/15

allow speedway racing between 1800
and 2130hrs on Fridays

MAIN REPORT

1.0

1.01

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

2.04

2.05

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

Central Park Stadium lies within the built up area of Sittingbourne, on the fringes of
the Eurolink industrial estate, and adjacent to the East Hall Farm industrial and
residential development. Murston lies to the south of the site. An established sport
venue, Central Park Stadium is used successfully for greyhound racing and,
currently, for league speedway racing. A large parking area is located to the front of
the building. Pit areas for the speedway bikes and riders etc are located to the north
east of the site. A substantial acoustic fence has been erected along the southern
boundary of the site, in order to try and prevent substantial noise and disturbance to
the dwellings in the vicinity, the closest of which lies approximately 150 metres to the
south.

PROPOSAL

This application seeks the deletion of condition 2 of the planning permission granted
for speedway racing at Central Park Stadium on appeal, under reference
SW/09/0314.

Condition 2 of SW/09/0314 requires the use for speedway racing to cease after four
years (i.e. at the end of the current season). The deletion of this condition would
make the planning for the use of speedway racing permanent,

The application as submitted also sought consent for a later finish time for racing on
Fridays (in a similar manner to that approved under 15/500862/FULL). That element
of the application has now been deleted.

The application is accompanied by a noise assessment, dated Jun 2013, attached at
Appendix B, and a supporting statement, an extract from which is attached at
Appendix C to this report.

The conclusion of the supporting statement reads as follows:

“The use of Central Park Stadium as a permanent speedway venue is an existing
and appropriate use. The location is ideal for a popular sporting event that attracts
many visitors to Sittingbourne. It appropriately adds to the other mix of uses
permitted at the Stadium including football, greyhound racing and concerts. To
maximise the economic use of the stadium for sporting uses, accords with the
principles of the Council’s policies for economic and viable activity, in line with its
objectives for boosting job creation and economic activity. Permanent speedway use
of the Stadium will add to its economic viability particularly where greyhound racing is
now declining as a spectator sport.

The evidence submitted with the application demonstrates that...a permanent
speedway use would [not] give rise to demonstrable or substantial harm to nearby

38
Page 45




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

2.06

3.0

3.01

residents. This application should be considered in light of the potential benefits to be
derived from approving this application, given that the use already exists and is
appropriately sited and that the existing planning conditions provide appropriate
residential amenity protection. Noise complaints received by the Council represent
significantly less than 10% of the local residents that live close to the Stadium.

Speedway racing is important to the community of Sittingbourne which is
demonstrated by the significant levels of support.

The approval of this application would help to offset the downturn in revenue from
greyhound racing and would help to secure the continued use of the Stadium. There
would be significant benefits to the local economy and to the community within
Sittingbourne, helping to promote speedway racing at this location and to encourage
young people to participate in the sport.

Speedway race meetings will remain at the same length and would not generally
exceed 2 hours. Given the short duration of the races, the noise impacts of the
speedway, whilst being noticeable to adjacent residential properties, are predictable
and will not reach harmful or disruptive levels due to existing mitigation measures.
The existing planning conditions will remain in place to ensure only one speedway
race takes place per week between Mondays and Fridays and only 17 races per
event in accordance with the principles established to balance the economic needs of
the Stadium for speedway use and protection of residential amenity

We therefore conclude that the speedway use is an appropriate use in this location, it
is an existing use and should continue on a permanent basis in compliance with local
and national planning policies.

For all of the reasons set out above, it is considered that the application proposals
should be permitted given the conformity with national and local planning policies.”

Notwithstanding the content of the supporting statement, the agent has confirmed
that the application does make the case that permanent permission is vital for the
viability of the wider use of the stadium but no financial information has been
provided in this respect, and the applicant and agent do not intend to provide any
further information regarding this.

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Paragraph 109 — The Planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural
and local environment by....preventing both new and existing development from
contributing to or being put at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by
unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability;

Paragraph 120 - To prevent unacceptable risks from pollution and land instability,
planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate
for its location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the
natural environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the area or
proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should be taken into
account. Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues,
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or
landowner.

39

Page 46



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

Paragraph 121 - Planning policies and decisions should aim to:

e avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of
life as a result of new development;

¢ mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of
conditions;

e recognise that development will often create some noise and existing businesses
wanting to develop in continuance of their business should not have unreasonable
restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby land uses since they were
established;

Paragraph 70 - To deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services
the community needs, planning policies and decisions should:

e plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities
(such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings public
houses and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the
sustainability of communities and residential environments;

e guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly
where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs;

e ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and

e modernise in a way that is sustainable, and retained for the benefit of the
community; and

e ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic
uses and community facilities and services.

National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

The following are extracts from the NPPG on Noise:
“Can noise override other planning concerns?

It can, but neither the Noise Policy Statement for England nor the National Planning
Policy Framework (which reflects the Noise Policy Statement) expects noise to be
considered in isolation, separately from the economic, social and other environmental
dimensions of proposed development.

Local planning authorities’ plan-making and decision taking should take account of
the acoustic environment and in doing so consider:

¢ whether or not a significant adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur;
¢ whether or not an adverse effect is occurring or likely to occur; and
o whether or not a good standard of amenity can be achieved.

At the lowest extreme, when noise is not noticeable, there is by definition no effect.
As the noise exposure increases, it will cross the no observed effect level as it
becomes noticeable. However, the noise has no adverse effect so long as the
exposure is such that it does not cause any change in behaviour or attitude. The
noise can slightly affect the acoustic character of an area but not to the extent there
is a perceived change in quality of life. If the noise exposure is at this level no specific
measures are required to manage the acoustic environment.

40

Page 47



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

As the exposure increases further, it crosses the lowest observed adverse effect
level boundary above which the noise starts to cause small changes in behaviour
and attitude, for example, having to turn up the volume on the television or needing
to speak more loudly to be heard. The noise therefore starts to have an adverse
effect and consideration needs to be given to mitigating and minimising those effects
(taking account of the economic and social benefits being derived from the activity
causing the noise).

Increasing noise exposure will at some point cause the significant observed adverse
effect level boundary to be crossed. Above this level the noise causes a material
change in behaviour such as keeping windows closed for most of the time or
avoiding certain activities during periods when the noise is present. If the exposure is
above this level the planning process should be used to avoid this effect occurring,
by use of appropriate mitigation such as by altering the design and layout. Such
decisions must be made taking account of the economic and social benefit of the
activity causing the noise, but it is undesirable for such exposure to be caused.

The following table summarises the noise exposure hierarchy, based on the likely
average response

41

Page 48



not intrusive

cause any change in behaviour
or attitude. Can slightly affect the
acoustic character of the area
but no such that there is a
perceived change in the quality
of life.

Adverse Effect

Lowest Observed
Adverse Effect
Level

Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4
Perception Increasing Effect | Action
Examples of Level
Outcome
Not noticeable | No Effect No Observed | No specific
Effect measures required
Noticeable & | Noise can be heard, but does not | No Observed | No specific

measures required

Noticeable &
intrusive

Noise can be heard and causes
small changes in behaviour
and/or attitude, e.g. turning up
volume of television; speaking
more loudly; where there is no
alternative ventilation, having to
close windows for some of the
time because of the noise.
Potential for some reported sleep
disturbance. Affects the acoustic
character of the area such that
there is a perceived change in
the quality of life.

Observed
Adverse Effect

Significant
Observed
Adverse
Level

Effect

Mitigate and
reduce to a
minimum

Noticeable and
disruptive

The noise causes a material
change in behaviour and/or
attitude, e.g. avoiding certain
activities during periods of
intrusion; where there is no
alternative ventilation, having to
keep windows closed most of the
time because of the noise.
Potential for sleep disturbance
resulting in difficulty in getting to
sleep, premature awakening and
difficulty in getting back to sleep.
Quality of life diminished due to
change in acoustic character of
the area.

Significant
Observed
Adverse Effect

Avoid

Noticeable and
very disruptive

Extensive and regular changes
in behaviour and/or an inability to
mitigate effect of noise leading to
psychological stress or
physiological effects, e.g. regular
sleep deprivation/awakening;
loss of appetite, significant,
medically definable harm, e.g.
auditory and non-auditory

Unacceptable
Adverse Effect

Prevent

The subjective nature of noise means that there is not a simple relationship between
noise levels and the impact on those affected. This will depend on how various
factors combine in any particular situation.

42

Page 49




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

These factors include:

the source and absolute level of the noise together with the time of day it occurs.
Some types and level of noise will cause a greater adverse effect at night than if
they occurred during the day — this is because people tend to be more sensitive
to noise at night as they are trying to sleep. The adverse effect can also be
greater simply because there is less background noise at night;

for non-continuous sources of noise, the number of noise events, and the
frequency and pattern of occurrence of the noise;

the spectral content of the noise (ie whether or not the noise contains particular
high or low frequency content) and the general character of the noise (ie whether
or not the noise contains particular tonal characteristics or other particular
features). The local topology and topography should also be taken into account
along with the existing and, where appropriate, the planned character of the area.

How can the adverse effects of noise be mitigated?

This will depend on the type of development being considered and the character of the
proposed location. In general, for noise making developments, there are four broad types
of mitigation:

engineering: reducing the noise generated at source and/or containing the noise
generated;

layout: where possible, optimising the distance between the source and noise-
sensitive receptors and/or incorporating good design to minimise noise
transmission through the use of screening by natural or purpose built barriers, or
other buildings;

using planning conditions/obligations to restrict activities allowed on the site at
certain times and/or specifying permissible noise levels differentiating as
appropriate between different times of day, such as evenings and late at night,
and;

mitigating the impact on areas likely to be affected by noise including through
noise insulation when the impact is on a building.

Are there further considerations relating to mitigating the impact of noise on
residential developments?

Yes — the noise impact may be partially off-set if the residents of those dwellings
have access to:

a relatively quiet facade (containing windows to habitable rooms) as part of their
dwelling, and/or;

a relatively quiet external amenity space for their sole use, (e.g. a garden or
balcony). Although the existence of a garden or balcony is generally desirable,
the intended benefits will be reduced with increasing noise exposure and could
be such that significant adverse effects occur, and/or;

a relatively quiet, protected, nearby external amenity space for sole use by a
limited group of residents as part of the amenity of their dwellings, and/or;

a relatively quiet, protected, external publically accessible amenity space (e.g. a
public park or a local green space designated because of its tranquillity) that is
nearby (e.g. within a 5 minutes walking distance).

43

Page 50



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

4.0

4.01

Saved Policies of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008:

Policy E1 requires, amongst other things, for development proposals to cause no
demonstrable harm to residential amenity.

Policy C1 seeks to support existing community facilities, (including sporting facilities)
and states that:

“The Borough Council will grant planning permission for new or improved community
services and facilities. Additionally, where proposals would meet an identified local
need in an accessible location, it will permit development proposals that will help
maximise the use of existing public and private community services and facilities,
including those that would make them available for wider public use, in locations
where shortfalls in local public provision could be met.”

Bearing Fruits 2031 — The Swale Borough Local Plan part 1

Policy DM14 requires, amongst other things, development to cause no significant
harm to amenity and other sensitive uses or areas;

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

12 letters of objection have been received. These include response submitted by
Councillor Hall, who advises that he has canvassed local residents, almost all of
whom objected to the application. The objections are summarised as follows:

Inadequate noise mitigation;

Repeat applications;

Significant noise and disturbance;

If wind is from the north it is impossible to sit in garden during races;

One writer normally goes out on a bank holiday Monday to avoid the noise;

Further mitigation measures are required,;

Speedway should not be allowed in close proximity to a residential area;

Infringes the human rights of nearby residents to enjoy peace and tranquillity;

This will make sitting in our gardens in the summer even worse ;

The noise fences constructed at the site make no difference if the wind is in the

right direction -it sounds like we have the motor bikes in the garden with us;

e We also hear the Dog racing noises - but that is more acceptable - listening to
more of the revving engines is not;

e It needs to be moved somewhere or relocated to a place where there's no
houses nearby;

e One writer has lived in Oak Road for over 30 years and considers that noise
has increased — there is greyhounds racing, go-karts all weekend over the
summer months, and speedway;

e A noise report was done a few years ago, but the readings were taken in Hugh
Price close that is surrounded with trees. This noise report should be carried
out in Oak Road as this is in direct line of the stadium;

e This is a residential area with many children and the noise level is quite
unacceptable especially in the summer when windows etc are open, these
children cannot sleep with so much noise going on;

e As for sitting out in the garden on a lovely summer evening and all you can

hear is the roaring of these bikes, it really is not fair;

44

Page 51



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

Most residents can no longer be bothered to report the noise of the speedway
meetings to the Council, but still complain about it;

Over fourteen households still regularly do report the excessive noise (and
occasionally the smell);

Sometimes, if the wind is blowing in the right direction, the noise is not so bad.
Surely this shows the acoustic fence is not working to prevent the sound
escaping;

Please do not grant permanent use or we will be stuck with the noise every
season;

The trial period has proved that the acoustic barrier does not work. Particularly
when the wind has been blowing towards our properties, and in some other
atmospheric conditions, there have been a number of occasions when the
noise has been very loud and intrusive;

Local residents like ourselves should not be inconvenienced by the intrusive
noise from the Speedway for the benefit of Cearnsport, Sky TV and people who
live outside the Borough of Swale.

4.02 66 letters of support, together with petitions bearing a total of 93 signatures have
been submitted. The key points are summarised as follows:

Speedway is enjoyed by many families, and the small shift in race times will
benefit families and the local economy;

Only runs one evening per week for a couple of hours;

With the anticipated modernisation of the town centre, there needs to be more
diverse activities and entertainment encouraged and made available;

The nearby go kart track can be much louder and runs 16-20 hours per week;

If approved, the site could become one of the top venues in the country,
hosting top national and international events. The only one in Kent — an
opportunity to put Swale on the map;

Spectators travel from all over the country to watch the racing;

Although there is a noise problem, hopefully the benefits of people coming to
the area and spending money will off set this issue;;

Will put Sittingbourne on the map with visiting fans from Kent and all around the
country;

The proposal will not increase noise pollution;

Noise for a short period of time, once per week, should be overlooked;

For the sport to thrive there needs to be enough strong and active clubs in
viable operation;

Noise from speedway is less than the noise generated by football;

Meetings are well attended;

It is the only such facility in Kent;

There is more noise from passing traffic;

We have little or no other creditable sports within Sittingbourne;

Speedway brings a lot of enjoyment to many the races are very short and thus
the actual noise is for a small time;

With an indefinite consent, the likelihood is that a higher standard of racing will
be able to be presented at Central Park in the future and that can only benefit
the area.

5.0 CONSULTATIONS

5.01 The Council’s Environmental Health Manager raises significant concerns, and
comments as follows:

45

Page 52



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

5.02

During the 3 year period to date that speedway has been operating at Central Park
Stadium the number of complaints about noise received by the Council’s
Environmental Protection Team has been relatively small given the size of the
community south of the site that are potentially affected.

The timber board fence constructed to act as a noise barrier and safeguard the
nearby community has provided from the outset what the applicant’s noise consultant
predicted it would in terms of noise attenuation. Unfortunately however, as officer’s
have previously reported, an acoustic fence was never likely to provide a satisfactory
level of attenuation and therefore harm to amenity was likely to occur at times.

This was substantiated by officers during the 2013 and 2014 racing seasons when
visits to homes in Oak Rd resulted in witnessing levels of noise that was audible and
intrusive both in gardens and at times inside homes even with the windows closed.

It is however important to realise that the noise experienced by these households is
not always at an intrusive level. The actual noise arriving at homes is to a large
extent influenced by weather conditions and specifically temperature, humidity, wind
speed and direction.

In effect with a north, north easterly or easterly light breeze i.e. blowing from the track
towards Oak Rd and Hugh Price Close, the level of noise perceived by occupiers of
homes in those roads could sound twice as loud as when the wind is in the opposite
direction. The same will be the case in zero wind conditions. This would explain the
reason why some occupiers find the levels acceptable on one occasion but not
another.

Unquestionably noise from speedway bikes is audible and sometimes very intrusive
depending on and dictated by the weather conditions prevailing at any one time.

If permanent permission is granted...there are nearby households that during the
racing season will undoubtedly suffer a loss in amenity as a result of the noise of
speedway bikes.

Part of the purpose for the grant of a temporary permission only was for the Council
to monitor the site. As set out in the Environmental Health Manager's comments
above, monitoring has demonstrated that the noise from the use gives rise to harm to
residential amenity. In addition to this monitoring, a log of complaints received by the
Council’'s Environmental Protection Team has been kept since the use commenced.
This log includes details of wind speed and direction when the race meetings took
place. In summary, the following complaints were received relating to noise from the
site:

Total complaints received from 2013-2015 (3 full seasons use, events taking place
on Monday evenings, Bank Holiday Monday afternoons): 108 complaints from 18
separate households.

2013 season — 50 complaints from 18 households

2014 season — 36 complaints from 7 households

2015 season — 22 complaints from 5 households

46

Page 53



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

5.03

5.04

6.0

This information was passed to the agent, who commented as follows:

“‘We have analysed the additional information provided by the Council’s
Environmental Health department who have monitored and registered noise
complaints regarding the stadium and speedway events. Wind direction is measured
from where the wind originates, so winds affecting the properties between the closest
house of Meeres Court Lane and the end of Hugh Price Close would be between
340° and 50°. The ‘adverse’ wind days (where wind is directed towards those
properties) were days when the winds were really light, ranging between 1.5--3knots,
which is Force 1 i.e. no real wind at all. From a lay perspective it seems unlikely that
these levels of wind would have any significant impact on noise, regardless of the
direction.

What is significant, however, is that on average 16% of the complaints received were
when no races were taking place at the stadium. This raises questions about the
validity of the complaints, particularly since between June and October 2015 there
was no difference in the number of complaints on days with or without races.

Furthermore, the data shows that the number of households which have complained
about the noise has decreased by over 70% in the past three years, demonstrating
that the acoustic fence is effective and that the use has become accepted by the
majority of residents. To deem the permanent use unacceptable on amenity grounds
in this context would be highly unreasonable.

Therefore, as requested, we confirm that we are content for a recommendation to be
made on the basis of the information, as submitted, that there are good planning
policy and amenity reasons why the speedway use should be made permanent with
the protection of the conditions imposed to address residential amenity....”

In response to this, the Environmental Health Manager commented as follows:

“Commenting on the subject of effect of wind speed and direction on the impact of
noise; making any sort of definitive assumption from the wind conditions prevailing at
the time of speedway events complained about has proved difficult. There appear to
have been several occasions when complaints were received when the wind is
recorded as blowing away from those properties concerned.

It is however true to say that on days when there is little wind at all, noise will have as
much of an adverse impact as when a light breeze is directed towards those nearest
affected properties.

Whilst | am unable to comment on the complaints apparently received following no
races taking place, it would be helpful to know what those dates were as it does raise
concerns over the validity of the complaints.

On the subject of the decreased number of noise complaints over the past three
years, | think this is more likely to be a demonstration of acceptance and resignation
to the situation by residents rather than any confirmation that the timber boarding
around the southern part of the stadium is an effective noise barrier.”

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

Application papers, plans, correspondence, and appeal papers and correspondence
(where relevant) for SW/08/0962, SW/09/0274, SW/09/0313, SW/09/0314,
SW/14/0088 and 15/500862/FULL

47

Page 54



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

7.0

7.01

7.02

7.03

7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

APPRAISAL

The use is acceptable in highway terms, and the only visual impacts are the limited
impact relating to the permanent retention of the perimeter fence and the pit
buildings. These are, in my view, unobjectionable.

The key issue for Members to consider here is whether the continued use of the site
on a permanent basis is acceptable in terms of impact on residential amenity. If
Members conclude that this is not acceptable, Members will then have to balance the
benefits of the proposal against the harm caused and decide whether the benefits
outweigh the harm.

The Environmental Health Manager is clear, as set out above, that the level of noise
experienced by nearby residents can be “intrusive”. Representations from some local
residents support this. This is of course disputed by the noise consultant for the
applicant, and by their agent. It is important to note that Officers have been clear
from the outset here that the acoustic fence (either as approved, or as constructed)
would be insufficient to make a meaningful difference in terms of the noise levels
experienced by local residents.

| have no doubt that the holding of speedway meetings at the site does have a
detrimental impact on the residential amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.
This is mitigated to an extent given the controls in place and given the frequency and
duration of such meetings. They can only take place once per week, last around two
hours in duration, the races themselves (there are normally a maximum of 17 per
meeting) are short in duration, and (leaving the issue of later finishing on Friday’s
aside)

That said, the stop-start nature of the noise, and its tonal characteristics potentially
increase the harm to residential amenity suffered by local residents.

Against this, Members will note that the numbers of complaints and the numbers of
separate households submitting complaints has fallen year on year since the first
season (2013). | am mindful though of placing too much weight on this as an
indication of an acceptance of the speedway use by local residents. As the
Environmental Health Manager points out, it could reflect a level of resignation
amongst local residents. | do not consider it useful to speculate on the motivation of
those submitting complaints (or indeed not submitting complaints), and the
information is basic and not capable of sufficient interrogation to come to a firm,
reliable conclusion. It is sufficient to say that the figures set out a reduction in
complaints regarding noise. This must be of some weight in the decision making
process, although to my mind it should be limited.

On the other hand, the data does set out, as referred to by the Environmental Health
Manager that complaints are less during race meetings with a southerly wind. It is
clear that weather conditions will have an impact on the level of disturbance local
residents’ experience. If the wind is southerly, the noise is effectively blown away
from the dwellings to the south and south east. If the temperature is low, residents
are unlikely to have windows open or to look to make use of their gardens.
Conversely, if the temperature is warm, residents are likely to want their windows
open, and to make use of their gardens in the early evening. The speedway season
runs from March to October, and this will be a problem during late Spring, throughout
the Summer and in early Autumn — the majority of the season.

48

Page 55



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

7.08

7.09

7.10

7.11

7.12

7.13

It is clear to me that, dependent on the weather conditions (in particular the wind
strength and direction, but also the temperature) during a meeting, there will be an
impact on residential amenity. The noise levels are, in my view, potentially
“noticeable and intrusive”. The effects of this are set out in the table above, but for
the sake of clarity, | repeat it below:

“Noise can be heard and causes small changes in behaviour and/or attitude,
e.g. turning up volume of television; speaking more loudly; where there is no
alternative ventilation, having to close windows for some of the time because
of the noise. Potential for some reported sleep disturbance. Affects the
acoustic character of the area such that there is a perceived change in the
quality of life.”

In my view, it is clear that the noise generated from the speedway falls into this
category. rather than “noticeable and disruptive”. The advice of the NPPG is to
“mitigate and reduce the noise to a minimum”. Arguably this has been done by the
restrictions on hours of use, the number of meetings per week, and the fact that no
practice can take place at the site.

In the supporting statement, the case is made that permanent permission for use for
speedway is necessary to support the overall viability of the use of the stadium, in
particular due to the downturn in greyhound racing popularity. | requested detailed
information to substantiate the claim being made, but have been advised by the
agent that none will be forthcoming. As such, | give this very little weight in the
decision making process.

I am though mindful that having such a facility and provision for a reasonably popular
spectator sport in the Borough is to be welcomed. The response to public
consultation on the application could be said to be indicative of the wider support the
use benefits from, although that said, many of the letters of support are identical
copies and petitions in my view should be given limited weight.

It is clear that there are benefits to be derived from having a local speedway team,
although these are difficult to quantify. The provision of jobs for example — the
supporting statement sets out that race meetings rely heavily on volunteers. In terms
of a trickle down positive impact on the town centre, or local shops and services, this
may also be limited — the site is well removed from the town centre, and it seems
likely to me that spectators would travel direct to and from the stadium rather than
spending time in the town centre either before or after race meetings. Nonetheless,
there will be some benefit locally from attracting visitors from outside the Borough,
and the provision of such a facility and local spectator sport is to be welcomed.

To sum up, Members should have regard to the following:

o The proposed use generates noise which is intrusive;

o The use though only takes place once per week and for two hours each
meeting, even then the noise events are interspersed with periods of relative
quiet;

. This though can exacerbate the impacts of noise on local residents;

. The tonal characteristics of the noise can exacerbate its impact;

o The impact of noise from the site is dependent on the weather — temperature
and wind direction;

49

Page 56



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

7.14

7.15

7.16

8.0

8.01

9.0

o The number of noise complaints from local residents has dropped both in terms
of the overall number and the number of households complaining, since the
use commenced in 2013;

o The provision of a popular spectator sport within the Borough is a benefit;

o Other benefits are more difficult to quantify and should not be given substantial
weight in the decision making process;

Members should be in no doubt that | consider this to be a very finely balanced
decision. | am mindful that the noise levels can be intrusive and harmful to residential
amenity. The race meetings take place once per week, that they are limited in
duration and that their impact can be both positively and negatively affected by
weather conditions. Whilst | give it limited weight, | am also mindful that the number
of noise complaints over the years has reduced.

In my opinion, on balance, the harm caused to residential amenity is not sufficient to
warrant the refusal of the application. I am very mindful of the impact of the
speedway use on residential amenity, but | do consider that it is comparatively short
lived, and takes place only once per week, that it is unlikely to be harmful on every
occasion a meeting takes place (due to the weather) and that there is some benefit,
even if it is not significant, to having such a facility in the Borough.

Given the above, | recommend on balance, that condition (2) of SW/09/0314 is
deleted, making the planning permission permanent.

CONCLUSION
I conclude that, on balance, the deletion of condition (2) of SW/09/0314 is
acceptable, and the planning permission should be made permanent. | therefore

recommend that the application is approved.

RECOMMENDATION — GRANT Subiject to the following conditions:

CONDITIONS to include

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

The means and details of sound amplification approved pursuant to condition (3) of
SW/09/0314 shall continue to be used at the site.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

The acoustic fencing approved under application SW/09/0274 shall be constructed in
full prior to the first use of the site for speedway, and shall be retained throughout the
duration of this permission.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

Speedway motorcycle racing shall take place only once per week between Mondays
and Fridays inclusive, between 1st March and 31st October plus four Bank Holiday
Monday afternoon meetings, and written details of the dates and times of races shall
be provided to the District Planning Authority at least two weeks prior to their taking
place.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

No speedway practice shall take place on the site at any time.

50

Page 57



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

Racing shall take place between 1700 and 2030 hours only and there shall be no
warming up of speedway bikes prior to 1630 or after 2030 hours.

Bank Holiday Monday races shall take place between 1500 and 1800 hours only and
there shall be no warming up of speedway bikes prior to 1430 or after 1800 hours.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

There shall be no more than a total of 17 races (league and/or other) per meeting,
excepting re-runs of individual races which may take place additionally where
necessary in the interests of safety, but wholly within the time limits imposed by
condition (5) above.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

No other form of motorised sport shall be undertaken on the site at any time.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

There shall be no use of air horns or claxons at any time during race meetings.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

There shall be no use of fireworks or pyrotechnic devices at any time during race
meetings.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

Warming up of bikes shall take place only within the pit area as shown on the
approved plans, and shall not take place anywhere else on the site.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity

Any facilities for the storage of oils or fuels shall be sited on impervious bases and
surrounded by impervious bund walls. The volume of the bunded compound shall be
at least equivalent to the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity
of interconnected tanks or vessels plus 10%. All filling points, associated pipe work,
vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund or have separate
secondary containment. The drainage system of the bund shall be sealed with no
discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata. Associated pipe work shall
be located above ground and protected from accidental damage. All filling points and
tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall be detailed to discharge downwards into the
bund.

Reason: In order to prevent contamination/pollution of the land
Prior to being discharged into any watercourse, surface water sewer or soakaway
system, all surface water drainage from the speedway track shall be passed through

trapped gullies with an overall capacity compatible with the site being drained.

Reason: In order to prevent contamination/pollution of the land

51

Page 58



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner
by:

Offering pre-application advice.

Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of
their application.

In this instance:

The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the applicant/agent had
the opportunity to speak to the Committee and promote the application.

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.

The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

52

Page 59



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

Appeal Decisions g g

Inquiry held on 16 February 2010 and e sl Hoass

27-29 April 2010 irrke ry I

Site visits made on 16 Fabruary 2010 32 61

and 28 April 2010 :HE?;;:HE:#MMM
=

by L Rodgers ecng CEng MICE MBA

an Inspscior appointed by the Sacretary of State Decision date:
for Commiundtias and Local Governmant 25 May 2610

Appeal A Ref: APP/V2I55fA/09/2114712
Central Park Stadium, Church Road, Eurolink, Sittingbourne, Kent
MEL1D 35B

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Flanning Act 19240
against a refusal te grant plansing permission under section 73 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 for the development of land without complying with
conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted,

The appeal Is made by Cearnsport Ltd agalnst the decisien of Swale Borough Councl.
The application Refl SW/09/0275, dated 3 April 2009, was refused by notice dated

17 August 2009,

The application saught planning permission for a part change of use of the existing
gports stadium to permit the holding of spesdway meetings, induding the instaliation of
a clinker track surface, provision of a covered “warm up” 2rea and pits and erection of
an acoustic fence around part of the perimeter without complying with 2 condition
gttached to planning permission Ref SW/OB/N962, dated 16 January 2005,

The condibien In dispute Is Mo 2 which states that: The use of the site for speedway
shill cease on or before 31% October in the calendar year of races first taking place.
The reason given for the condition is: In order to allow the District Planning Aubhority to
redssess the impact of the use, having regard to the residential amenities of the
accuplers of nearby dwellings, and in pursuance of Policies 51 and E2 of the Swale
Borough Local Plan 2008,

Appeal B Ref: APP/V2255/8 09/ 2115416
Central Park Stadium, Church Road, Eurofink, Sittingbourne, Kent
ME1D 35B

The appeal Is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Flanning Act 1990
8a8inst a grant of planning permission sublect to conditions.

The appeal is made by Cearnsport Lbd against the decision of Swale Borough Counci,
The application dated 9 April 2000, was spproved on 13 October 2009 and plannfng
permission was grarted subject to condidons.,

The development permitted is & vadation of conditian (5) of SW/08/0952 to allow
speedway motorcyde racing to take place once per week between Mondays and Fridays,
a5 opposed to betweaen Mondays and Wednesdays. .

The condition in dispure is Mo 2 which stetes that: The use of the site for Speadway
shall cease on or befere 31" October In the calendar year of roces first taking place,
The reason given for the condition 1s: In order to aliow the District Planning Autharlty ba
redssess the Impact of the use, having regard to the residential amenities of the
oocupiers of nearby dwellings, and in pursuance of Policles E1 and EZ of the Swale
Barough Local Plan 2008,

| SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL f

20 1A 229

53

Page 60

u ——

— g



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

Apzeal Decislans APPAFIZSEAS00/ 2114712, APPA225H A0S/ 2115416

Application for costs

1. At the Inquiry an application for costs was made In respect of both appeals by
Ceamsport Ltd against Swale Borough Council, This application is the subject
of a separate Dedsion letter.

Decisions

2. [allew Appeal A and grant planning permissien for a part change of use of the
existing sports stadium to permit the holding of speedway mestings including
the installation of a clinker track surface, pravision of a covered "warm up’ area
and pits and erection of an acoustic fence around part of the perimeter at
Central Fark Stadium, Church Road, Euralink, Sittingbourne, Kent MELO 356 in
accordance with the applicetion Ref SW/09/0275, dated 3 Aprll 2005, without
compliance with condition numbers 2, 4 and 5 previously imposed an planning
permission Ref SW/08/09562, dated 16 January 2009 but subject to the other
conditions imposed therein, so far as the same are still subsisting and capable
of taking effect and subject bo the following new conditions:

{2}  The use of the site for speadway shall cease within four years of the date
of the first race taking place. The local planning authority shall be
notifled of the date of the first race in accordance with the arrangements
laid out in condition (5.

(4) The acoustic fencing approved under Ref SW/09/0274 shall be
constructed in full prior to the first use of the site for speedway and shall
thereafter be retained until use of the site for spesdway has caased,

18}  Speedway metorcyde racing shall take place only once per week
. between Mondays and Fridays inclusive between 1% March and 317
Qctobar plus four Bank Holiday Monday afterncen meetings and the
dates and times of races shall be provided on the stadium website,
published In the local press, made avallable at the application site and
provided in writing to the local planning autharity, all at least six weeks
prior to their taking place.

3. I &llow appeal B, and vary the planning permission Ref SW/09/0314 for a part
change of use of the existing sports stadlum to permit the helding of speedway
meetings anluding the Installation of a dinker track surface, provision of 2
covered ‘warm up”’ area and pits and erection of an acoustic fence around part
of the perimeter at Central Park Stadium, Church Road, Curolink,
Sittingbourne, Kent MEL1D 358 granted on 13 October 2009 by Swale Bnmuqh
Council, deleting conditions 2 & 4 and substituting for them the following
conditions:

(2}  The use of the site for speedway shall cease within four years of the date
of the first raca taking place. The local planning suthority shall be
notified of the date of the first rece in accordance with the arrangements
laid out in condition (5).

(4]  The acousklc fencing spproved under Bef SW/09/0274 shall be
constructed in full prior to the first wuse of the site for speadway and shall
thereafter be retained untl use of the site for speedway has ceased,

54

Page 61



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

' Appez| Decigions APPAVI2ZES 092114712, APPV2255 A0G/2115416

Main issue

4, Although there are two appeals, both are In respect of a common condition,
therefore consider there ta be only one main issue! whether the condition In
dispute is necassary In the interests of the [lving conditions of local residents
and meets the other tests of Circular 11/95,

Reasons
The necessity of the condition

5. The Appellant accepted at the Inquiry that speedway is an inharently noisy
sport, It was alse accapted that the residential development near to the
stadium is neise sensitive and that the nolse climate at the nearest propertles
is likely to chanpe as a result of the proposed use.

G, According to the Statement of Commeon Ground (S0CG) on nolse, the nearast
noise sensitive residential properties are those to the south of tha stadiurm at
Hugh Frice Close and Oak Road and the currently uninhabited and dilapidated
praperty at Mere Court to the sast. With the acoustic barrier in place, the
Appellant predicts a speedway nolse level of some 57dB Lagg,.n 8t Mere Court
and around 52dB Lesg,anat Hugh Price Close with maximum neise levels no
greater than 75dB Luqaspe. The Appellant suggests that, having reference to
the British Speedway Promoters” Assoclation {B5PA) adopted criterion, these
noise levals are unlikely to give rse to justifizsble complaints from lecal

residents.

7. In predicting the likely noise levels above, the calculations not only assumed
that the noise barrier would be in place but that the noise source would be in
the cantre of tha stadium, Initially, the Council quaried the validity of
assuming that the noise source would be in the centre of the stadium, pointing
out that as the bikes moved further away from the barrier, it would become
less effective. However, following further work during the coursa of the Inguiry
(Document 18), the Coundll acceptad that the increased attanuation over
distanca would compensate for any reduction in the effectiveness of the
barrer, The reverse would be true in that the barier would be more effective
when the blkes were at their closest. Consaquently, It was agreed by the
Councll that there would be similar noise levels at Hugh Price Close and Oak
Road irrespective of the bike's position on the track. Mevertheless, the Coundil
remalns concerned that the submitted avidence |s insufficient to demonstrate
that the predicted noise and disturbance would be at an acceptabls leyvel,

8. Ishall turn first to the effect on the proparties at Hugh Price Claze and Oak
Raad which, based on the submittad evidence, would be similar. The ambient
avening noise levels at Hugh Price Close were measured at around
4 2-45dB Lago, not untypical for a suburban area. ¥ found on my visits that the
arca was generally guiet. The predicted speedway noise level would be soma
7-10 o2 above the ambient noise levels and, IF one were to apply a
BS 4142: 1997 {Methad for rating industrial neise affecting mixed residential
ar industrial areas) type methodalagy, would be likely to lzad to some
complaints. This would be particularly so if a 5 dB correction was to be applied
to account for the intermittent nature of the nolse.

SWALE POROUGH C&T\i‘al;;

LH A D

55

Page 62



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

Appee| Decisions APPAVIZSS/A/E/2114712, APPA2Z2E5/A/05/2115416

APPENDIX |

9.

10.

11.

12.

However, the Appellant argues that experience elsewhers, reflected in the
2003 repart commissionad by the BSPA, Freliminary Assessmeant of
Environmenital Noise from Speedway in the UK, suggests that an energy
aquivalent noise level of between 15 and 18 dB{A) above the background noise
fevel would be an appropriate criteria for determining whether the noise from
speedway wodld be acceptable, The Appellant also claims further support from
the Code of Practice on Environmental Naoise Control at Concerts (The Molse
Council 1995). This, it is pointed out, includes guidance stating that the Music
Moisa Lewve! should not exceed the background noise level by mare than
15dB(A) over a 15 minute perlod. Whilst the Appellant acknewledges that [t
would be strictly incorrect to apply oriteria for music nolse to speedway noise,
it Is nevertheless suggested that an excess of greater than 10 dB(A) would be
acceptable for 8 shart-term, nccasional, noisy evant.

I find none of these arguments conclusive. The Council’s view [s that BS 4142
does not sit comfartably with the analysis of speedway noise and [ agree that
looking at an Laegn figure would not be representative of the characteristics of
speadway where parcels of high activity are followed by refative lulls. A
BS4142 type analysis may therefore underestimatea the potential for annoyanca
and it is possible that justified complaints could arise at lower excess nolsa
levels than envisaged by BS 4142, However, and conversely, B5 4142 [s an
accepted method of assessing the nolse from fiked plant where any potential
annoyance may extend over a much loenger peried than would be the case with
speedway, 1 therefore consider it highly questionable as to whether BS 4142
can be directly applied to speedway and using a BS 4142 type of analysis has
the potential to underestimate, or indeed overestimate, any harm.

Tuming to the BSPA report, this has the advantage that it relates directly to
speedway. Howewver, It has never been turned into a code of practice and has
therefore not undergone the scrutiny normally associzted with that process, It
remains a private report commissioned by the Promoters” Assoclation and for
these reasons can, in my view, attract no more than maderate weight. In any
event, whilst the report shows that, at certaln stadia, levels of speedway nolse
greater than 17 dB(A) over the background noiss have not attracted
complaints specific to blke noise, 1T alse shows that at other stadja, lower levels
of excess naise have resulted in a range of complaints. The condusicn of the
report that an "enargy equivalent noise level of between 15 and 18 dB(A)
above the background noise level would be an appropriate criteria for
determining whether the nolse from speedway would be acceptable” seems, on
this basis, open to guestion,

I respect of the guidelines in the Code of Practice on Environmental Nolse
Control 8t Concerts, these are concerned with far fewer events than would be
likely here, Although there iz some ambiguity about the number of speadway
evants likely to take place at Central Park Stadium In any ona season, the
Council’s analysis of the potential number of rrce meaetings shows that, within
the framewark prescribed by cther conditions on the existing permissions, up
to 39 mestings could be held during 2010. This far exceeds the 4-12 concert
days per calendar year per venue referred Lo in the guidelines, However,
compared o the nolse from speadway, the neoise assodated with concerts is
likely to be more sustained throughout the course of the event. Tt would in any

56

Page 63



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

- Appeal Declslans APPAVIZEE/AD0/ 2114712, APPV2255/A/09/2115416

13

14

i5.

16.

17,

18.

case have different characteristics which in my view would render direct
comparisons Inappropriate.

1 have also been referred to other guldance on nolse matters including Minarals
Piznning Guidance 11: The cantrol of noisa at surface mineral workings

(MPG 11}, This says that, other than in certain specified cireumstances {which
may result in lower, or higher, limits} the daytime nominal limit at noise-
sengltive properties used as dwellings should nermally be 55 dB L 4 i (free
field) where 1 h means any of the one hour perlods during the definad working
day. Howewver, whilst the noise levels at Hugh Price Close and Oak Road would
come within the limit, the permitted hours of speedway aperation would in part
fall outside the normal dafinition of ‘daytime’ and again the noisa
characteristics in terms of duration and pitch are likely to be significantly
diffarent between a speedway and mineral workings.

Although my attention was aiso drawn to the World Health QOrganisation (WHO)
guidalines, the Council and Appeallant agresd that whilst the noise fram
speadway would not increass the existing 16 hour daytime noise level by mora
than 1 dB(A), neither party were contant with the inclusion of intermiktent
nolse within & WHD type assessment.

Notwithstanding the diffieulties in applying existing guidance, the Appellant
argues that, based on the Lugun 8N Lamagts @nzlysis, the noise levels would
be consistent with the existing levels in the area and would be less than in
other places where speadway has been successfully introduced. However, in
comparing the predicted and existing noise levels, the analysis does not
specifizally account for tha nature of tha neise, and partfcularly the fact that
the higher levels of noise would be sustained over the duration of a race and
would mot simply ba very short, discrete events.

For these reasons T consider that it [s not possible to establish with any
reasonable dagrae of certainty wheather oF nat there wolld be material harm to
the living cenditions of local residents in Hugh Price Clase and Oak Road, The
fact that the BSPA report shows that complaints have arisen at a variety of
noise lavels suggests that much is dependent on the particular lacal
circumstances, As was polnted out at the inguiry, It is, for instance, difficult to
accurately model the effect of the range of reflective surfaces around the
stadiurm.

In respect of the proparty at Mere Court, IF one were to assume the
background noise levels were similar to those at Hugh Price Clase, the
préedicted speedway noise level of some 57dB Lisgn would, even adepting the
conclusion of the BSPA report, be approaching the upper imit of acceptability
and would be more likely to result in material harm. However, [ am consclous
that the property is in a dilapidated state and whilst T accept the Council's point
that it could potentially be made available for ocoupation, T was glven na
substantive evidence to show that It would be restored to residential use. In
thesa circumstances 1 consider that the possibility of harm to any potenlial
fubure residents of Mere Court should carry only limitad welght.

Although T accept that the proposed use could be detrimental to local residents,
the Appellant points out that the speedway noisae levels arising at Hugh Price
Close would be significantly quister than If & neighbeur, gven af Few h-:lusns

SWALE BOy BCJF"DLJ-..:H wumml. f

16 kA )

~PLANNING SERVICES

57

Page 64

T T B —— e e



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

Appeal Decigions APP/VI2SSA/08/2114712, APRVZZES/A/09/2115415 .

distant, were mowing a lawn with 2 powered lawnmower. The Introduction of
new silencers is likely to further reduce the predicted noise levels and, despits
the Councll’s concerms as to whether use of the new silencers could be
controlled, I nota that a licensed speedway promoter s not given parmission to
stage speedway radng until he has signed a contract to abide by the Speedway
Control Bureau {SCR) rules and regulations. Amnangst other matters, these
requilate the use of silancers, In these circumstances, and despite the limited
testing to date, I consider it reasonabla to have same regard to the benefits of
tha new silencers, It (s also the case that each race would be short in duration,
that there would be only a limiked number of meetings during the year and that
tha timing of the meetings, particularly the finlsh times for the evening
mestings, would be such as to minimise disturbancs at what are generally
accepted as the most sensitive times of the day.

19, According te the Appellant, the Introduction of speadway would alsa help B
offset the downtum in revenua from grevhound racing and would help to
secure the future of the stadium. [t was also said that the development would
rasult in & contribution to the local economy. Whilst thesa assertions were not
supported by substantive evidence, it nevertheless seems to me likely that
there would be some benefits to the community.

20, However, natwithstanding any possible benefits, given that I have found that
the proposed racing could be detrimental to lacal residents there may also be
conflict with the Swale Barough Local Plan, particularly Policies EX and E2, In
these circumstances an unrestricted permission would not be appropriate.
However, it is not cartain that residents would suffer material harm. Circular
11795 says that “where an application Is made for 8 permanent permission far
a use which may be "potentially detrimental” ta existing uses nearby, but there
is Insufficient evidence to enable the suthority to be sure of its character or
effact, it might be appropriate to grant & temporary permission in arder to give
the development a trial run”,

21. In this case, the number of years of racing could be controlled by condition.
However, Circular 11/95 makes it clegr that any such temparary permilssion

should be réasonablz having regard to the capital expenditure necessary to
carry out the development and & trial period should be set that is sufficiently

lang For it to be clear by the end of the first permission whether permaneant
permission or refusal is the right answer. [ deal with these matters balow,

Whether ar not the disputed condition is reasonable and meats the other tests of
Circular 11/95

22. According to the Appellant, the capital expenditure required to prépare the
stadium for speedway racing would ba of the order of E250,000. Although the
Council guestioned the make up of the figure, the Ceundlt also noted that the
capital costs of recent similar profects at other stadia were comparable or
slightly higher. Motwithstanding the Councils concerns it therefore seems
reasanahiz to take a figure of £250,000 as the likely capltal expenditure,

23. The farecast profit and Inss account submitted by the Appellant suggests that
payback would occur 2arly in the fifth year of operation. This payback periad
was also guestioned by the Council anc In particular the inclusion of @ nan-cash
itemn of £25, 000 par annam for depreciation. The Coundil also queried other

58

Page 65



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

. Appeal Dactslons APFAVZ2ES A08/2114712, APPAVZZSS A0 2115416

24,

25,

26,

27,

8,

25,

matters in the projection such as the assumed number of meetings (25), the
iazk of ather (ncome opportunities and the lack of any sponsorship income,
Howewver, even If all the Council's suggasted adjustments were to be adopted,
payback is shown as pccurring in year two.

Circular 11/95 says at Paragraph 111 that & temporary permission should be
reasonable having regard to the capital expenditure necessary to carry out the
developmant and Paragraph 35 says that a condition should not be impased if
the restriction effectively nullifies the benefit of the permission. Although the
Circular does not require any permission to be long enough to pay back the
investment, and any financial prajections are likely to be subject ta variation
and uncertainty, It s=ems to me that the payback peried is one Indlcator of
what may be an appropriate lenath for any emporary permission.

In this casa, I consider that a condition which limits racing to one season, when
gven a highly optimistic scenario shows payback would not occur untll year
two, effectively nullifies the benefit of the permissicn. 1am also consclous
that, because of its forward planning cycles, the BSPA view Is that permission
being granted for a single seasen means in reality that the stadium would
never aperate. Although T find no conflicks with the other tests of

Cireular 11795, 1 therafore find the disputed conditions unreasonable.

Although the Appellant’s figures show that payback would occur In year five I
noke that over 90% of the capital Investment would be paid back in the first
four seasons. However, whilst 1 agree with the Coundl that it would not be
reasonable to include depreciation when considering the length of a temporary
permissian, it would nevertheless be very marginal to suggest that payback
would occur In yaar three, Although the Councdil’s view was that there were
other income apportunites that would help in beosting profitabiity, the
Appellant considered that it would be unreasonable to include these in the
projections. As same would affect the intended offer and some would be
subiect to considerable uncertainty, I accept the Appellant’s view.

Although the Appellant has made it elear that he is seeking unlimitad
permissions, or minima of seven years in order ta justify the Investment, it ls
my aplnian that peemissions allowing racing for four years would be reasonable
heving regard te the capital expenditure invelved, The Appellant and Council
hoth accepted that, if I determined that temporary permissions were
appropriate, their duration would be a matter for my judgement Based on the
facts before mae.

Maotwithstanding that a four year permiszion would be reasonable having regard
to the capital expeanditure Invelved, thare ramalns the question of whether a
four year permission would be reasonable having regard to the potentially
detrimental effect on local residents. Fanning Policy Guidance: Planhing and
Molse (FPG24) says that, in considering noise from recreational and sparting
activities, the local planning authority will have to take account of how
fraguantly the noise will be generated and how disturbing 1t will be, and
balance the enjoymeant of the participants agalnst nuisance ta other paople,

Despite the spposition of many local residents, a significant number of letters
have been received in support of the pmposal and there appears to be
considerable enthusiasm for the inbroduction of speedway at Central Park

SWALE BOROUGH Couir »

-
46 BAT L

59

Page 66



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

Appmal Declslons APPSVZ255/A09/21147 12, APP/W22S5/AF09/ 2115416

Stadium. I have already established that the frequency and duration of noisy
events would be controlled by other conditions and that the projectad nolsa
levels would be further limited by the new silencers. Taking account of all
these factors it is my opinlan that limiting racing te four years would be
reasonable having regard to the potentially detrimantal effect on lecal residents
and the enjoyment of the participants. Four years would also be long enough
to datermine whether a parmanent permission or refusal |5 the right answer,

Other matters

30, A number of local residents havea raised other concerns including the use of the
proposed track for practice and junior meetings, the commercial viability of the
operation and the sensithvity of the financial information. Howewer, other
conditions would restrict the number of times that mator cycle racing can take
place and prevent use of the track for speedway practice and whilst I have had
regard to the sensitivities inherent in the financial projections, the commercial
viahility of the propasal is largely 2 matter for the Appellant,

31, In respect of the unease expressad by third parties over the potential for
congestion and additional parking on local roads, the Council has not objected
on these grounds and as greyhound racing already atbracts similar size crowds
o the stadium, 1 s22 no reasen to take a different stance.

Conditions

32. I have established that, if T ware to allow the appeals, conditions limiting the
number of years over which racing may take place would be necessary. In
respect of Appeal A, I would also need to refer back to the conditions imposed
on planning permission Ref SW/08/0952 but, for consistency with other
permissiens subseguently granted by the Councll, I would also nesd to impose
new conditions 4 and 5, Similarly, in respact of Appeal B, a new condition 4
would be required. This approach was agreed by the main parties,

Conclusion

33, [ have found that the disputed conditions are unreasonable, Howewver, [ have
also found that the effect of the proposed racing on the living conditions of
lacal residents is uncertain and potentially detdimental, Taking account of
these matters 1 have determined that canditions imiting the racing to four
years would be reasonable in all respects. Therefore, and having considered all
other matters before me, including the sustainability of the development, 1
conclude that both Appeal A and Appeal B should succeed but that the
resultant parmissions should be subject to new conditions imiting racing to no
more than four years,

Lloyd Rodgers

Inspectar

60

Page 67



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

. Appeal Decisions APP/NV2EZEE /0972114712, APP/VIZSS/A/00F 2115415

APPEARANCES

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:

Mr G Stoker of Counsal

He called

Instructed by Ms Elades-Chase, Head of Legal,
Swale/Tonbridoa/Maidstone Borough Councils

Mr 0 N Ledger FCIEH, Environmental Protection Manager, Swale

MRSPH
Mr K Godden MISPAL
Mr R T Bailey MRTPI

FOR THE APPELLANT:

Mr S Randle of Counsal
He called
Mr RIC Cearns
Mr A E Mole

Borough Council
Director, pmp genesis Ltd
Area Planning Officer, Swale Borough Council

"Instructed by Roblnsen Escott Planning

Cearmsport Ltd
Fresident, British Speadway Fromoters
Assoclatlon

Mr N Hill C Eng, MIOA,  HIll Engineering Consultants Ltd

MIMechE
Mr F Robinson FRTFI
CMILT

" INTERESTED PERSONS:
Clir M Hendersan

Ms. E Walker
Clir E Lowe

Mr B Bibby
Mr G Marriott
Mr A Swade
Clir  Banks

; Robinson Escott Planning

Swale Borough Councillar, Member of the
Flanning Caommittae, Appearing on behalf of
Iscal residents,

Local resident

Swale Borough Counclllor, Member of the i
PMlanning Committee. Appearing on behalf of
local resldents.

On behalf of a local resident

Local resident

Lecal resident

Ward councillor and local residant

e T T

SWALE BOROUGH COUNGIL

e |

9 l
FRMAT oy i

61

Page 68



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX |

Appeal Decsions APP/VZZES A0 2114712, APP/VAIEE A0S 2115418 .

DOCUMENTS HANDED TN AT THE INQUIRY

=1

= o Ba b pa

10
11

13
14
15
16

17

13

19

-
i

21
22
23

24

List of persens attending the inquiry on behalf of the Appellant. Submitted by
Mr Robinson.

Bundle of letters, Submitted by Mr Robinsen.

Letber from JP Crook and Co, dated 9.2.10. Submitted by Mr Rabinsen.
BFSA letter plus attachments, Submitted by Mr Robinson.
Supplementary nolse proof of Nicholas Hill. Submitted by Mr Robinson.
Bundle of letters. Submitted by Mr Stoker.

Response to Appellant’s evidence from Pmpgenesis Ltd, Submitted by

Mr Stoker.

The 2009 Speedway Regulations (SCB). Submitted by Mr Stoker.

BS 4142: 1997, Submittad by Mr Stoker

Statement of Cormmon Ground (Noise),

Acoustic evidence of Mr Bibby

Letter from Clir Manuella Tomes

Appellant’s apening statement. Submitted by Mr Randle.

Enviraonmental Noise Assessment June 2000. Submitted by Mr Stoker.
The 2010 Speedway Regulations {SCB), Submitted by Mr Randle,

Copy of Decision Notice fram Birmingham City Council in respect of Application
Number Nf04323/08/FUL (Perry Barr Stadium), Submitted by Mr Stoker,
Letters in respect of the intraduction of new homolgated silencers (R&D
Agoragatesf/ACU). Submitted by Mr Randle.

Caloulation shest of M Hill in respect of attenuation effect of barrier with bikes
at different track points. Subrmitted by Mr Randle,

2010 Calendar showing potential number of meetings under existing
permissions. Submitted by Mr Stoker.

Table 4.1 of WHO guidelines, Submitted by Mr Stoker.,

Cauncil’s closing statement. Submitted by Mr Stoker.

Appellant’s closing statement. Submitted by Mr Randle,

Joint statement on the applicability of the WHO guidelines to properties at
Hugh Price Close and Oak Foad.

Costs application on behalf of the Appellant. Submitted by Mr Randle.

10

62

Page 69



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX II

Hill Engineering Consultants Limited PO Box 8937
Independent Noise and Vibration Consulting Ravenshead
07950 355042 Nottingham
NicholasHill196 1@ yahoo co.uk NG15 9WD
Mr R Ceams Your reference: 15 /5 1 0 s 0 5
Contral Park staium | RECEIVED :
g;uol'ch Road 23 DEC 2015 Our reference’ ENV/73/001/NHfjh/pL

ink
Sittingbourmne | Date: 4" July 2013
Kent ME10 3SB

By e-mail only - rogercearns@aol.com

Dear Roger,
RE: Speedway, Central Park Stadium

Further to my wsit to site on Monday 3 June 2013 to inspect the acoustic barrier and to monitor noise
from Speedway. | comment as follows.

Barrier

You will recall that in my report E15073/05 of 26th July 2008 supporting the application for Planning
Permission | recommended a '6m high acoustic barier is erected to replace the existing 'concrete slalted
wall 2.25m high' to the southemn aspec! of the Stadium shown on Figure 1. The barner should slart close
from the eastern straight and continue clockwise, unbroken, for a circumferential dislance of
approximately 200m’. | note that in Swale Borough Council's letter of 18" January 2009 the acoustic
fence proposed in your drawing of 1* December 2008 showing an acoustic barrier to run a distance of
approximately 185m at a height of 6m, to be localed skghtly behind the existing 2.25m high existing
concrets slatied fence was approved

At the site inspection | noted that the acoustic barrier has been constructed to a height of 6m, buik above
the existing concrete slatted fence on 4" by 4" square section steel columns using G-ply (1" thick), oil
treated plywood sheets, photos as follows:

63

Page 70



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX Il
Sittingboume Speedway 2of4 ENV/73/001/NHfh/pL
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment 4" sy 2013

There are no substantial breaks or gaps in the barrier. Given that the current height meets the
recommended height of 6m tetal and is in the corect geographical position then there are no measures
that could be undertaken to improve the noise barrier, other than increasing its height. It is therefore fit
for purpose and meets the requirements of my criginal specification

The 1" thick plywood will provide a substantially increased noise insertions loss of at least 20 dB(A) (L.e
through the plywood) compared to the predicted 11 dB(A) shielding provided by the noise diffracting over
the heignt of the bamrier. Consequently, increasing the thickness of the current 1" plywood sheat will
show no additional benefit,

64

Page 71



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

Sittingbourne Speedway
Envirgnmental Noise Impact Assessment

3of4

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX I

ENV/I73/001/NHAh/pL
4" Jdy 2013

In my reperting | predict a Speedway noise level of 52 dB L., 4, 8! property on Hugh Price Close and
surrounding area, 5 dB(A) below the adopted criterion of 57 dB La., based on the early evening
ambient background noise level of 42 dB Laggy, using the criterion adopted from the 2003 report
prepared by Scott Wilscn for the BSPA.

Al the site inspection the following noise levels were measured at Hugh Price close:

Page 72

Time Lieg Laso L pima gt comments
17.00-17.15 51.8 415 75.4 local road traffic, birdsong,
17.15-17.30 53.9 425 75.8 pedestrians
17.30-17.45 54.6 43.0 77.2
17.45-18.00 55.0 445 71.0
18.00-18,15 52.8 440 B65.8 bikes warm up from 18.06
18.15-18.30 53.1 43.0 69.6 warm up until 18,23
18.30-18.45 58.2 450 80.8 first heat at 18.35
18.45-19.00 565 420 82.0
18.00-18.15 52.6 41.5 739
18.15-18.30 54.8 43.0 73.0
19.30-19.45 53.8 415 74.8
19.45-20.00 58.2 43.5 79.5
20.00-20.15 57.6 43.0 77.9
20.15-20.30 853 385 734 |ast heat at 20.20
20.30-20.45 51.5 370 69.2 local road traffic, local keep fit
20.45-21,00 50.6 36.5 68.2 club, pedestrians, birdsong
21.00-21.15 49.4 35.0 67.4 etc. Twilight at around 21.30.
21.15-21.20 455 36.0 63.5
21.30-21.45 446 345 649 |
21.45-22.00 422 35.0 60.4

65



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX II
Sittingbourne Speedway dote ENV/73/001/NHihpL
Environmental Noise Impact Assessment 4" July 2013

At the time of the measurements there was a noliceable north-easterly wind, blowing towards the
measurement location, with gusts at up to 5 m/s.

It can be seen that the bikes warm-up commenced at 18.08 and continued until 18.23. The first haat
commenced at 18.35 and the final heat at 20.20.

The average ambient noise at the measurement point in the 90 minutes prior to commencement of the
heats is calculated from the data tabulated above to be 53.7 dB(A) L... predominantly due to local road
traffic.

The average noise level throughout the course of the 2% hour meeting is calculated from the data
tabulated above to be 58.3 dB(A) L.,

The specific noise from the Speadway is therefore 56.3 dB(A) L., minus 53.7 dB(A) Lo, This is
calculaled to be 52.8 dB(A) L.

In layman’s terms, the noise from the Speedway over the course of the 2% hour meeting at Hugh Price
Close is 52.8 dB(A) L., This slightly exceeds the predicted noise level of 52 dB(A) Ly, | report in my
report E15073/05 of 20th July 2008. The reason for the actual noise level exceeding the pradicted noise
level is almost certainly due to the prevailing north-easterly wind at the time of the measurement it is
most difficult to calculate accurately the effect of wind direction and speed upon the prediction of
environmental noise and any such effect is still not included in any relevant British and International noise
prediction Standards, It is quite likely, however, that with the predominant south-westerly wind expected
at the site that Speedway noise levels will, in general, be reduced by as much as 5-7 dB(A) compared to
those measured at the site inspection reported above with the north-easterly wind experienced

The Speedway specific noise level, 52.8 dB{A) L., (with the north-easterly wind experienced) is below the
WHO evening guidelines of 55 dB Ly, and will be further reduced with a prevailing south-easterly wind.

On this basis then | conclude that the noise barrier erected satisfies my original specification and does not
require any medification. Noise levels from Speedway at Hugh Price Close are sfightly higher than
expecled bul due to the north-easterly wind experienced at the time of the measurements: with a
prevalling south-easterly wind | expect Speedway noise levels to be reduced by as much as a further 5-7
dB(A). The Speedway specific noise level measured at the site inspection is below the WHO evening
guidelines of 55 dB L,

Yours sincerely

Nicholas Hill BSc{Hons) CEng MIOA MIMechE
Noise and Vibration Consultant

66

Page 73



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

157510605

23 DEC 206

44444

""""""""" Po!ﬁﬁggus
CENTRAL PARK STADIUM,
SITTINGBOURNE, KENT ME10 3SB
PLANNING STATEMENT FOR
REMOVAL OF
CONDITION 2 AND VARIATION OF
CONDITION 7 OF PERMISSION
SW/09/0314
Date: 23" December 2015
Ref: 018
PowerHaus Consultancy
fo s )
mp@ powerhausconsultancy.co.uk T
voww.powerhausconsultancy.co,uk
Flanning Statemsant
67

Page 74



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

CONTENTS

1.0 INTRODUCTION AND DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT ..oovvsmmmsmisssssassssssssnsssansasans 1
2.0 SITE AND LOCATION.........coonmmsissnninas k]
3.0 SPEEDWAY BACKGROUND ANMD PLANNING HISTORY e vienes 4
L L Ll OO
5.0 PLANNING POLICES AND JUSTIFICATION ....coommmmmmmarnssrasarnsams sessass 9
6.0 COMNCLUSIONS ..coouerrmeaessnnanns . 14
TABLES

Table 1, Relevant Planning History at Central Park Stadium.......... 4
Table 2. UK Speedway Stadia Finish TIMES .o eeeceeseesssesssssssases 5

Appendix 1 — Information From Swale Borough Council EHO December 2015
Appendix 2 - Emall From Swale Borough Council EHD 5 December 2015

FLANMING STATEMENT
DECEMBER 2015
REF: 018

68

Page 75



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.8

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX Il

INTRODUCTION AND DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

An applcation has been submited en behalf of Cearnsport Lid concaming Central Park
Stadium Sittingboume Kent, for permission to remove Condition 2 and to vary Condition 7 of
planning parmizgion ref. SW0R/0214, undar Secfion 73 of the Tewn and Counltry Planning Act,
This would continue the speedway use st the Stadium as already permitied and allow a later
finishing time on Fridays. Al other confrols would remain as sel down In the varous
permissions, Part change of use of the Stadium was permitted for speedway meetings on 13
October 2009 subject 1o the use coming inlo effect before 167 January 20012, The use was
implamented the first week of January 2012,

Spesdway racing commenced in the 2012 season and & therafora due o cease at the end of
tha end of he Speedway season in October 2096 I line with the four-year time limit of the
planning consert {condition 2 of planning parmission SWI0S/0314 amended by Appeal decisian
APPN22Z53AMN92115416), The removal of Conditlon 2 would therefore sllow parmanent uss of
the Stadium for Speedway, which will secure an economic boost o the Stadium and Borough,
with the decling in Greyhound racing esparienced at Central Park Stadium and naticrally as a
apectator spart. The use has already been approved and is an appropriste uss in this location,

This application also saeks to continue the extended later finishing Gme o Fridays from 17,00
T 21,10, with an additional 20 minules for overruns, to attract a higher league speedway club to
e race track, and 1o ensure racess, workess and spectators can reach tha grounds in good
timi for the speedway races. Thers | no other speadway track in the country that operatos with
such restrictad hows and this significantly hampera the abdity of Cearnsport to attract a higher
league team to compete from Central Park Stadium. A higher lsague team compaliber would
positively alter the economic bensfits of the speedway operation, conffbuting o the local
soonomy. Given that the Speedway use can curently continue for a furthar year, Ceamspors
has nat bean abde o attract a higher league team due o the unceriainty over the conbmued use
of Central Pack Stadivm for Speadway and the mecessary investmant reguired for the higher
lsague leam fders.,

Planmeng permission has already been granted by the Council on 12 May 2015 referance
15500862/ FULL, to allow the later Speedway finishing ilme on Friday nights.

This application Is therefore seeking to ensure that both conditions are varied fos the original
change of wse consent reference SWHS/034, to ensure that Speedway use can be a
permanant wse and that the later finighing time on Friday's can continue sl Central Park
Stadium.

The proposed revised Condition 7 is (o say

%0 Friogys speedway racing shall fzke place betwean 1700 and 21710 howrs only [with
a further 20 minwfes o be used only in fhe event of re-runs of individual races which
may fake place addiionaly where necassary in the inferesls of safely),

PLAKKNBG STATEMENT
DECEMBER 2015
REF: D18

69

Page 76



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

1.7 Thiz g

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

I all other ciroumstfances, weekday races shal fake piace betwsen 1700 and 2030

hours only and there shall be no warming vp of speedway bikes pror fo 1830 or affer
2030 howrs,

Bank Holiday Monday races shall tske place befwean 1500 and 1800 hours only and
there shall ba ro warming up of spesdway bives prior fo 1430 or after 1800 hours”

pplcation will regulartse spesdway use at the Stadium subject fo the exiafing constrainis

83 follows:

Speedway seasen confined 1o 17 March o 31® October sach year;

Crly ane apeedway meeting per weekx Monday to Friday, plus fouwr Bank Holiday
sftermoon mestings:;

Cnly 17 heats par mesting,

iv} Mondays to Thursdays no racing after 20,30

Fridays mo racing after 21.10 excegt for re-runs up to 21,30 only; and

vi) Race mestings will finish at 16.00 on Bank Holidays,

1.8 Inform
the nu

stion hae been requested from the Council's Environmantal Healih Departmant ragarding
mber of noise complalnis associated with the Stadium uses. Tha information received is

rafarrad o in fusther datail in Section 5 bolow,

1.8 The structure of this Planning Statement will now examne tha drcumstances and planning

policke

s (o support this application and iz set out as follows:
Sectlon 2 Site and Location = describes the site and surroundings,

Section 3 Background and Planning History — sets out the relevant background with
regard i speedway racing at Central Park Stadium and the recent and relevant planning
history of the speedway use al Central Pack Stadium and other at ather atadia in the UK,

Saction 4 Meed — demonstrates the nead far the permanent use of the Stadium for
spaadway and the sesocisted later Friday night fiaishing tirme already permitbed.

Section 5 Planning Justification - assssses the proposals against the relevant
planning pelicy framewars.

Section 6 Concluslons — summarises the condusions in favour of the application,

FLANNING STATEMENT
DECEMEBER 3015

REF: 01d

70

Page 77

L S—



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

R ST

2.0 SITE AND LOCATION '

21 Central Park stadium iz usaed successfully for league spescway racing. A large parking area is
located to the norh and east sides of the sladium, which are the main entry poinis 1o the
Stadiem. Pit areas for spsedway bikes and riders are located i tha north east of the site. A
subslantial acoustic fence has been erecled along the southerm boundary of the site, which is
the smallest part of the sladium, which lies some 175 matres from the nearest residantisl
properties (o the soulh.

22 Central Park Stadium alse hosts grayhound racing and football activities which have been
permilied since 1996 to take place T nights & weak until 11pm, During busy times, the stadium
accommodates crowds in excess of 5,000 spectators sseociated with {hese evants, The
applicant &lao has a drinks licence untl 2am and iz permittad to hald five ouldoor concerts a
year. Speedway race meetngs as proposed on Fridays would st finish earier than other
aclivities within the same Stadium end would also fBke place comparatively infrequently,
Current planning restrictions ensure that no mora than 17 heats lake place per meating, that
there is only one mesting per week and that Speadway events can only faxe place betwesn
March and October sach year.

2.3 Ceniral Park Sladium is appropriately siluated on the culskirs of Sittngbourne, on the finges of
the Eurclink industrial astate and the East Hall Farm industrial estate. Light, general and
storage and distribution empleyment uses surround the Stadivm on the west, north and east
sides, To the south the Stadium is bordered by two playing fislds, which sit between the
Stadium and the reskdential properties to the south, The nearest residential stroets Lo the
afadium are at Murston lo the south of the site, the closast of which lies approximatalty 175m 1o
the south at Hugh Price Close and Cak Road.

2.4 The overriding charactes of the sile is thesalore Industrial and employmeant focused, with a Local
Plan alocation (2008) for asditional employment generating uses ta the east of the stadium
which is moestly complate, The emerging draft Local Flan cumenily the subject of sxamination
alao continues to surround the Stadivm area with 8 mixed use aflocation to the southleast of he
Stadium site. A Stadium use with Speedway events in this locafion is therefors higghly
appropriate as a land wsa,

FLAMNING STATEMENT 3
DECEMBER 2015
REF: 118

71

Page 78



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

30 SPEEDWAY BACKGROUND AND PLANNING HISTORY

1] Background

31 Speedway racing is a popular event ai Central Park Stadium and recsives considerable support
from the local community. Speadway race meetings consist of 17 ocne-minute races which take
place for approximately two hours @t 3 time on one weekday in the season (1% March o 31"
October), Typically, mestings lake 1hr 30 mnules however this ccoasionally increases to Thr 55
minutes if there has been a delay, such as a crash or a heat recall, The toial length of each
me=ting would remain the same, never nomally exceeding two hours,

3.2 The approved later Friday night finishing time of 21,10, with an additional 20 minutes if 2 delay
occurs s essential for the permansnt spesdway wse at Central Park Stadium. The Council
accepted that the races taking place curing the additional hour {ie. 2020 to 21.30) would
typically be limited to 5 to 3 sixty second racea, amounting to a maximuem of 8 minutes of racing
during this hour.

3.3 The speadway use is in full compliance with the terms of the relevant planning permissions
{refs, SWBE/0952 and SW/OS0314) first granted by the Borough Council but as subsequently
varied by the Inapector on appeal decisions dated 25 May 2010 [APPMA 2255 A00/2114712 and
APPAS2EE/A0N2115418 respectively), Speedway racing may continue as permitted by these
cansenis unlil the end of the 2016 season,

I} Planning Mistory
3.4 The relevant planning hislory for Gentral Park Stadium is summarised in Table 1 below:

Table 1. Relevant Planning History at Central Park Stadium

X : y I
SWINa0e62 The part change of use of existing spors stadlum | Approved on 15001/09
te permit the holding of speedway meatings,
including tha installation of clinker track surface, Planming Offices

provision of covered "warm up” area and pits and recommeanded refusal,

erection of acoustic fence around part of the but Members reachead

perimater, b grant a temporary
planning permission o
allow the uae of the
zlte on a trial basis
only.

SWinanzra Erection of accustic fence around soultherm Approved on 1109009
parimeater of atadium terraces maximum height
B, 1m

SWIDA0ITs Wariation of condition (2} of SWI0B0962 to allow 8 | Refused on 17/08/09
minimum of 7 seasons uze for the holding of
speedway mastings. Allowed on appeal
250510

SWI0anN313 Wariation of condition 7 of SW/ORDSE2 to allow
warming wp of speedwsay bikes from 1400 hours Refusad on ZEIE0S
on bank halidays, rather han from 1430 hours,

SWina0214 wariatlon of condltion 5 of SWI0B/0962 to allow 1 Approved 1 510/09
speedway race por week belwesn Mondays and
Fridays, a5 opposed to between Mondays and Appeal allowad on
Wednesdays. 2EMTEM 0 and
lemporary permission
PLANMING STATEMENT 4
DECEMBER 2015
REF: 018
72

Page 79

L i



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

Applicant ought te vary Condition 2 attached to | extended 1o four years
permission SWI0S03 14 which reatricied the uae | (until the end of the
. 1o one season only al appeal. 2016 season),

SWii4/00E8 ariation of condition (7} of SWOH0314, fo allow Rafused an 24/08/14
speadway racing between 15:00 & 22.00 hours on
waekdays and bank holidays.

16/500662/FULL | Variation of condition 7 of SW/D90314 to allow Parmitted 12 May
speadway racing bebwaen 1600 and 2130hrs on 2Ms
Fridays,

i) Operational Hours of Other UK Spaedway Stadia

3.5 Al pther speedway stadiums in the UK have later operational howrs than Central Park Stadium,
Of the 28 UK stadia that host speadway races as set out in Table 2 bedow, all finish much Iatar.

The majosity finish around 10pm on weskdays, whereas Central Park Stadium is restriclsd to

finish as eary as 20.30 during weskdays, babwesn half an hour to twe hours earfiar.

Table 2. UK Speadway Stadia Finish Times

Specdway track and location

Birmingham Brummies, Parry Bar Stadiem

inish time (app

2ca day
22.00 (Wecnesday/Thursday), 21.00

[Sunday}
Clasgew Tigers, Ashfiold Stadium 18.00 [Sunday)
Edinburgh Monarche, Armadala Stadlum 22,30 {Friday)

Berwick Bandits, Shielfield Park

22.00 (one weekday), 21,30 [Saturday)

Workington Comets, Derwent Park Stadium

22.00 (Friday | Saturday | Sunday | Bank

Halidays)
Mewcastle Diamends, Browgh Park "21.30 {Sunday)
Redear Bears, South Tees Motorsports Park 2200 {Thursday)

Scunthorpe Sconpicns, Eddie YWrighit Raceway

21,30 {Friday}

Sheffield Tigars, Sheffield Speedway, Owlarton
Stadium

22,00 (Thursday)

Baola Vue Acos, Bell Vue Stadium, Manchestar

21.30 (Monday} — Onoe mew sladium is
built and operational, will be 22.30
{Wednesday, Friday, Sahrday)

Buzton Hitmen, Buxton Speedway Stadium,
Darbyshire

17.00 {Sundays)

Stoke Polters, Chesterion Stadium, Chesterton

*21.30 (Saturday}

Kings Lynn Stars, The Siadium, King's Lynn 22,30 (Thursday)

Pelerborough Panthars, East of England 2200 (Thursday)
Showground

Wolverhampton YWakves, Monmora Graen Stadium 22.00 iManday}

Coveritry Beas, Covenlbry Stadium, Covenlry 22.00 (Friday)

Mildenhat Fan Tigecs, Mikdenhail Stadium

18,30 (Sunday)

Ipawich Witches, Foxhall Stadiem

22.30 (Weekday) 18,20 (Sunday/Bank
Hollday)

Fye House Rockets, Rye House Stadium,

*21.30 (Saturday)

Hoddesan

Lakeside Hammers, Arena-Essex Raceway, 2200 (Friday)
Thurrachk

Kent Kings, Central Park Stadium, Existing time 20,30 (Monday)
Stittingbourne Proposed time 21.30 {Friday}

Easthouns Eaghkss, Ardinglon Stadiurm, Hailsham

21,30 (Saturday)

Ishe of White Islanders, Smallbrook Stadium

21.00 {Tuesday) = axcepl when maeting
i5 dalayed, then may operats until

PLARNING STATEMENT
DECEMEER M5
REF: 018

73

Page 80



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX Il

IEEEER IR

. !

21.30 |

| Pacle Firates, The Stadium, Foole 72.00 (Wednesday) !

FPlymouth Devils, St Boriface Arena, Plymouth 21.45 [Thursday to Saturday), 20.30

{Bank Holidays)

Somerset Rebels, Oak Tres Arena 22,00 (Friday)

Swindon Robins, Abbey Stadum, Swindon 22,00 (Thursday}

Dudiey Hesthens, Ladbroke Stadium *21.30 (Tuesday)

Leicestar Lions, Basumont Leys Stadium, 22,30 (Saturday)

Letcestar

Source: Spesdwey G8 (The Official Brilish Speadway Wabsite) and Individual speedway race operabor
wabeiles, actessed Dacember 2014. Link: htip:iseny speedwaygb, oofwherearetheclubs el

Mote: “A search of B individual speedway race operslor websites and the relevant planning histories (whare
medilahle) on Ihe respective laal autharily websiles has dentiiad il the atae timee and man raca days of
the speedway race meetings, and n most cases, the parmitied fnish lmes. Howevar, whan finlsh timas
wera not aveilable, it hes been azaumad that the meetings wil finish teo howes fraom Ehe start s, based
of the average length of spestwey rece mestinge lasting approximately two hours, Thamfore ingomse
cases V] the stadia may aclually have a later curfew tan indicated In this table.

36 The maost recent permissions granted at St Boniface's Collage Spons Ground, Priymouth, &t
Belle Wue Leisurs Cenire, Kirkmanshulme Lane, Manchester and Perry Bar Stadium,
Birmingham, have residential homes 200m away, at 30m and 20m from the stadium site
baundaries respactively,

PLANMING STATEMENT L
DECEMEER 2015
REF: 018

74

Page 81



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

40 NEED

4.1 It has already been demonstrated o the Council and the Coundil has accepled the economic
casa for speedway use af the Stadium, fo add to the appropriate mix of uses and evants at this
sporling venue, This resulted in a four year permission o allow the use and tast the impact,

4.2 s alse clear that the imposed planning conditions create the appropriate planning balance to
allew the economic use whilst protecting residential amenity through the conditions. This
economic need remaing as prevalest today as it did in 2012, The use has not atiracted adverse
reaciion from large numbers of the communily, There are significantly greater numbers in
suppart of thea use (see section 5 below).

4,3  The casa for the later Friday night finishing time has also already been demonsirated and
accepled by the Councl in the recant May 2015 permission (ses Table 1 above). This baing
that the later Friday night finish allows spectalors, compelitons and volunleers to reach the
stadium, It Is Important 1o nole thal condilion & of the permission restricls the number of races
par event 1o 17 rages per mealing, which generally confines speedway events 1o a twe hour
window,

4.4  The later Friday night finishing ima benefils the speedway use as follows:

* Il enables local spectators who commute to and from London by public ransport, o
arrive at the stadiom before the starl time.

. It ig & family orientated sport and it enables parents to get home and collect their children
hefore reaching the stadium whech is difficult 1o achieve, givan the start ime is during the
peak avening nesh hour,

. Race maetings are very rellant upon volunieer asasiance and adverse taffic conditions
can present difficulties. Race meatings cannol commence without an ambulance present.

L] Competitiors also encounter difficully parliculardy when travelling from far away, The
inability of the stadium to recruit skilled and experienced speadway riders to their team is
evidence of the present difficufies, Speedway is not comparable to a football team in
salari=zs and benefits, and most competitore have a day job.

g Patential to attract mone vigitars o aliract a higher league eam or premation of the local
toam, On average, approximately 550 people atlend the spesdway racing meelings,
heawervar, & minirmun of 750 visitors are required in order to be promated fram the botlom
league. The applicant has recently received an approach from a higher league team to
transfer to Cantral Park Stadium, which would be a ssgrificant eoup for Sittingbourme. A
latler finish on Friday |s therefore required to maximise the number of people able to
altend each event and =0 that the races can be broadoast on Sky TV, Sky TV also adds
financial banefits for the speedway team and stadivm sponsors, An Increase in the
number of people able fo attend the event (3 required 1o caver the higher rider costs,

- Financal viability, [n order Lo make the stadium an atlractive venoe and to ensure ils
future financial viability, it is necessary to facilitate and attract more spectators and to
ensure that spectators are not deterrsd by inconveniant cperating hours. Thers is glso an
aspiration to attract more prestigious and intermational events which would be unable to
taks place at the stadium given the existing operating restrctions, Riders for such evants
may fravel from all over Ewrope, Such events, If they were held, would enhance the
reputation and image of the stadium as they are of immensa interest and tend to atfrac
mary new supportars.

PLAMNMING STATEMENT 7

DECEMBER 2014

REF: {14

75

Page 82



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX Il

o] Commurity suppor 5 expected to be demonstrated from the speedway supporters,
which include local residents who live in the closest roads fo the Stadium at Hugh Price

Cloge and Oak Road, via further petitions and letiers of suppaort for the application as with
previous applicalions.

PLAMNING STATEMENT A
DECEMBER 2015
REF: 010

76

Page 83



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

3.0

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5T

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

PLANMING POLICES AND JUSTIFICATION

Tha kay planning issues identified for congideration of the permananl spesadway use wilh tha
agsaciated |aler Friday night finishing tme as already permitled inchide:

i Thi approprateness of parmanent speadway use al lhe Stadium,

i) The sstabdished principle of a lxler Friday night fnishng lime, and

I8} The impact on the living conditions of nearby resicants by vifue of rolse and
disturbance

i) The Appropriateness of Permanent Speadway Use

The principle of speedway usa at Central Park Stadium has aslready been accepted by the
Council as an appropriate economic use in this location on the cutskirts of Sillingboume's urban
boundary, in 2 primarily industrial location served by significant numbsars of HGV's. Tha four year
timw [imit imposed by the Planning Inspectorate on appeal has allowed for a period of speraton
and an assassment of impact. Il is the applicant’s view demonsiraled by evidance, that the use
nas proven o be an acceptable nesghbour, comtrolled by the impesition of planning conditions
imiting the season, the numbers of races par weak, per avant and by the kours of cparation.

The applicant has also made significant investment 1o enable speadway racing including track
facilities, safety measuras and an acoustlc fance, |f would be a significant waglad invesiment o
require speadway to cease and would not be & auslaingble economic outcoma,

The Swale Borough Local Plan (SELP) (February 2008), recognises the imporlance of
supporling and relaining businesses and enswring thal the needs of local businesses can be
miel to the fwll (section 3.2, para. 3.72). Cors Strategy Policy 3P3 {1) states that supparting lecal
companies lo grow and develop and providing opporlenities for new isncvative industries to
flourish can help 1o satlsfy ecomomss need and bring about the required step-change in
econcmml; perfarmance, parlicularly in ils principal lown centre, Sittingbourna,

SELP Cors Strategy Policy SPT states that to satisfy the social needs of he Borough's
communities, development proposals will promote ssfe environments and @ sense of
community by Sincressing socia! mefworks by providing new community sendces and faoifilies,

increased use of local facilifies or innovative ways of providing or conbinuing exisiing services"

SBLP Developmeant Control Policy C1 (2) states (hat the Council “will gran! planning pemmission
for new or improved communily senices and faclitfios, Adoiffonally, where proposals would
mrae! an identifed local nesd in an accessible focalfon, § will permil proposals thal will heip
maximise fhe use of existing public and private communily services and faciilies, beluding
thoze thal wold make them avallable for witer public vse In locations where shortfalls i local
pubiie proviston eould be mel”,

Through the Mationzl Planning Pollcy Framewaork (2012} (NPPF), the Govemnment & committed
o ensuring that the planning system proactvely suppons sustainable economic growth and
accounts for and reacts ko markel signats. To help achieve this, paragraph 20 siates that local

FLAMMING STATEMENT
DECEMBER 25
REF: Q18

77

Page 84

|
|



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

5.8

4.8

510

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

planning authorties should plan o meet the development needs of business and suppor an
ecanomy fit for the 21% Century, Fudhermore, the dosument recognises the imporiance of
supparting exsting busingss sactors whan they are expanding, and implemeanting planning to
allow rapid response to change in econoames circumstances.

Faragraph 70 of the NPFPF states that in order to deliver the soclal, recreational ang eultural
facilites and services the community needs, planning policies and declslons shaubd:

. ‘plan posthively for the provislon and use of shared space, communily faciiies (such sz
focal shops, mesling places, sporls venues, culiural buildings public howses and pisces
of worship) and ofher local servicas fo enhance fthe susisinabilily of commuries and
residental emvironarents;

. guand against the unnecessary loss of valved faciities and senices, paniouiady where
thiz wowld reduce the commmunity's ability fo meef ite day-fo-day nesds;

. enzure thal establizhed shops, facllitles and services are able fo develop and modemise
in a way that is suslainable, and refained for the benelll of the communily: and

. ensure an infegrated aoproach to cansidering e location of housing, scanomic uses and
community faciities and senvices”

It is therefore considered that the Councill's policies (SP3(1} and SPT and C1} supgort and
encouraga aconomic developmeant, tourism and sporting activities in appropriate locations and
in terms of speedway there can only be one approprate lacalion in Sittingbowme, which is the
Central Park Stadium, Parmanent use of the stadium for speedway is a highly sustainable use
of this impertant community facility and is appropriate and In accord with the Baraughs palicies.

il The Established Principle of Later Friday Might Finlshing Time

Tha Councll has aleady parmilled the lster Friday night finishing time for spaadway in May
2015, On the basws thal speedway = an approprizte use of the stadium and its lecation, the laer
fineshing time miust also suppart this economic activity,

All modermn businesses requine an elemant of flaxibilily in their operating hours, 8 fact that
becomas more pronounced for medivm sized enterprises, which are critical to the sustained
development of the UK economy. There is a need and communily support for the parmanent
use of tha Stadum for speedway, paricularly givan the reduced attraclion of Greyvhound racing
affecting Central Fark. The later Friday night finkshing Ume associated with this permanent uss,
allows spectators, compelifors and workers sufficient time to arrive before meetings commenca,
and to aftrect new visitors to the wermuwe. The success and necessary expansion of the
epeadway business depends on an increase In visitor numbers which would anabla it to move
out of tha speedway botiom league and 1o accommodals a higher league speedway team. This
would ensure the financial viakility of the business and would contributa to tha local sconomy of
Sittingbourne, It also complies with Core Strategy Policy SPT and Davelopment Control Policy
C1(2), which also seek to incraase the improve the use of communily facilifizs.

FLANMNIMNG STATEMENT
DECEMBER 25
REF: &

78

Page 85

0



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

512 In continuing to apply the varation of Condition 7 0 extend the operating hours of the speedway
race meetings on Friday, the proposal complies with both nallonal and local palicy and
contributes towards the strengthaning of the Borough's economic and employmeant provision,
particulary for this now well established sporia enterprise. The proposed wording to allow &
later finish time iz 1o atract a kegher league speedway team and ennasca he viabily of he
Stadium uses. As the proposed later finishing time is a Friday, Lhis would nat affect parents with
schaol childrar, aithar attending the frack or residents in the arsa. The peinciple of this kater
finish tirme has alroady been permilted and should therelore be approved again.

513 The principle of a fimeghing time of 2130 an Fridays only has already been established and is
antively reasenabla with the permanent use of the Sladiom for speedway, There would be no
demonstrable harm to residentlal amenity,

lii  Impact On Residential Amenity

8.14 Swale Borough Local Plan 2008 (SELF) Developmant Conirol Policy E1 sets out the general
development criteria by which the Borough Councll expects all developmenis proposals bo
comply with to protect residential amenity, Critarion 8, relevant io this application, states that
proposals should "cawse no demaonsirable frarm fo rezivenfia! amenily and other sensilive vses
or areas”.

5.15 Davslopmant Confrol Policy E2 states that ‘sl development proposals will minimise and
miligale poliution impacts and that proposals will nol be permifted thal would, indvidualy or
cumuialively, give dse lo policlion signifcantly adversely affecling the following: [intar alia)
residential amenity”

516 Para. 3.8 of tha SBLP etates that the Councll s=eks to “minimisse e impect of noise beiwsen
maw and existing wsss. The Councll requires adeguate details fo be submilled with planming
applications fo idenlify noise infrusive uses, moise sensifive aifes as wall as the measures
meeded o redece noise. By considering noiss exposure al the ime of the application, and any
increases that may bs reasonable expecied, & judgement wil then be made on the polential
roise Impact i accordance with Govemmen! Planaing Policy”.

517 Thei National Planning Policy Framework 2012 {MPPF) stalas the following noise requirements
associated with new and existing develooment;

Paragraph 1040 atates that the planning systern should contribute to and enhance the
natural and local environment by inter alia Spreventing both new and exisfing development
from confributing o ar being i &t unacceplable fak from, or being adversely affectsd by
unaccepiabla fevels of zail, air, water or nolse polution ar fand inslabilify”.

Paragraph 120 explains that "o prevent unscceptable rzks from polifion and fand
instabitily, planning policies and decisions showld ensure thal npew development iz
approprate far itz location. The effecls {including cumulalive effects) of poliufion on health,
the natural enviranmant or genersl amenity, and the pofsnlial sensiivity of e ares or
proposed development fo edverse affects from poliufion, showld be taken info acoount”

PLAMMING STATEMENT n
DECEMBER 215
REF {13

79

Page 86



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

5.18

518

5.20

i1

522

523

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

- Paragraph 123 stpulates that planning pofices and decsans sheuld aim o

. ‘avoid noise from giving rise to significent adverse impacts on health end gualily of
fife az a result of new devaelopment,

. mitigate and reduce o & minimum other adverse Impacts on heslth and quality of iife
arising from raise Fom new development, including dhrowgh the wse of condifions;

. recognise thal development wil oflen create some noise and exisling businesses
waniing to develep in confinuance af thelr businass showd ol have unrsasonabie
restriciions pul on them because of changes in neahy land wses since they were
exfabiizhed.,.”

The Hill Enginesring Consultantz Ltd nolse assessment {July 2013), demonstrates that the
acoustic barrier required fo support the speedway use B oparating affectively so as to
eafeguard the residents from the sdverse effect of nolse emlasions, It can be soundly concluded
that thera is no démonstrable ham fo residential ameanity associated with permanent use of the
Stadium for speedway.

The Council has already supported {permission 15/500862/FULL) 5 later Friday night finish time
far tha remaindes of the permitled use of the Stadium for speadway (Octobar 2016 spasdway
season). There are no malerial reasons to suggest that both a permanent wee of the Sladium
for speedway and a laler Friday night finish for a top league speedway team would matorially
harm adjacent residenis,

The applicant requested information from the Councll's Erwironmental Heakh Department
regarding the number of noise complainis made 1o the Council sinca the use of the Stadium for
speadway in 2012, This information is attached in Appendlx 1, Further questions wera posed 10
ascertain how many of the complainants were from the same houssholds, The response is also
altachied in Appendix 2.

The Infarmation confirms hal complaints received were from the same six residents in Hugh
Price Close and seven in Oak Road and ome in Meeres Court Lane. A total of 13 residents in
the closest residential streels 1o the sladium have raised noiss complainle, which is nol an
unremarkable facl, Thare are approximalely 125 houses i these three nearest sireets only
counting the properiles located in the first row of houses along thesa sireets and therefora the
complaints represent approximately 10 % of e immediale residents closest W the stadivm

It is also impartant o note that outside of these thres closest strests no other complaints have
baen recoivad, which confirms that the acoustic fance is effective,

The Stadivm operators have not received any complaints from the Council's emvirenmental
healih department about noise, there has bean no follow up and ne action taken in respect of
the Speedway uss.

FLANNING STATEMENT
DECEMBER 201E&
REF: 010

80

Page 87

iz

1



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX I
el
i

5.24 Speedway s iraditionally & working class spert and like many other sports not all peopla enjoy
&l forms of sports swch as football. Speedwsy howsver, must be allowed to ke placs
someawhere and Cantral Park Stadium is the mast appropriste location for this usa.

5.25 The poficy tests within local planning policies and national policy guidance slipulate that
planring decizlons should aim to avold noise from generaling a significant advarsa impact on
qually of life,

5.26 Condition ¥ was originally impossd {(and supported at appesl) to offer protection against an
unknown noise environment or petential impact, given the lack of supporting technical
information availabla o the Inspector at the time, The swpporting technical information is now
avallable and unequivocally demonatrates that there = no demonsirsble hamm to residential
ameanity and hat the existing condilions for speedway use represent a balanced consideration
ta protect regidential amenity whilst enabling an economic and appropriate uss of the Stadium.

FLAKKEG STATEMENT 13
DECEMBER 2015
REF: 018

81

Page 88



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

6.0

&1

g2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX Il

CONCLUSIONS

The use of Central Pafk Stadiurm as a permanenl speedway verue is an exisling and
appropriate use. Tha location |s ideal for a popular sporting evant thal attracts many visiors Lo
Sittingboume, It approprately adds to the other mix of uses permitied al the Stadsum incuding
football, grevhound racing and concers, Ta madmise the sconomic use af the stadium for
sporing uses, sccords with the principles of the Council's policies for economic 2nd viable
activity, in line with its objectives for boosting job creation and economse activity, Permanent
speadway use aof the Stedium will add 1o s economic viability particulady where grayhaund
racing is now daclining as a specialor sporl,

An exlension to the operating hours by one hour an Fridays up to 21,30, has already been
permitiad by the Coundcd in line with the Stadium’s cumrent use for speadway, This application
sueks for this condition to continue to apply to the permanent usa of the Stadium for speadway,
to enable Ceamsport lo attract a higher leagues team to Sitingbousne. & higher league
speadway leam has nol yet been persuaded to move to the Stadium given the cument expiry of
the speedway usa at the end of the 2016 season. The investment required could not be
cammitled far such a shorl melrame.

The evidence submitted with the applicaton demonsirates that neither a permanent spaedway
uze and continuation of the later finish time on a Friday, would gve rise to demenstrable or
substantial harm to nearby residents. This applicatian should bo considerad in light of the
potential benefis to be derived from approving this applcation, given that the use already exists
and is appropriately sited and that the existing planning conditions provide appropdate
ressdential amenily protection, Moise complainis recefved by the Council reprasent significantly
less than 10% of the local residents that live closs to the Stadivm,

Speedway racing is important fo the community of Sittingtowne which is demonstrated by the
significant lewals of support, There s however, no ofher speedway track in tha country that
operatas with such restricied hours and this significantly hampers lhe ability of Ceamsport Lid
to attract the Top League teams to compete from Central Park Siadivm. On the basis that
permanent use of the Stadium for speedway is permilled, the extension of the Friday night
speedway times is essential fo ancourage the viability of the Stadium as a mixed sporing and
culiral vanue, Any recuced hours of use imposed on @ Friday night would ba delrimental o the
viability of the use of the site.,

The approval of this applcation would help to offset the downtuim in reverue from grayhound
racing and would help to sacure the centinued use of the Stadium, There would be significant
benefils to tha kocal econcmy and to tha community within Sitingbourne, halping o promete
speadway racing al this location and to encourage young pacple to participate in the sporl.

Speedway race mestings will remain at the same length and would not generally exceed 2
hours. Given the short duration of the races, the noise impacts of the speedway, whilst baing
noticeable to adjacent residential properies, are predictable and wil not reach harmiul or

PLANHING STATEMENT
ECEMBER 2015
REF: 018

82

Page 89

14

P A



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

disruptive levels due fo existing mitigabon measures, The exsing planning conditions will

remain in place 1o ensure only one speedway race takes place per week between Moncays and
Fridays and only 17 races per event in accordance with the principles established to batancs

the economic needs of the Stadium for speedway vee and protection of residential amenity.

B.7 We therafore conclude thal the speedway use is an appropriale use in s location, iLis an
existing use and should continue on a pesmanert basis in compliance with local and national
plamnning policles. The existing condilions satistacionly project residentisl amenity and the later
Friclay night finish has already been permitted by the Council,

6.8 For all of the reasons set out above, (T |15 considered that the application proposals should be

permitted given the conformity with national and lacal planning policies,

Signed: ...
On behalf Powerhaus Consultancy

Date 237 Decomber 2075, i s

PLAMMING STATEMENT 15
DECEMBER 25
REF: 13

83

Page 90



Planning Committee Repor

APPENDIX 1: INFORMATION FROM SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL EHO

t— 28 April 2016

Speadww P-Iclu

Ty

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

Hugh Price 1:103&

?th ME;? 201 3

'Dalt El:.tad

b P e

| Speadway Moisa |

Spudwag.r__hlalss

2 Speetway Noise S 260 =

0840

HET

A0

14th May

Hugh F'ric:a Eluae

Speadway Moise

215t May

Hugh Prica Cloge

S Bpesdway Nelse 1

- 1430
151:!1:1

roee

Oak Road

4t June

' Hugh Prica cli:s_é"

Spudway‘ Noisa

USpeadway Noise 1

Maeras Court Lane

Speedway Noise

T Tharm WK T oaeduey Nolss 11

Hugh Price Cl-us&

Sﬂu&dway Moise

. -ﬁ.ééms Court Lan&

EARETAT 00

Epua-dway I-.IalBEl

11:20

; 2 1‘."1[1'!’. }wwﬂﬂha Iﬂfﬁ'&

Gk

DF{_}_\. T

.--.--

Sﬁeedway Molse

15:00

it Ea e

Hugh Price Close

s

_w.n.ru._\_;;.-g_n.-' Lt

Waffﬂma

:-7"1’

T D

Speedway Moise

12:458

| OaKRasd

Thiarm Walk

Hugh F‘rl:t C_lusu?.} -.I-=

E’paa-duvﬁy Moisa -

Speedway Melse

0. o L R L
T iaas -
‘\'-:\-__.1 5:4{} SO I.. - ‘,.‘:Ir'\.&.-""é:l_;r_-" .::.-.ﬁ.

T Epaadway Noke

Oak Road

Speedway MNoise

16:00

IOy T OakRoad .| SpesdwayNews L om0 TTTE
. | Hugh Price Close | SpeedwayNoise | 1515 .
LA Jul'_r Thom Walk | Gpesdway Nolsa. . 0800 L
L A7t Juy Oak Road | Gpesdway Noise | 09:40 o
Lt amil OakRoad . .|  SpeedwayMNoise 1 0946 | . "% |
i__EtE;’HE’__._ HughPrice Close |  SpesdwayMoise | 0820
[ 30thJuly | Dak Road Spesdway Noise . 16:10 5
13th August | Meeres Court Lane | Speedway Noise | 11:00 .
BraRT Qak Road SpeedwayNoiss ~ | 1520 | . .t
15th August | Oak Road Spesdway Noisa | 1240 I
T et 1 - __Huy'l F'r'iDuCIusa | 'Gpeedway Moise 15:55 "
| Oak Road Speedway Molse | 1540 -
{ " Hugh Frice Close . . Speecway Noisa " | . 16:05
Blythe Closs | Speadway Noise 10:10 "
. Hugn Price Close | | Speadway Najse . 1045 A
 DakRoed Smenwa;.' Noise 16:15 "
- DakRoad b ' D830, G
| Hugh Price Clese 16:40 "
| OskRomd [T Tepesday Noise L 1645

84

Page 91



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

Maema Court Lane

Epeedway Maizea

Sp&!dﬁ'ar Moige
*‘

[
i paammamr@*- '

C6thSept |

Eallshll!.r Cluas-

Epaa:rww Nﬂ:ﬂaa T

L RamhSepts

"'_-:EEEEEEL:;;'

_ Epudway N-cn“

. Speedway Noise |

R Oakread

‘r-‘:tﬁ’pbeﬂar'hhaa

Hr'1525%-‘“" T

Hugh F*m:a Dlmt

1z "

——————

J,E“Lﬁ“m

Epndway Hm

Hugh F"‘ﬂl::a Closs

- 24th .luml

17| Thleeres Cour Lana 12 Speainayiose /71 /11

Oak Road

T
L L,
PSR o e

Cak Road

Tiligh Price Cloas | Spasway No

Speedway Moise

©|.Hugh Price Closs

% Speedway Noiss | 094D T

Meeres Court Lana

Spesdway Moiza

- Oak Road

1177 Speedwiay Moise | -

EM&dwag.r_Hmn

Tw
T e
"

Cak Road

ey

fain “Spwedway | Moise

Speadway NcuElEr

18t July |

Hugh Frice Close

© . Bpesdway Moise

2nd July

Hugh Price Close

Speedway Molse

A9th Aug

“'I'u'l-ma Court Lane
; Hu.gh Price Close

Oak Rl:-ad

Spudwny Halsu

Spaadway Naise

Spggdwayhﬁma-a e s e

16th Sept

Maeres Court Lane

i

Osk Road

T B
CrEA

o

Speadway Moiss

= Sal A

Moise mmntﬂmg o
15th Septermnbar far
planning commities

Fema e

Spuﬂﬁar Mnusa '

. NotediNo action

11:10

Spee:lwa'_.r hll:uaa

09235 "

|24 Bapt

- Magres Court Lane

Speedway Nofse

e e S R

20ih Oot

Moeres Court Lane
L

P
14350 "

[z s
i

" Tth April 2015

AR S

Hugh Price Closa |

Spudway I'-Imsa

RS N Vo L e o

e L

Speadway Moisa

10:50 "

85

Page 92

————



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016

q'l'n 4.1.

il T

ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

g-_‘.‘z_..-.'['\,___.I._\_.‘,_.lzl.-_;'., },-_Ja,'_g

g

i

Hugh Prica Close |

.- Oak Rpad -

Sk July

Hugh Prica Chst

Ctath July

~ Hugh Price t:h:ls&

14th July

Oak Road

L 21sbuy 0

" OakRoad! |-

st Aug

Dak Road

Soeodway Noise

15:35

.

o Bth Bepl o

T Fidon Price Gigss 11

"Sp Hnﬁa

I‘1.'_ ) e oLy

—I‘-i.'-i- ey
e

B u‘n._. """a_.";.

11th Sapt

Maeras Cour Lans

Spﬂﬂdwﬂy HDI&-E

1-II.IEI-

STt Sspt

“ Ok Road ¢

" ‘Speedway Nolse

PR ST T PR
e R e

25th Sapt

Cak Road

Spesdway Molse

1&:10

86

Page 93



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.4

APPENDIX 1l

APPENDIX 2: EMAIL FROM SWALE BOROUGH COUNCIL EHO RECEIVED 5™
DECEMBER 20135

Froam: Stave Wilcock =Sleve, Wilcock Bimidkent go.uke

Date: 2 Decernbar 20115 at 14:43

Subject: RE: FW: Canfral Park Stadium - Speadway Noise Complainis = FO| NO: 536
Tee Mary Power <mpEpoverhauseeasullangy couk>

Ce: Sharon Dormedy <SharnnDormedy Sewale. cov. ke

Mary,
Thank you for your emall.

1 can tell you that all the complaints from Meeres Court Lane are from the sarme
hausehold.

There have been six houssholds complaining from Hugh Price Close and saven
households from Cak Road.

Hope this helps

Regards

Steve Wilcock

Envirenmental Protection Team Leader

Mid Kent Enviranmental Health

Maidstone Borough Council, Maidstane House, King Street, Maldstone MELS 633
Swale Borough Council, Swale House, East Streat, Sittingbourna, Kent MEL1D 3HT
LOL7eS 417137 L OL622 02184 w www maldstone gov.uk

l||'|!' Y EWQE g!]! !I::

87

Page 94



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

REPORT SUMMARY

REFERENCE NO - 15/510595/0UT

APPLICATION PROPOSAL

Outline application with all matters reserved (except for the details of a vehicular access point
from London Road, including the widening and realignment of the A2) for residential development
of up to 126 dwellings (including 30% Affordable), plus 60 units of Extra Care (Use Class C2), an
allocated 1/4 acre of serviced land for potential doctors surgery, planting and landscaping,
informal open space, children's play area, surface water attenuation, and associated ancillary
works (Resubmission of 15/500671/OUT).

ADDRESS Land Off London Road Newington Kent

RECOMMENDATION This application is the subject of an appeal against non-determination. As
such this application will not be determined by Swale Borough Council, however, the decision of
the committee will indicate to the Secretary of State the Council’s intended decision. (The
consultation period expires on 25" April therefore | will provide Members with an update at the
meeting). If the application had not been subject to an appeal and subject to additional
information in respect of brickearth, the recommendation would have been to grant permission
subject to a suitably worded Section 106 Agreement and appropriate planning conditions.

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

Whilst the proposal is contrary to the adopted and emerging Local Plans, the Council’s policies
regarding the provision of housing are considered out-of-date because the Council cannot
demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing land as set out in paragraph 49 of the NPPF. Therefore,
the application must be considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable
development as required by paragraph 14 of the NPPF, and whilst finely balanced, the benefits of
the proposal outweigh the costs to a degree that the proposal constitutes sustainable
development and in the absence of material considerations that indicate otherwise, planning
permission should be granted in my opinion.

REASON FOR REFERRAL TO COMMITTEE

The significant amount of objection including from residents, Parish Councils, Ward Member and
MP, and so that Planning Committee can determine this significant controversial application.

WARD Hartlip, Newington & | PARISH/TOWN COUNCIL | APPLICANT Mr  Gladman
Upchurch Newington Developments

DECISION DUE DATE PUBLICITY EXPIRY DATE OFFICER SITE VISIT DATE
8/4/16 25/4/16 28/1/16

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including appeals and relevant history on adjoining
sites):

App No Proposal Decision | Date

15/500671/0OUT Outline application for residential development | Appeal

of up to 330 dwellings plus 60 units of extra care | against
(including a minimum of 30% affordable), an | non-deter
allocated 1/4 acre of serviced land for potential | mination
doctors surgery, demolition of farm outbuilding, | with Public
planting and landscaping, informal open space, | Inquiry
children's play area, surface water attenuation, | scheduled
a vehicular access point from London Road and | for  June
associated ancillary works. (Access being | 2016.
sought)

88
Page 95




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

15/500694/LBC Listed Building Consent for the demolition of | Refused 8/5/15

redundant farm outbuildings to the listed Pond
Farm, in association with outline application for
residential development covered under
15/500671/0OUT

SW/95/0714 Conversion of agricultural buildings into 3 | Withdrawn

residential units

MAIN REPORT

BACKGROUND

An appeal against non-determination of the application has been lodged by the applicants. As
a result it is important for Members of the Committee to pass a resolution as to whether they
would have approved or refused the application if the application was within the jurisdiction of
the Council to determine.

1.0

1.01

1.02

1.03

1.04

1.05

DESCRIPTION OF SITE

The site consists of 8 hectares of gently undulating land currently used for agricultural
purposes in the form of fruit orchards. The eastern parcel of land is used for
blackcurrant production with the western used for apple production. There are no
buildings within the application site. The site is directly to the south of the A2 London
Road and to the south west of Newington, immediately adjoining the built up area
boundary.

To the east of the site are the residential dwellings fronting Playstool Close. To the
south are a playground, sports pitches, allotments and community woodland. To the
west is a further agricultural field and beyond this are an area of open land, Newington
Industrial Estate and a small collection of dwellings fronting the A2 London Road. To
the north of the site are the former outbuildings of Pond Farmhouse which have been
excluded from the application site. It had previously been considered that these
outbuildings were listed buildings by virtue of the fact they were within the curtilage of
the grade Il listed Pond Farmhouse which fronts the A2 London Road. Following legal
advice which included a thorough assessment of relevant case law, it is now
considered that the cluster of agricultural buildings to the north of the application site
are in fact not listed buildings. A vehicle access from the A2 London Road serves these
outbuildings.

A number of fruit farms and orchards dominate the landscape to the south of the site,
particularly beyond the cluster of community uses immediately to the south of the site.
There are further significant agricultural areas to the north of the railway. Immediately
to the north and east are residential areas and to the west there is an industrial estate.
This context is considered to reflect the edge of village location of the site.

A public right of way crosses the north west corner of the site, linking land to the west of
the site with London Road. The site consists of grades 1 and 2 agricultural land which
constitutes best and most versatile for planning purposes. There is a strong network of
mature field boundaries within and surrounding the site.

The site is located within the countryside and a strategic gap as defined by the
Proposals Map of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008. Under the emerging local plan

89
Page 96




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

2.0

2.01

2.02

2.03

3.0

‘Bearing Fruits 2031’, the site is located within the countryside and the cluster of
community uses to the south are designated as a proposed local green space.

PROPOSAL

This is an outline application with all matters reserved except for the main site access
from the A2 London Road. It is proposed to develop the site for up to 126 dwellings (30
dwellings per hectare on approximately four hectares of the site) including 30%
affordable dwellings (38 dwellings). An extra care facility of 60 units is proposed and
would fall within use class C2. ¥4 of an acre of serviced land would be provided so that
a doctors’ surgery could be built on the land at some point in the future (no building is
proposed under this application). Indicative planting and landscaping are shown on the
development framework plan (Revision 1), as are an informal open space, children’s
play area and surface water attenuation. The open space includes a community
orchard to the east of the dilapidated farm outbuilding with the children’s play area and
further open space to the west. The serviced land for a potential doctors’ surgery is
near the A2 with the extra care facility set further south. The indicative plan shows the
dwellings to the south of the open space around a circular main street. It is also
proposed to retain existing field boundaries and existing hedgerows as far as possible
and plant new ones around the periphery of the site. Indicative footpaths are shown
around the periphery of the site with a further footpath running up the centre of the site.
Footpath links to the wider area are proposed near the community woodland and
Orchard Drive to provide permeability.

A vehicular access point from London Road to the site is proposed in detail and would
entail the widening and realignment of the A2 London Road to the south. The footway
to the northern side of the A2 between 60 to 74 London Road would be widened to aid
pedestrian movement. The widening of the A2 would allow the inclusion of a right turn
lane for the east bound traffic. A new footway would be provided to the south side of
the A2 roughly between 52 and 72 London Road with a puffin crossing (traffic signal
controlled pedestrian crossing) to the front of 52 and pedestrian refuge to the front of
70. Two bus stops with shelters would be provided on the A2 heading in both
directions, the first to the front of No. 74 and the second on the opposite side from No.
60. The public right of way would be upgraded to 2m wide with a tarmac surface and
would cross the proposed vehicle access via a raised table. The existing hedge
fronting the A2 would be removed almost in its entirety to allow the access works and
appropriate visibility splays proposed.

The design and access statement sets out that the buildings within the site would not
exceed 2.5 storeys reaching a maximum of 10.5m in height, with the vast majority of
buildings being no more than 2 storeys in height, between 7.5 to 8.5m. It is anticipated
that the extra care facility would be no more than 2.5 storeys in height.

SUMMARY INFORMATION

Existing Proposed Change (+/-)

Site Area (ha) 8 hectares | 8 hectares 0

(approximately
20 acres)

Approximate Ridge Height (m) 0 Max 10.5m and | + 10.5m and

7.5/8.5m 7.5/8.5m

No. of Storeys

2/2.5 +2-2.5

0
No. of Residential Units 0 126 and 60 +186

90
Page 97



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

| No. of Affordable Units [0 | 38 | +38 |

4.0

4.01

5.0

5.01

5.02

5.03

5.04

5.05

5.06

PLANNING CONSTRAINTS

The site is within the setting of the grade Il listed Pond Farmhouse. The site has
archaeological potential, consists of best and most versatile agricultural land, and is in
a mineral safeguarding area for brick earth. Newington High Street is subject to a
designated Air Quality Management Area. There is a public right of way in the north
west corner of the site.

POLICY AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice
Guidance (NPPG) are both pertinent to this case.

The NPPF sets out the Government’s position on the planning system explaining that
“The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of
sustainable development. The policies in paragraphs 18 to 219 of the NPPF, taken
as a whole, constitute the Government’s view of what sustainable development in
England means in practice for the planning system. At the heart of the National
Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development,
which should seen as a golden thread running through both plan-making and
decision taking. For decision taking this mean:

e Approving development proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay; and

¢ Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out of
date granting permission unless:

e Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework
taken as a whole; or

e Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.”

It further outlines a set of core land use planning principles (para 17) which should
underpin both plan-making and decision taking including to contribute to conserving
and enhancing the natural environment and reducing pollution. It further states — at
bullet point (5) ‘take account of the different roles and character of different areas,
promoting the vitality of our main urban areas, protecting the Green Belts around them,
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting
thriving rural communities within it’.

At paragraph 18 it explains “The Government is committed to securing economic
growth in order to create jobs and prosperity, building on the country’s inherent
strengths, and to meeting the twin challenges of global competition and of a low
carbon future.”

Paragraph 34 deals with sustainable travel modes and suggests developments
generating significant vehicle movements should be located where the need to travel
will be minimised.

At Paragraph 47 it states that “planning authorities should meet local housing needs
and identify five year housing land supply with an additional 5% buffer”. Paragraph 49
states “that housing application should be considered in the context of the presumption
in favour of sustainable development” and that “Relevant policies for the

supply of housing should not be considered up to date if the local planning authority

91
Page 98



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

5.07

5.08

5.09

5.10

5.11

5.12

5.13

514

5.15

cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites.”

Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states “Permission should be refused for development of
poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character
and quality of an area and the way it functions.”

Paragraphs 47-55 seek to significantly boost the supply of housing. NPPF paragraph
49 confirms that the lack of a 5-year land supply triggers the presumption in favour of
sustainable development as set out by NPPF para. 14. It is necessary to determine
what the relevant policies for the supply of housing are in order to identify which are
out of date. What constitutes a policy for the supply of housing has been the subject
of legal judgement, which can be interpreted as either policies that have specific and
direct impacts on housing supply or more indirect, but significant impacts on supply.
Regardless of the approach taken, decision makers can and do take into account
whether certain aspects of policies accord with the NPPF. Importantly, the decision
maker must apply themselves properly to para. 49.

Paragraph 109 deals with the conservation and enhancement of the ‘natural and
local environment’, and is discussed in the ‘appraisal’ section below.

Paragraph 112 goes on to say “Local planning authorities should take into account
the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land.
Where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary,
local planning authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in
preference to that of a higher quality.”

Paragraph 113 explains “Local planning authorities should set criteria based policies
against which proposals for any development on or affecting protected wildlife or
geodiversity sites or landscape areas will be judged. Distinctions should be made
between the hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites, so that
protection is commensurate with their status and gives appropriate weight to their
importance and the contribution that they make to wider ecological networks.”

When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Significance can be
harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require
clear and convincing justification (paragraph 132).

Paragraph 135 advises that the effect of an application on the significance of a
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the
application. In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

Paragraph 142: “Minerals are essential to support sustainable economic growth and
our quality of life. It is therefore important that there is a sufficient supply of material to
provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs.
However, since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where
they are found, it is important to make best use of them to secure their long-term
conservation”.

In preparing Local Plans, local planning authorities should:..... define Minerals
Safeguarding Areas and adopt appropriate policies in order that known locations of
92

Page 99



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

5.16

5.17

5.18

5.19

specific minerals resources of local and national importance are not needlessly
sterilised by non-mineral development, whilst not creating a presumption that
resources defined will be worked; and define Minerals Consultation Areas based on
these Minerals Safeguarding Areas; set out policies to encourage the prior extraction
of minerals, where practicable and environmentally feasible, if it is necessary for
non-mineral development to take place (Paragraph 143).

And at paragraph 144 it stresses that Local Authorities should “not normally permit
other development proposals in mineral safeguarding areas where they might
constrain potential future use for these purposes”.

The adopted 2008 Swale Borough Local Plan, however, remains the primary
consideration for determining this application. This will be discussed in further detalil
later in this section.

The key policies from the adopted Local Plan are:

SP1 (Sustainable Development)

SP2 (Environment)

SP3 (Economy)

SP4 (Housing)

SP5 (Rural Communities)

SP6 (Transport and Utilities)

SP7 (Community Services and Facilities)

TG1 (Thames Gateway Area)

SH1 (Settlement Hierarchy)

E1 (General Development Criteria)

E6 (Countryside)

E7 (Strategic Gap)

E9 (Protecting the Character and Quality of the Borough’s Landscape)

E10 (Trees and Hedges)

E11 (Protecting and enhancing the Borough'’s Biodiversity and Geological Interests)
E12 (Sites designated for their importance to biodiversity or geological conservation)
E14 (Development Involving Listed Buildings)

E16 (Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Sites)

E19 (Good Quality Design)

H2 (Providing for New Housing)

H3 (Providing Affordable Housing)

RC1 (Helping to Revitalise the Rural Economy)

T1 (Providing Safe Access to New Development)

T2 (Essential Improvements to the Highway Network)

T3 (Vehicle Parking for New Development)

T4 (Cyclists and Pedestrians)

C2 (Housing Developments and the Provision of Community Services and Facilities)
C3 (Open Space within Residential Development)

Relevant policies of the emerging Local Plan are;

ST1 (Delivering Sustainable Development in Swale)

ST2 (Development targets for jobs and homes 2011-2031)
ST3 (Swale Settlement Strategy)

ST5 (Sittingbourne Area Strategy)

CP1 (Building a Strong Competitive Economy)

CP2 (Promoting Sustainable Transport)

CP3 (Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes)

CP4 (Requiring Good Design)

CP5 (Health and Wellbeing)

93
Page 100



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

5.20

521

6.0

6.01

CP6 (Community facilities and services to meet local needs)
CP7 (Conserving & Enhancing the Natural Environment — Providing for Green
Infrastructure)

CP8 (Conserving and enhancing the historic environment)
DM3 (The rural economy)

DM6 (Managing transport demand and impact)

DM7 (Vehicle Parking)

DM8 (Affordable Housing)

DM14 (General development criteria)

DM17 (Open space, sports and recreation provision)

DM19 (Sustainable design and construction)

DM21 (Water, flooding and drainage)

DM24 (Conserving and Enhancing Valued Landscapes)
DM28 (Biodiversity and Geological Conservation)

DM29 (Woodlands, trees and hedges)

DM31 (Agricultural Land)

DM32 (Development involving listed buildings)

DM34 (Scheduled Monuments and archaeological sites)

The emerging Minerals and Waste Local Plan for Kent, which is being completed
through the statutory process at present, is also relevant as the site contains areas
suitable for brick earth extraction.

Swale Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal 2011 — The site is included
within the Newington Fruit Belt, where the predominant landscape form consists of a
number of orchards and fruit farms with a mature field boundary network. The
Newington Fruit Belt has a strong landscape structure formed by the network of
mature hedgerows and shelter belts that surround orchards. The area is characterised
by narrow winding lanes enclosed by hedgerows, linear villages with scattered
farmsteads and cottages. The area needs sensitive management and protection,
though the SPD states that its sensitivity is ‘low’ and its condition ‘moderate’.

LOCAL REPRESENTATIONS

122 letters of objection have been received from residents, some of which are from the
same address, which are summarised as follows;

¢ London Road pedestrian crossing will cause queuing traffic within the AQMA
which would harm air quality and human health.

e The A2 cannot cope with existing traffic levels. The proposal will make this
worse. Temporary traffic lights already cause delays. Proposal will exacerbate
existing parking problems. Parked cars make it harder to drive down already
narrow lanes including Church Lane. Bull Lane will become a rat run. Traffic
noise, vibration, loss of privacy, odours, fumes and pollution will increase.
Harm to pedestrian safety. Train station car park very congested. Inadequate
road links. Negative impact on highway safety and convenience.

e The existing general infrastructure cannot cope with the existing population.
Hospitals (Medway Hospital is in special measures), police, ambulance and fire
service are overstretched. There is no local police station, dentist, doctor or
health centre in the village. The play group, local school and nursey has no
room for the amount of extra pupils that would be generated. Pressure on
recreational facilities.

e The site is not allocated for housing in emerging or local plans.

e A significant amount of best and most versatile agricultural land would be lost
which is needed for food production.

94
Page 101



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Loss of wildlife including bats, habitat including trees, hedges and orchards.
The proposal would increase the size of Newington by approx. 20% and
increase the population significantly.

There are no plans to improve transport infrastructure. Trains are
overcrowded/downgraded, and bus service is very limited.

Would change the character of a low density quiet village to that of a town.
Proposals of this sort should be on the outskirts of towns or cities not small
villages.

Previous applications have been refused because there is no bypass.

Safety is a concern when walking near groups of youths. There is concern
about existing increases in crime. There are many elderly people in Newington
and the influx of people won’t help them feel safer.

Newington cannot offer employment opportunities for new residents.

Would rather have a green field to look at than a housing estate.

Impact on social cohesion of Newington.

Merging of settlements into ribbon development would be exacerbated by the
proposal.

The reduction in the size of the proposal compared to the previous application
does not address any of previous objections.

There are alternative brownfield sites available.

The land for a doctors surgery is a red herring because the days of single GPs
surgeries are coming to an end because of reductions in the Minimum Practice
Income Guarantee and the aim/Government Policy for large GP practices
offering a range of services.

Public transport is insufficient to allow residents of extra care facility to access
medical care, putting health at risk.

The access road onto London Road (A2) would cause noise and disturbance to
existing houses opposite the junction.

Proposal is for wealth creation for applicant.

People enjoy walking on the application site.

Lack of water, drainage, accessibility, electrical services, parking for shopping,
turning points for delivery vehicles, police presence and public transport.
Council Tax will increase to fund the shortfalls in service provision created by
the development.

Cumulative impact with other applications in the area.

Overshadowing, overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook and loss of privacy to
neighbours. Loss of property value. Hours of operation. Headlights will shine
into houses opposite proposed junction.

Contributions should be sought towards a Newington bypass.

The proposed junction with the A2 should be a roundabout.

Will set a precedence eventually leading to settlement coalescence akin to
Medway Towns.

Pre-application advice lacks public consultation.

Previous appeal decisions and planning inquiry reports- previous similar
applications on orchards rejected.

Impact on listed building and conservation area.

Layout and density of building design, visual appearance and finishing
materials. Area at risk of subsidence with several sink holes appearing over the
last year.

Who will compensate residents for negative impacts?

This application should be refused as per the previous application. If approved
the applicant will apply for the additional properties.

There are not enough shops in the village.

95
Page 102



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

6.02

6.03

¢ Newington should expand in a manner to unite the school and church to the
rest of the village, and not away from the core. Expansion would ensure
retention of the train station and local amenities.

e There are two other developments in the area. We should not be forced to
accept a third.

o Affordable housing would have to be incredibly cheap because there are few

local jobs.

We chose to live in the countryside, not a town.

Lack of sewerage capacity.

Harm to the public footpaths on the site.

Houses would be ugly and not in keeping with the village.

Object to commercial doctor’s surgery due to parking/traffic problems and on a

greenfield site. Lack of information re doctors surgery and would need detailed

application.

o Wickham Close should have had a doctors surgery but the developer did not

deliver.

Loss of local employment at the farm land to be developed.

Newington is not in need of housing.

Ancient hedgerows will be destroyed.

Are there plans for an archaeological survey?

Gordon Henderson MP objects to the application for the following summarised
reasons;

e Site not included in Adopted or Emerging Local Plans.

e Significant pressure on already stretched local services such as health and
education.

o Adverse impact on air quality through Newington.

e Disruption of flow of traffic along the A2, and would exacerbate already
intolerable effect on the A2 of closures, of Detling Hill, the M2 or M20 for
Operation Stack. The effect would be worsened still should the Lower Thames
Crossing traffic be routed along the M2 and A249 as proposed.

e Pedestrians will have to cross the A2 thereby disrupting the traffic flow and
causing traffic to queue to the detriment of air quality.

e Sterilisation of brickearth mineral deposits.

Ward Councillor John Wright commented twice as follows;

“This application is not sustainable proposing to add a very large number of properties
to a small village, putting pressure on already minimal services that would require out
commuting through AQM's in Rainham in one direction or through AQM in Newington
in the other. This proposed estate would not integrate well with the village meaning the
new population would have to cross the A2 to the church /village hall / primary school /
etc. If the permission was granted access to a known safeguarded brickearth reserve
could be sterilised at paradise farm as the new and existing properties would be within
100metres of the proposed development. This site does not feature in the local plan or
emerging local plan or very low in list of sites when compared for sustainability, etc. |
would wish to reserve my right to comment further or appear at appeal to point out the
practical constraints.”

“This proposal may sterilise a brickearth reserve by placing highway infrastructure or
houses within the exclusion zone of a haul road. The cumulative effect of this
development increases the pollution within the Newington High Street. The current
AQMA figures do not quantify the cumulative effect of development already granted

96
Page 103



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

6.04

6.05

such as the working mens club and other increases in traffic from Medway and
Sittingbourne developments .there are no mitigation measures or plans put in place to
protect public health in the high street when pollutant levels go over the safe levels
especially with the increased use of the zebra crossing and stationary vehicles. This is
not the best site and performs badly within the local assessment and is not sustainable
with all people moving here travelling away to work not in Newington.

Train services have already been reduced to Newington station.

Bus services are also not good.

Loss of most versatile agricultural land.

Would wish to speak at any planning committee or inquiry.”

Newington Parish Council objects for the following summarised reasons;

Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land.

There are alternative ‘brownfield’ sites available in the Borough.

The site is outside both the current and the emerging Local Plans.

Pond Farm has never been considered suitable for development. The proposal

is contrary to policies E1 and H2. Under the terms of the NPPF site is not

sustainable and the application is contrary to the Development Plan.

e Application destroys the setting of listed buildings.

e Children could not walk from the development to the schools/bus stops in the
area safely.

¢ Increased car traffic on to a B quality London Road which struggles and fails to
meet it's A designation. Newington was designated by KCC as a priority for a
by-pass but this was dropped 20 years ago due to costs at a time of budget
cuts.

e The A2 has long traffic queues, two miles west at Rainham and two miles east
at the Key Street A249 junction, each morning and evening. The designation of
the A249 as part of ‘operation stack’ will result in greater gridlock whenever the
scheme is in operation.

¢ Newington village is 400 yards to the east, well-known as the narrowest part of
the whole A2, where it is not possible for lorries to pass at the same time as
vehicles from the opposite direction (a frequent problem due to a large cold
store two miles to the west). Traffic collisions as this point have necessitated
the replacement of the pedestrian-safety railings on three occasions in the past
year.

¢ Newington centre is an AQMA where levels of NO2 pollutant consistently
exceed EEC safety limits. The factors the applicant describes as causing this
(canyon effect and congestion) are constant factors due to narrowness of the
road and proximity of unbroken buildings; the Pond Farm development could
only increase congestion and so cause greater harmful air pollution to
pedestrians and village-centre residents.

e The Air Quality Assessment submitted by Gladman Developments Limited is
dated October 2014, using 2013 data; presumably this was commissioned for
their previous planning application.

e Local infrastructure cannot support a development of this scale. Newington
Primary School is close to capacity, local bus and rail services are poor and
Medway Hospital is in special measures. Whilst we note that the outline plans
include land allocated for a doctor’s surgery, this is for future provision by a
third party and not part of the building proposed by Gladman.

e Newington Parish Council formally request that, should officers recommend
the acceptance of this application, it should be called-in for full discussion and a
decision by Swale Borough Council Planning Committee.

Hartlip Parish Council objects for the following summarised reasons;

97
Page 104



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Site falls outside adopted and emerging local plans and is a premature
application. The site has never been considered a suitable site for housing
development, is contrary to Policy H2 and is outside the built up area boundary.
The site has been looked at by the LDF Committee and judged unsuitable in
the emerging Local Plan.

Not sustainable development as defined by the NPPF.

Local schools are full and Medway Hospital is in special measures. There are
waiting lists at the nearest doctors and dentists surgeries (none in Newington).
The proposal would swamp local services.

Contrary to Policy E1 of adopted local plan as it would harm residential amenity
and fail to protect and enhance the natural and built environments; detrimental
to visual amenity.

Would exacerbate existing traffic, congestion and air quality problems.
Residents of the proposal would have to use their car to get anywhere. Bus and
train services are very poor.

Lack of employment opportunities within Newington or nearby, and none are
likely to arise.

Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land.

There is an appeal for 250 houses on land north of Moor Street, Rainham, and
a further application for 200 houses in Otterham Quay Lane, Rainham. Both
site are less than 2 miles away. These three applications by the same applicant
are for about 650 houses to be built in an area where traffic is already at a
standstill for much of the day.

There is an application for brickearth extraction only a few hundred yards from
the site which is on hold which, if granted, would bring dozens of extra lorry
movements a day along the same stretch of road.

This agricultural land generates creates employment and local fruit. Loss of
business to the farmer on the site.

The listed farm buildings must be preserved.

6.06 Upchurch Parish Council objects for the following summarised reasons;

The impact on the local infrastructure and services. The developers cannot
possibly guarantee any increase in services offered by other organisations
such as the NHS.

Air pollution levels will increase in Newington Village Centre which currently
regularly exceed EEC safety limits.

Proposal would exacerbate existing traffic problems and tailbacks throughout
the village, hampered further by the narrow A2 in Newington where two large
vehicles cannot pass each other.

The site is outside both the current and emerging local plan and would
obliterate working agricultural land.

With regards to Newington the draft local plan states: Despite its role and level
of services, development opportunities are very limited due to the valued and
important heritage, landscapes and habitats to the north of the village, poor
pedestrian connections between north and south of the village, a restricted
internal road network, poor air quality and surrounding high quality agricultural
land. The local school and Doctors surgery could not facilitate the families from
a development of this size and the local hospital remains in special measures.

7.0 CONSULTATIONS

7.01 The Council’s Strategic Housing and Health Manager confirm the requirement
for 30% affordable housing. This does not include the extra care element because this
falls within C2 use class not C3. Of the 30%, 70% of this should be affordable rent

98
Page 105



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.02

7.03

7.04

tenure and the remaining 30% should be shared ownership tenure. Despite the
affordable housing statement, without a full accommodation schedule it is not possible
to confirm whether the spread of affordable units is acceptable and proportionate to the
open market housing. Concern is raised with regard to securing the affordable housing
via condition rather than as part of the S106 agreement as suggested by the applicant.
It was confirmed that there is a requirement for affordable housing in the Newington
and Sittingbourne areas for all types and sizes of accommodation. In line with the
Swale SPD on developer contributions it is expected that the units to be offered be
evenly distributed across the site and in appropriately sized clusters (the stated
intention to form clusters of between 6 and 10 units) is acceptable. Fully adapted
affordable wheelchair homes would be sought, the number of which would be agreed
with the preferred registered provider. Evidence to support the requirement of an extra
care scheme should be sought.

The Council’s Environmental Protection Manager comments;

“Air Quality

Further to my memo dated 26th January, | have now been made aware of an
updated AQ assessment, dated January 2016. This is an updated assessment and
whilst the core part of it is the same, there is recognition of the importance of mitigation
measures, as | suggested in my previous memo. The measures suggested in
paragraph 8.2.13 on pages 41, and concluded on 44 in 9.2.8 (which are discussed at
paragraph 9.20 below) are acceptable and should make a difference to reducing
numbers of vehicle movements and hence a contribution to existing air pollution levels.

I remain concerned about cumulative impacts of several developments on air quality,
not just at Pond Farm affecting Newington, but elsewhere in the Borough. However, |
am comforted by the leeway that exists between actual Nitrogen Dioxide continuous
monitoring results at Newington and the exceedance value, and the effect of Pond
Farm and other recent proposals in and around Newington.

| accept the report and its conclusions and remove my objections from an air quality
standpoint.

Similarly, | have no noise objections provided the mitigation measures suggested in
the report are carried out as described. As before, | do not see a contaminated land
assessment included with the documentation — this will be necessary for complete
reassurance about this site and any potentially previous contaminative uses and
practices.” A contaminated land assessment condition is recommended accordingly.

The Council’s Greenspaces Manager welcomes the amount of green space
proposed and questions the need for such a large landscaped area between the
proposal and the listed building to the north when there is the chance to increase the
size of the recreation ground to the south. The same applies to the proposed play area.
If the applicant is to provide and manage the proposed greenspace and play area
themselves the Council only requires details of the play equipment. If the Council is to
adopt and subsequently maintain the greenspace and play area, a contribution of £861
per dwelling is required. There would need to be details of facilities such as litter and
dog bins. If the land is to be transferred to the Council a 10 year commuted sum
maintenance contribution is required. The scheme has now been amended so that
less than 200 dwellings are proposed therefore no sports pitch contribution is required.

The Council’s Climate Change Officer has highlighted some inconsistencies and
lack of detail regarding sustainability measures proposed.

99
Page 106



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.05

7.06

7.07

The Council’s Landscape and Visual Impact Consultant comments;

“The landscape condition/quality of the site and the surrounding countryside is
considered to be good. The site is not within any national or local landscape
designations, and there are some urban influences. However it is considered to derive
some landscape value from its attractive orchard farmland and the immediate context
of a listed building and a community woodland.

The proposed development would represent a substantial, approximately 20%
increase in the existing built up area of the village of Newington, and the scale of the
proposals are not considered to be appropriate to the established landscape character
of the area, or to take appropriate account of the existing townscape of the village.

From a review of the development proposals there are considered to be some serious
concerns about whether the proposed western boundary would represent a logical,
defensible, long term boundary for the village and there are a number of other
uncertainties relating to the height of the proposed development, setbacks and the
landscape strategy in the absence of clear parameters being set.

It is further considered that the proposed development would be likely to give rise to a
number of significant, localised adverse landscape and visual amenity effects ie result
in harm to the site and its immediate contest and to users of some of the local
PROWSs. This harm would be likely to arise from the proposed access, from the loss of
characteristic orchard farmland to residential development and from the implicit extent,
scale and height of the development.

Overall it is considered that the development would be in conflict with relevant National
Planning Framework policies in respect of landscape and design, in particular
paragraph 17 bullet point 5 (set out in full at paragraph 5.03 above), paragraph 64,
together with local plan policies E7 and E9, and the adopted Supplementary Document
Swale Borough Council Landscape Character and Biodiversity Appraisal Guidelines.

Taking account of the above conclusions, it is considered there would be a strong
justification for Swale Borough Council to refuse the planning application on landscape
and visual grounds.”

The Council’s Rural Planning Consultant sets out the scale of development, and
notes that the site now consists of 8.2 hectares and is a mix of grade 1 and grade 2 (the
larger proportion) land, which is best and most versatile for planning purposes, and
states;

“To summarise, the NPPF states that necessary development that impacts on
agricultural land should take place on poorer land in preference to land of higher
quality. Firstly, therefore, it must be decided whether this development is "necessary";
that would be a Planning matter outside my own advisory remit. If "necessary", the
next stage is to decide whether sufficient arguments have been presented for
overriding the NPPF guidance, such that, in this case, poorer land should not be
sought in preference to this higher quality land. Again, balancing those arguments
would be a Planning decision, outside my remit.”

KCC Ecology advises that bat activity surveys have been carried out and detail that
bats are foraging in low numbers within the site along the hedgerows. The ecological
survey details that the majority of the hedgerows are to be retained and therefore
retaining the connectivity for foraging/commuting bats within the proposal. Lighting can
be detrimental to bats and so should be designed with the input of an ecologist and it is
advised in accordance with the Bat Conservation Trust’'s Bats and Lighting in the UK

100
Page 107



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.08

7.09

guidance. Bat emergence surveys were carried out on the agricultural buildings north
of the application site which are not being demolished as part of this proposal. There is
a contradiction in the report because it states that a common pipistrelle appeared to
emerge from the building but goes on to state that a roost had not been identified as a
statutory constraint to the proposal. KCC Ecology advises additional information in not
required because the buildings are not being demolished, open space will be created
adjacent to the buildings, and existing hedgerows will be retained within the
development.

The site is within 3km of the Medway Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area
and Ramsar site and 7km of the Swale Special Protection Area and Ramsar site.
Mitigation measures will be required to prevent an adverse effect on the integrity of
these sites. The amount of greenspace proposed is not sufficient to rule out any likely
significant effects on the designated site therefore contributions are required towards a
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Plan (SAMMP). Ecological
enhancements should also be conditioned if the application is approved.

Natural England notes the site is 2.7km south of the Medway Estuary and Marshes
Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and therefore has the potential to
affect their interest features. These sites are also a SSSI. European sites are afforded
protection under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, as
amended (the ‘Habitats Regulations’). Regard should be had to the potential impacts
on these European sites. The Conservation objectives for each European site explain
how the site should be restored and/or maintained and may be helpful in assessing
what, if any, potential impacts a plan or project may have.

The consultation documents do not include information to demonstrate the
requirements of Regulations 61 and 62 of the Habitats Regulations have been
considered by your authority, i.e. the consultation does not include a Habitats
Regulations Assessment (HRA). In advising your authority on the requirements
relating to the HRA, and to assist you in screening for the likelihood of significant
effects, based upon the information provided, Natural England offers the following
advice:

The proposal is not necessary for the management of the European sites.

Subject to appropriate financial contributions being made to strategic mitigation, ie the
Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
(SAMM) Strategy in accordance with the recommendations of the North Kent
Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG), and that the strategic mitigation is in place
before the dwellings are occupied, the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect
on these sites, and can therefore be screened out from any requirement for further
assessment.

This should also include proportionate contributions made for the proposed care home
accommodation, if they include permanent staff accommodation and/ or the residents
are likely to have some ability to recreate on the SPA.

The applicant has agreed to pay the full SAMM tariff (of £223 per dwelling) therefore
the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect on the designated sites, and can be
screened out from any requirement for further assessment.

It is advised that the SSSI does not represent a constraint to the proposal.

KCC Highways and Transportation confirms the revised junction layout has
addressed previous concerns, as the footway on the northern side of the A2 has now
been widened as requested, and the pedestrian crossing facilities proposed have been

101
Page 108



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.10

7.11

upgraded from a simple refuge island to a traffic signal controlled crossing. This is a
more appropriate arrangement of crossing at this location, given the volume of traffic
on the A2 and the level of pedestrian activity anticipated. The type of junction to serve
this development, a ghost island junction with right turn filter lane, is appropriate.
Should the development obtain planning approval, | would request that the provision of
these off-site works are secured by condition, to be completed prior to the occupation
of any residential element on the site. The applicant should be made aware that a
Section 278 Agreement will be required between them and Kent County Council
Highways & Transportation to carry out these works, and this will require a separate
technical submission and approval process at that time for the detailed design.

The traffic modelling undertaken for the Key Street/A249 junction shows a need for
contributions towards an improvement scheme at this roundabout, as was the
approach taken for the recent Spirit of Sittingbourne town centre regeneration scheme
(see 14/505440/FULL). On that basis, Highways England have requested that
£88,935 be sought through a Section 106 Agreement to secure that amount, and |
agree that this should be obtained in accordance with their wishes. Lastly, and as
highlighted in my previous response, | had asked that the applicant consider providing
contributions towards bus services, as this would assist with the goals of the Travel
Plan. Details are still being explored in this respect, to see whether it would be possible
to enhance services or even assist with the retention of existing provision, and this may
be a matter that could take some time to report back. However, at this stage | would
suggest that specific details can be negotiated as part of the drafting of the S106
Agreement, and an agreeable conclusion to those discussions reached.
Consequently, | have no objections to the proposals in respect of highway matters
subject to conditions.”

Highways England raises no objection and its comments are summarised below;

Its key interest is the impact on A249 trunk Road.

Application indicates the development will generate 55 trips in the AM peak and 60 in
the PM peak that will access the A249 Key Street Junction which will operate over
capacity in the peak hours in 2025. As a result of the trips generated, the performance
of the A249 Key Street Junction will be adversely affected.

Mitigation at A249 Key Street Junction will be necessary.

Whilst we have some concerns about the modelling approach undertaken in which
revised entry widths, flare lengths and half widths have been utilised to better
represent existing queue lengths without provision of the supporting evidence to verify
this, the Transport Assessment states a willingness to make contributions towards
junction improvement.

The Spirit of Sittingbourne development is to provide a contribution of £50,000 towards
improvements at A249 Key Street Junction, the Transport Assessment related to the
development highlights an impact of 59 trips within the AM and PM peak. The
contribution per trip can be calculated as £50,000 / 59 = £847. Applying the above
value to this application would result in a contribution of £88,935. (£847 x 105 trips )
Highways England has no objection to this subject to a financial contribution of
£88,935 to provide appropriate mitigation at A249 Key Street.

KCC Developer Contributions has requested the following;

Per Applicable | Per applicable | Total Project
House (x 126) flat

Primary £2360.96 £590.24 £297,480.96 Towards Regis

Education

Manor Phase 2
expansion

102
Page 109




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Secondary £2359.80 £589.95 £297,334.80 gpwargs
. |tt|ng ourne
Education Academy Phase 2
expansion
Per Dwelling Total Project
Community £60.43 £7614.18 Towasrds nsw equip;\n(fr:t
. at |tt|ng ourne ult
Leammg Education Centre

Youth Service £37.58 £4735.08 Towards new equipment

atNew House  Youth
Centre, Sittingbourne

Libraries £227.00 £28,602.00 Towards fitting out costs

of new Library in
Sittingbourne  Hub and
bookstock  for  mobile
library service attending at
Newington

Social Care £63.33 £7979.58 Towards Changing Place

Facility in Sittingbourne
Hub

1 Wheelchair Adaptable Home
as part of the on site affordable homes delivery

Broadband Before development commences details shall be submitted (or
Condition as part of reserved matters) for the installation of fixed

telecommunication infrastructure and High Speed Fibre Optic
(minimal internal speed of 100mb) connections to multi point
destinations and all buildings including residential, commercial
and community. This shall provide sufficient capacity, including
duct sizing to cater for all future phases of the development with
sufficient flexibility to meet the needs of existing and future
residents. The infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with
the approved details and at the same time as other services
during the construction process.

INFORMATIVE — The BT GPON system is currently being rolled
out in Kent by BDUK. This is a laid fibre optical network offering
a single optical fibre to multi point destinations i.e. fibre direct to
premises.

Highways Kent Highway Services will respond separately

7.12

KCC Waste and Minerals considers the submitted minerals assessment inadequate
as there is no trial trench data to corroborate just two 1950’s dated bore hole logs that
are not detailed as to where they are located within the planning application area. This
does not result in an accurate or reliable data base on which to assess the volume of
minerals. The 100m buffer zone is an arbitrary self-imposed limitation that may well be
unnecessary without further justification. Economic minerals should be extracted prior
to development to avoid sterilization, unless there are compelling grounds that they
should be exempt from the safeguarding presumption that is in accordance with the
conservation of minerals provisions of the NPPF. The information submitted makes it
difficult to determine whether the minerals threatened with sterilization are of economic
importance or not. It is considered by the County Council that this is a serious
deficiency of the assessment. The applicant has submitted a thorough rebuttal of the
comments of KCC, which in turn was rebutted by KCC. They argue that the applicant /
appellant should provide more information in order to demonstrate that practicability
and / or viability reasons prevent the extraction of the brickearth.

103
Page 110




Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.13

7.14

7.15

7.16

7.17

7.18

KCC Public Rights of Way Officer considers the proposed junction of public footpath
ZR60 with the proposed main street is acceptable and would reiterate the need for a
suitably safe crossing point over the A2. There would be no intention of adopting any of
the proposed walking routes to the south of the proposed development. The express
consent of the highway authority is required to disturb the surface of the right of way or
erect anything on or across it. No planting should take place within 1m of the right of
way. Six weeks’ notice is required if the applicant needs to apply for a temporary traffic
regulation order whilst works are undertaken.

Swale Footpaths Group states; “...the footpath clipping the N.W. corner of site
seems to be unaffected. There is a recently created public footpath just outside the
S.E. corner: please check. Although not strictly a p.r.o.w. issue crossing the A2 is
already difficult at this point. A "pedestrian refuge" would be useful, but what about a
light controlled crossing too?”

KCC Archaeology notes the rich archaeological potential of the site. It wishes

to see evaluation of the site prior to development and should the Roman road lie
within the northern part of the site then provision should be allowed to secure its
preservation and recognise its alignment/presence as a historic feature in the
development layout. It is important therefore that the archaeological evaluation
takes place in advance of a decision on a full application that includes development
layout. An archaeological field evaluation condition is recommended with
preservation in situ of any important remains.

KCC SUDS Team acknowledge that a SUDS scheme is technically achievable on the
site subject to relevant conditions listed below. It has requested an indicative
masterplan with the drainage features shown.

The Environment Agency states “We have assessed this application as having a low
environmental risk. We therefore have no comments to make.”

Southern Water advises; the exact position of foul sewers on site must be determined
before the layout is finalised; no development or tree planting within 3m of foul sewer;
no soakaway, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining or
conveyancing features within 5m of a public sewer; existing infrastructure to be
protected during construction. Due to changes in legislation, sewers now deemed to
be public could be crossing the property so if one is found during construction it should
be assessed. The applicant is advised to contact Southern Water for discussions.
Initial investigations show southern water cannot accommodate the needs of this
application without the development providing additional local infrastructure. The
proposal would increase flows into the wastewater sewerage system and as a result
increase the risk of flooding in and around the area contrary to Para 109 (bullet point 4)
of the NPPF. Section 98 of the Water Industry Act 1991 provides a legal mechanism
through which the appropriate infrastructure can be requested by the developer to
accommodate the proposal.

A prior to commencement foul and surface water condition with implementation
timetable is requested. An informative directing the developer to enter into a formal
agreement for sewerage infrastructure is advised. Advice regarding the design of an
on site pumping station is provided. There are no surface water sewers in the area to
serve the development so alternatives, not involving disposal to a public sewer, should
be sought. If SUDS are to be used they should be appropriately designed and a
perpetual maintenance programme secured. There is inadequate capacity to provide a
water supply to the proposal. Additional off-site mains, or improvements to existing

104
Page 111



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.19

7.20

7.21

7.22

7.23

7.24

mains will be required to provide sufficient capacity to serve the development. A
condition requiring details of water infrastructure prior to commencement of
development is requested.

| sought clarification from Southern Water regarding the content of the utility law
document submitted as part of the application. In response it clarified that if the
developer intends to use their statutory rights to connect to the public sewer, the
capacity upgrades of the system may not necessarily keep pace with the intended
development timescales because of regulatory investment system used. Therefore,
the previously suggested conditions are required.

Southern Gas Networks provides general guidance in relation to construction near its
apparatus. It neither objects to nor supports the application.

UK Power Networks raises no objection to the proposal.

The Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board confirms the site is outside of the IDB’s
district and provided that off-site surface water runoff is not increased the proposed
development is unlikely to affect the Board’s interests. The SUDS should be designed
to accommodate runoff from the 1 in 100 year storm event (+30% to allow for the
predicted effects of Climate Change). Any permission should be conditioned to this
effect, and for details of drainage to be designed and agreed in direct consultation with
KCC’s drainage and flood risk team. This should include the details of future
maintenance of the drainage system.

Medway Council raises objections due to the impact on secondary schools in
Medway which can be overcome through financial contributions towards the
expansion of secondary schools; and the Rainham AQMA which can be overcome by
the provision of an up to date Air Quality Assessment and provision of appropriate
mitigation measures. Medway Council subsequently provided a details contribution
request for school contributions demonstrating CIL regulation compliance. | have
asked Medway Council and KCC for a combined response to ensure the applicant is
not charged twice for secondary school provision. The applicant has provided an Air
Quality Assessment for the Rainham AQMA and | am currently awaiting Medway
Council’'s comments on it with the hope that its objection in this regard will be removed.

The NHS Swale and NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical
Commissioning Groups considers the proposal does not warrant a new GP facility
but as existing GP practices in the area are at capacity a S106 contribution of
£164,160 is required towards expansion of existing practices. No project was identified
nor whether 5 or more contributions had been sought for a single project so | have
requested these details from the Clinical Commissioning Groups.

The Campaign to Protect Rural England Kent Branch has submitted a 14 page
objection recommending refusal which is summarised as follows;

Application inconsistent with plan-led approach the NPPF advocates. Site has not
been considered at any stage of the emerging local plan.

Only the applicant considers this a sustainable site. The emerging local plan
description of Newington is quoted as evidence of the villages unsuitability for
development of this sort.

Saved Local Plan policies are up to date and consistent with NPPF.

105
Page 112



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

7.25

8.0

8.01

The site is not deliverable for housing because it is not suitably located for
development as confirmed by the SHLAA. The SHLAA shows the site is not required to
achieve the increased housing target required by the Inspector in her Interim Findings.
The lack of a 5 year supply of housing land does not mean automatic approval given
our view that the adverse impacts outweigh the benefits.

The proposal pre-empts and undermines the emerging local plan, and it is considered
that there are grounds for refusing permission based on prematurity (NPPG quoted).
Proposal would undermine Council efforts to secure town-centre regeneration and
brownfield redevelopment first, as per adopted and emerging local plan.

The benefits of addressing housing land shortfall should be weighed against the
advanced stage of the local plan.

Loss of countryside and impact on landscape character. Proposal contrary to adopted
and emerging local plan policies as it is located within the countryside, as supported by
NPPF core principles regarding the countryside.

Encroachment in a countryside gap. The site is not in a gap in the emerging local plan
but Policy DM25 of the emerging local plan should apply anyway because of the stated
desire to prevent settlement coalescence.

Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land should be robustly justified. NPPF
steers development away from such land and to lower quality land and is echoed in
policies ST1 and DM31 of the emerging local plan.

The proposal is not sustainable development therefore the presumption in favour in
para 14 NPPF does not apply.

The results of the submitted air quality assessment are dubious. Our analysis of their
results shows that the verification procedure, when conducted on a sounder statistical
basis, indicates little or no relationship between the modelled and therefore forecast
pollution levels and actually recorded ones (technical appendix provided).

There is no submitted Habitat Regulations Assessment. An appropriate contribution
towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring programme for the Special
Protection Area to the north should be agreed with Natural England before the Council
can conclude ‘no likely significant effect’ on the SPA.

Kent Police note reference to crime prevention in the design and access statement.
Whilst the submission is largely indicative, there has been no communication with the
applicant. It is recommended that if approved a condition securing measures to
minimise the risk of crime is attached, or alternatively a letter or informative.

BACKGROUND PAPERS AND PLANS

The applicant has provided,;

Application form

Location plan, as amended

Development framework plan, as amended
Planning Statement and draft heads of terms
Design and Access Statement

Arboricultural Assessment

Heritage statement

Addendum heritage note

Archaeology desk based assessment
Energy Statement

Socio-Economic Sustainability Statement
Affordable Housing Statement

An assessment of current and future sustainability
Noise and vibration assessment

106
Page 113



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.0

9.01

9.02

9.03

Travel plan

Transport assessment as amended

Air quality assessment for Newington and Rainham
Soils and agricultural land use and quality

Foul drainage analysis

Utilities appraisal

Flood risk assessment

Ecological appraisal

Landscape and visual appraisal

Mineral safeguarding report

Statistics demonstrating the requirement for extra care housing
Statement of community involvement

APPRAISAL
Principle of Development

It is considered that it would not be appropriate to pursue a reason for refusal based on
prematurity because the proposals seem neither of a scale or location likely to
prejudice the emerging plan-making process. The proposal is contrary to policies E6
and E7 of the adopted Local Plan because it entails primarily residential development
in the countryside that would erode the strategic gap. Similarly, the site is outside the
built up area boundary set out by policy ST3 of the emerging Local Plan and is
therefore contrary to it (noting there is no strategic gap applied to this site under the
emerging Local Plan). The level of objection relating to the fact this site is not allocated
for such purposes under either the adopted or emerging local plans is noted. However,
it is important to draw a distinction between sites allocated for such development under
adopted and emerging local plans, a process which allows the very best of the
available sites to be so allocated, and the possibility that, at the point a planning
application such as this is determined, if the Council cannot demonstrate a five year
supply of housing land as required by paragraph 49 of the NPPF the Council’s policies
regarding housing are considered out of date and therefore the application should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development set
out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF.

Based on the Objectively Assessed Need of 776 dwellings per annum now established
under the emerging local plan examination process, the Council’s housing land supply
is 3.8 years. This is because the Council is yet to make the allocations sufficient to
achieve the full 5 years required by the NPPF. The prospect of the Council having a 5
year supply is at best approximately a year away (when the new Local Plan is adopted)
at the time of writing. Therefore, both adopted and emerging local plan polices
regarding housing are out of date, paragraphs 49 and in turn 14 of the NPPF apply,
and there is no timely prospect of the Council achieving a 5 year supply through the
emerging local plan process such that the Council could reasonably resist this
proposal because of a short term prospect of achieving a 5 year supply.

Within this context it would be extremely difficult to argue that the principle of
development is unacceptable and the lack of a 5 year supply should weigh in favour of
the development in my opinion. The positive provision the proposal would make to
housing land within the Borough should be afforded significant weight because of the
contribution this would make to the social strand of sustainable development.

Visual and Landscape Impact

107
Page 114



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.04

9.05

9.06

9.07

The applicant’s landscape and visual appraisal considers that the impact of the
proposal will be acceptable. The Council’s landscape and visual impact consultant’s
comments in relation to this assessment are provided above (at paragraph 7.05) and
consider the impact in this regard unacceptable. In my opinion, the site is well
contained within its immediate context because the site is reasonably flat as opposed
to being on an exposed hillside for example. The existing dwellings to the east provide
strong containment for the site and it will be possible to secure a sufficient separation
distance at reserved matters stage from these dwellings to prevent visual harm arising
for residents. The site is very well contained in views from the south, particularly by
the mature community woodland and the hedgerows within the southern boundary of
the site which are indicated to be retained. The western boundary hedge would be
retained as far as possible which would provide containment for the site when viewed
from the west and the public right of way. Immediate views from the north would, over
time, become relatively well contained given the applicants stated intention of
replacing the mature hedgerow fronting the A2, as necessitated by the required
highway works, with a similar hedge set to the south of the realigned/widened A2 and
the required visibility splays for the new vehicle access. The significant public open
space to the north of the site surrounding the Pond Farmhouse outbuildings, along with
the community orchard would again soften the visual and landscape impacts of the
proposal.

The broad development scale parameters provided in the design and access
statement indicate that the vast majority of the dwellings on the site are likely to be
between 7.5/8.5m tall which is fairly standard. However, the potential for some of the
buildings to be up to 10.5m in height and 2.5 storeys would not have an unacceptable
impact in my opinion. The most significant visual and landscape impact would arise
from the extra care facility given the potential for this to be a significant block of
building, in the form of a 2.5 storey building up to 10.5m tall. The dwellings and extra
care facility would be visible within the surrounding wider landscape, perhaps most
significantly from the public right of way to the north of the railway line to the north of
the application site, the public right of way to the west of the site and the public right of
way to the south of the site that provides access to the cluster of community uses. |
have walked the length of the public right of way to the north of the railway line (which
is elevated relative to the application site) and | do not consider that there would be any
significant landscape or visual harm arising from the proposal and the potential scale
of development sufficient to warrant refusal of permission in my opinion. By retaining or
replanting hedges and field boundaries the proposal complies with the Landscape
Character and Biodiversity Appraisal 2011 guidelines.

In coming to this conclusion it is important to draw a distinction between this and the
earlier scheme. In my view it is possible to conclude that the previous scheme was
harmful in this regard and the current scheme is not because of the very significant
difference in the scale of the proposals with 204 fewer dwellings now proposed and a
significant reduction in the size of the application site with the western field now
excluded. The lack of identifiable visual and landscape harm is a positive factor that
weighs in favour of the application because of the contribution this makes to the
environmental strand of sustainable development.

Residential Amenity

The main impact in this regard would be to residents of dwellings along Playstool Road
which back onto the application site, and the limited number of dwellings along London
Road which do the same. As previously stated, the site is sufficiently large to secure at
reserved matters stage an appropriate separation distances between existing and

108
Page 115



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.08

9.09

9.10

proposed dwellings to prevent harm to residential amenity via overshowing,
overbearing, overlooking, loss of light etc. Dwellings along Orchard Drive benefit from
the enhanced separation distance provided by the green wedge indicatively running
along the southern edge of the application site to the extent that the impact would be
minimal and acceptable. The dwellings fronting London Road would benefit from the
significant depth of the public open space and community orchard such that the impact
on residential amenity would be minimal and acceptable. The dwellings on the
northern side of London Road would not be harmed by the development including the
proposed works to the London Road. The proposed vehicle access would not cause
undue noise and disturbance to residents of these dwellings, nor would the pedestrian
crossings and bus stops, over and above the level of disturbance currently
experienced along this part of the A2. There are no dwellings immediately to the west
of the main body of the application site to effect. Subject to standard conditions to
control the hours of construction, construction vehicle parking etc the impact on
residential amenity would be acceptable in my opinion. The lack of identifiable harm to
residential amenity is a positive factor that weighs in favour of the application because
of the contribution this makes to the environmental strand of sustainable development.

Highways

Highways England raises no objection to the impact on the strategic highway network
including the A249 and M2, and KCC Highways and Transportation raises no objection
to the impact on the local highway network including the A2 and Newington High Street
pinch point which has raised considerable concern in the representations received.
Within the area immediately surrounding the site, the vehicle access point is
acceptably designed and the widened and new pedestrian footways to the north and
south of the A2 are appropriate. The pedestrian crossing facilities proposed have been
upgraded from a simple refuge island to a traffic signal controlled crossing which is
appropriate given the busy nature of the A2 and would help to secure pedestrian
safety. The widening and realignment of the A2, along with the new junction design is
appropriate. The traffic modelling submitted is deemed acceptable by both Kent
Highways and Highways England in relation to the Key Street/A249 junction. It is
appropriate for the development to contribute towards an improvement scheme at this
roundabout, as was the approach taken for the recent Spirit of Sittingbourne town
centre regeneration scheme that gained approval last year. On that basis, Highways
England has requested that £88,935 be sought through a Section 106 Agreement to
secure that amount, an amount Kent Highways also agrees to. Contributions towards
enhanced bus services and retaining existing services to assist the goals of the travel
plan are still being explored and will take some time to conclude therefore it is
appropriate to deal with this during the negotiation of the S106 agreement.

The impacts of the construction phase are considered acceptable as are the longer
term traffic levels generated by the development. It is possible to consider the highway
impacts of the proposal acceptable, in contrast to the original application, because of
the reduced size of the proposal with commensurate highway impacts, the improved
transport modelling information provided, and the ability to secure contributions
towards highway improvements.

The submitted travel plan states a series of underlying objectives and specific
outcomes which include traffic reduction, achieving the minimum number of car traffic
movements to and from the development, supporting walking, cycling and public
transport, and reducing the need to travel to and from the site. To assist walking the
applicant proposes to;
¢ Install a footway to the south side of London Road, widen the footway to the
north side and provide pedestrian crossings.

109
Page 116



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.11

e The applicant will fund tactile paving at the existing Wykham Close junction via
S106.

e The applicant will fund 10 additional lighting columns along Church Lane via
S106 which will need to be discussed with Newington Parish Council as it
controls the lighting in this area.

e The applicant will fund carriageway narrowing on Church Lane at its junction
with High Oak Hill to assist pedestrian crossing movement and to help control
vehicle speeds. The above 4 bullet points will encourage walking to school
from the development and into Newington village centre.

e Travel plan coordinator (TPC) to hold promotional events and distribute
literature to encourage walking, and prepare and arrange for distribution of
maps showing safe local walking routes as part of the Residential Travel
Induction Pack.

e TPC to establish cycling action plan that could include promotion of national
bike week; buddy scheme for those not confident about cycling; promotional
events and literature about cycling and health benefits to be arranged by TPC.

o The Residential Travel Induction Pack will encourage public transport. Two
new bus stops and shelters with low floor kerb access to be provided on
London Road, plus the two aforementioned pedestrian crossings to aid access
to bus services.

e The applicant will fund 3 additional cycle stands at Newington Rail Station via
S106 contributions.

e TPC to identify car share scheme to promote to residents.

e Each dwelling will have 32amp single phase electrical supply to allow for the
future inclusion of an individual electric car charging point for each property.

These measures will be secured, if considered appropriate by KCC Highways and
Transportation, by a mixture of the S106 agreement and conditions as required. The
lack of identifiable highways harm is a positive factor that weighs in favour of the
application because of the contribution this makes to the environmental strand of
sustainable development.

Affordable Housing

9.12

30% Affordable housing has been offered by the applicant which equates to 38
affordable dwellings on site. The affordable housing statement gives an indicative mix
as a starting point for negotiations. The extra care facility does not require affordable
housing to be provided because it has been demonstrated that it falls within use class
C2. The indicative mix provides the 70%/30% tenure split required by the Council’s
SPD on developer contributions. The affordable dwellings would be evenly spread
across the site in small clusters of 6-10 units with external appearances similar to the
private dwellings. The submitted statement suggests affordable housing is secured by
condition rather than S106 which is not the Council’s policy. However, the offer
accords with adopted and emerging local plan policy and is acceptable in my view. The
social benefits of this element of the proposal are significant and should be afforded
significant weight in the decision making process because of their contribution towards
the social strand of sustainable development. The precise mix would have been
subject to detailed negotiations had the Council been determining the application. This
mix will need to include fully adapted wheelchair homes in accordance with Council
policy and KCC has also requested one wheelchair adapted dwelling.

Need for Extra Care

110
Page 117



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.13

The applicant has provided data to demonstrate that within Swale there is a significant
existing shortage of extra care accommodation and that this is predicted to grow by
25% by 2020 and 79% by 2030. Given the widely known aging population in the
country and the Swale specific data provided by the applicant, and no evidence to the
contrary, | consider there to be a compelling need for the extra care facility. The social
benefits of this are significant because it has the potential to allow older local people to
stay in the area they know. This could potentially result in dwellings that have single
occupants or low levels of occupancy being vacated and sold on for more efficient
family occupation which represents the rationalisation of housing stock. The social
benefits of this element of the proposal are significant and should be afforded
significant weight in the planning balance. The economic benefits include the short
term construction employment and the longer term employment within the facility
which should be afforded significant weight in my view.

Serviced Land for Potential Doctors’ Surgery

9.14

The applicant has included serviced land for a potential future doctors’ surgery. The
response from the NHS Swale and NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical
Commissioning Groups makes clear that a development of this size would not
generate a need for a new GP surgery and instead seeks a contribution towards
expansion of existing GP surgeries in the area which it states are at capacity. The
views of the NHS diminish the weight to be afforded to this element of the proposal in
terms of its social benefits and it is clear that the offer of the land does not actually
provide a solution to the problem of a lack of GP capacity in the area by providing a
building but it does provide the potential that it may one day be addressed. The
serviced land could potentially one day be used to provide a GP surgery if further
development within Newington comes forward to generate the demand. This element
of the proposal certainly attracts some small weight in the decision making process
because of the positive contribution it makes to the social strand of sustainable
development.

Heritage

9.15

9.16

As detailed above, the former farm outbuildings of Pond Farmhouse are not listed
buildings as previously thought. However, Pond Farmhouse, to the north, is grade Il
listed, now considered to be a historic operational/working link between the two sets of
buildings and a clear visual link/connection that still exists between them and which
plays an important role in providing a beneficial and appropriately contextual setting for
the grade Il listed building. The outbuildings are considered to be non-designated
heritage assets and para 135 of the NPPF applies in this regard. | have sought to
clarify the applicant intentions for these outbuildings be clarified but such information
has not been provided. In my opinion whilst this information has not been provided it
does not and should not prevent the determination of this application. The buildings in
guestion do not fall within the application site and there is no harm done to them by the
proposal, subject to the considerations below and to the imposition of a condition
requiring that a management plan for the farm buildings be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The indicative framework plan shows an open space separating the proposed
dwellings from the listed building and the former farm outbuildings which is considered
would be sufficient to prevent harm to the setting of the listed building and the
non-designated heritage asset former farm outbuildings. Furthermore, a tree belt is
suggested along the northern boundary of the dwellings to soften views around the
listed building which can be secured under the landscaping reserved matter. |
consider that the statutory test in section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and

111
Page 118



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Conservation Areas) Act 1990, and the associated policies of the NPPF and adopted
and emerging local plans are passed. It is possible to draw such a different conclusion
compared to the previous application because the outbuildings are now considered not
to be listed buildings and the intervening green space between the buildings and grade
Il listed building would now be sufficient to prevent harm to its setting. The impact on
designated and non-designated heritage assets would therefore be acceptable in my
opinion. The lack of harm to heritage interests would be positive in terms of the
environmental strand of sustainable development that should be afforded weight in the
decision making process.

Ecology

9.17

9.18

The submitted ecological appraisal assesses the application site for protected species
and the wider impact on surrounding designated nature conservation sites. As set out
at paragraph 7.09, KCC Ecology do not raise objection to the findings of the survey
and suggests that lighting be designed to protect bats. A contradiction within the report
is highlighted but no additional information is required on the basis that the former farm
buildings are not proposed to be demolished, open space will be created adjacent to
the former farm buildings, and hedgerows would be retained. The submitted ecological
appraisal agrees to provide a contribution per household towards the Strategic Access
Management and Monitoring Strategy on the SPA and enhancement of local green
infrastructure. Furthermore, the applicant has expressly agreed to pay the full SAMM
tariff for each dwelling and a proportion tariff for the extra care facility. This would deal
with the issue of increased recreational pressure on the SPA highlighted by Natural
England and KCC Ecology. The proposed mitigation would not be in place before
occupation of the proposal as requested by Natural England but it is unrealistic to
expect this. Natural England considers the proposal can be screened out of the need
for further assessment because it is unlikely to have significant effects on the sites.
Natural England does not consider the SSSI to represent a constraint in determining
this application. Subject to a condition requiring ecological enhancements within the
development, and in light of the comments of both consultees, the on-site and off-site
ecological impacts of the proposal are acceptable in my opinion. A habitat regulations
screening assessment has been carried out — and is appended - and concludes that
the proposal is unlikely to have significant effects which means the application benefits
from the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out on paragraph 14 of
the NPPF and its associated footnotes.

The most significant trees on the site, namely those directly to the south of the former
farm outbuildings, can be retained within the development. The remaining trees
around the periphery of the site may also be retained within the final development, as
would the field boundary hedges as far as possible. The loss of the hedgerow fronting
London Road is regrettable but necessary to achieve appropriate highway
improvements and would be replaced with a hedge to the south. This is acceptable
from an arboricultural perspective in my opinion. The provision of 2.95ha of open
space/ green infrastructure is considered to be a positive associated with the
development that would benefit residents of the proposal and existing local residents
that could also use this area. The lack of ecological and arboricultural harm, and the
amount of proposed open space represent environmental positives that weigh in
favour of the proposal.

Sustainable Drainage (SUDS)

9.19

KCC Sustainable Drainage Team considers that a SUDS scheme is technically
achievable on site given the underlying ground conditions and requested additional
detail of where appropriately sized drainage features might be incorporated within the

112
Page 119



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

development that ensures sufficient capacity is included for the proposed number of
units. | would ordinarily have sought delegation to resolve this matter but in this
instance | do not believe the lack of agreed SUDS is a reason for refusal as it appears
to be technically achievable. This is an environmental positive that weighs in favour of
the proposal.

Air quality, and noise and vibration

9.20

9.21

9.22

9.23

As set out at paragraph 7.02 above, the Council’s Environmental Protection Manager
raises no objection to the impact of the development on the AQMA in Newington. The
level of third party objection in this regard is noted, but | am not in a position to dispute
his findings given his expertise in the area, nor do | have any reason to doubt his
conclusion that the impact is acceptable subject to the mitigation measures detailed in
the submitted air quality assessment. The mitigation offered includes; contributions to
highway improvements in order to reduce local traffic congestion; support for and
promotion of car clubs; contributions to low emission vehicle refuelling infrastructure;
provision of incentives for the uptake of low emission vehicles; financial support to low
emission public transport options; and improvements to cycling and walking
infrastructure. The applicant has offered each of these measures as part of the travel
plan with the exception of incentives for the uptake of low emissions vehicles which is
not considered necessary. KCC Highways and Transportation has indicated that it
asked the applicant to explore providing contributions towards bus services to meets
the goals of the travel plan and that this is still being explored and could take some time
to report back on but that this specific detail can be negotiated as part of the S106. The
travel plan objectives and air quality mitigation measures are broadly identical and
would have been secured through the S106 therefore no condition is required.

The applicant has provided an air quality assessment for the Rainham AQMA within
Medway. Whilst | am still currently awaiting the removal of Medway Council’s objection
on air quality grounds, it is anticipated that this is possible given that the applicant has
stated they are willing to mitigate any identifiable harm caused.

The applicants noise and vibration assessment highlights that noise mitigation
measures may be required for the proposal, and that no vibration mitigation is
required. The development framework plan has been amended since this report was
produced but the Council’'s Environmental Health Manager has clarified that no
vibration issues are considered to arise, nor are any measures required for the
potential doctors surgery at this stage because this can be dealt with under
subsequent application when the design is clarified, and there would not be any
dwellings close enough to London Road under the revised development framework
plan to warrant noise mitigation measures.

For these reasons, air quality, noise and vibration issues are considered acceptable in
my opinion. The lack of harm in this regard is positive and contributes towards the
environmental strand of sustainable development which weighs in favour of the
proposal.

Loss of agricultural land

9.24

The proposed site comprises best and most versatile agricultural land (BMV = Grades
1, 2 and 3a), which would be permanently lost. Para. 112 of the NPPF — which is set
out in full at paragraph 5.10 above - expects Councils to take into account economic
and other benefits of BMV land and if the significant development of agricultural land is
necessary, they should seek to use areas of poorer quality land. Emerging Local Plan
policy DM31 also looks for the loss of BMV land to be avoided if possible.

113
Page 120



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.25

9.26

9.27

9.28

Agricultural land of this scale and quality derives a number of economic and other
benefits: food security and self-sufficiency; food quality; the economy; the environment
and climate change; and the countryside. Economically, the value of agriculture is
potentially very significant in the Swale economy and BMV is its most precious
resource.

It is though accepted that it has already been necessary to release significant levels of
agricultural land to meet development needs in the Borough and that this will
potentially be the case for additional housing sites being sought to meet the Council’s
objectively assessed need under the emerging local plan.

However, although the use of agricultural land may be inevitable, it is not necessarily
the case that the loss of BMV land at this scale is inevitable in cases where there is a
shortfall in the land supply. It is important to point out that para 112 of the NPPF does
not rule out the principle of development on BMV land. The recent Court of Appeal
Decision in Suffolk Coastal District Council and Richborough Estates Partnerships LLP
[2016] EWCA Civ 168 is a critical consideration in this regard because it provides
clarity on the meaning and effect of para 49 of the NPPF regarding the definition of
relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up to date if the
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing
sites. The Courts decision states;

“33. Our interpretation of the policy does not confine the concept of “policies for the
supply of housing” merely to policies in the development plan that provide positively for
the delivery of new housing in terms of numbers and distribution or the allocation of
sites. It recognizes that the concept extends to plan policies whose effect is to
influence the supply of housing land by restricting the locations where new housing
may be developed — including, for example, policies for the Green Belt, policies for the
general protection of the countryside, policies for conserving the landscape of Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks, policies for the conservation of wildlife
or cultural heritage, and various policies whose purpose is to protect the local
environment in one way or another by preventing or limiting development. It reflects
the reality that policies may serve to form the supply of housing land either by creating
it or by constraining it— that policies of both kinds make the supply what it is.”

In my opinion, this Decision means that the Council’s emerging local plan policy DM31
would be considered out of date because it seeks to influence the supply of housing
land by restricting the locations where new housing may be developed, to areas of low
guality agricultural land. When reverting back to para 112 of the NPPF, the economic
and other benefits of the land have been taken into account, but the loss of such a
large area of BMV agricultural land certainly represents an environmental negative that
is a cost of the development that weighs against it.

Minerals Sterilisation

9.29

The site is located within the Swale Borough Mineral Safeguarding Area map for
brickearth, as defined by policy CSM5 of the emerging Minerals and Waste local plan
for Kent. The submitted application seeks to demonstrate that the brickearth on site is
not of economic value and that the extraction would not be viable or practicable in
accordance with policy DM7 of the Minerals and Waste Local Plan. The applicant
considers the deposits across the site to be thin and that a significant proportion of the
site is indirectly sterilised by the surrounding residential area. Consequently, the
brickearth deposits on the site are not considered to be of sufficient size to be viable
nor do they have the ability to be made viable, in the applicant’s opinion. They also

114
Page 121



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.30

9.31

Public

9.32

consider that alternatively, it is possible they may have been removed under a
pre-existing planning permission. KCC Minerals objects to the applicant’s assertions
and this has led to various responses from both the applicant and KCC Minerals with
no conclusion reached.

The foreword to policy DM7 states that when proposals for non-minerals development
within a mineral safeguarding area come forward, the need for such development will
be weighed against the need to avoid sterilisation of the underlying minerals and the
objectives and policies of the development plans as a whole will need to be considered
when determining proposals. Policy DM7 itself states that permission will only be
granted for non-mineral development that is incompatible with minerals safeguarding
where it is demonstrated that, amongst others, material considerations indicate that
the need for the development overrides the presumption for mineral safeguarding such
that sterilisation of the mineral can be permitted following the exploration of
opportunities for prior extraction.

In my opinion, this mineral safeguarding policy is to be afforded diminished weight
because of the aforementioned Court of Appeal Decision as the policy seeks to
prevent housing development on the land. Notwithstanding the above, DM7
acknowledges there is a balance to be struck here and given that there are in my
opinion material considerations that indicate the need for such development overrides
the presumption for mineral safeguarding, | consider that the loss of potential
brickearth deposits (noting that it is not known what the site actually contains) may be
acceptable. In my opinion, the Council will be in a much stronger position to resist
potential mineral sterilisation proposals once it has a demonstrable 5 year supply of
housing land. The loss of potential minerals certainly represents an environmental cost
of the development that weighs against the proposal but as set out above it is possible
that the Council may reach the view that this harm is not sufficient to justify the
application being turned down on this ground. In order to inform Members’ assessment
of this issue, the applicant has been asked to provide further information with particular
regard to the practicability and viability of extracting the brickearth from this site. | will
update Members at the meeting.

rights of way
KCC Public Rights of Way considers the impact on the public right of way within the

application site to be acceptable including its junction with the proposed main street.
KCC requests a safe crossing point over the A2 which is provided.

Archaeology

9.33

KCC Archaeology notes the rich archaeological potential in the area as the A2 is a
known Roman Road corridor. A condition is requested and attached below to
satisfactorily deal with the issue.

Developer contributions

9.34

The required developer contributions have not been finalised at this point and the
appeal against non-determination means that these matters will be dealt with at the
appeal. The following contributions were requested at the time of writing and could be
subject to change;

Kent County Council
Primary Education £2360.96 per dwelling x 126 = £297,480.96 Towards Regis
Manor Phase 2 expansion.

115
Page 122



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Secondary Education £2359.80 per dwelling x 126 = £297,334.80 Towards
Sittingbourne Academy Phase 2 expansion.

Community Learning £60.43 per dwelling x 126 = £7614.18 Towards new equipment
at Sittingbourne Adult Education Centre

Youth Service £37.58 per dwelling x 126 = £4735.08 Towards new equipment at New
House Youth Centre, Sittingbourne

Libraries £227 per dwelling x 126 = £28,602.00 Towards fitting out costs of new
Library in Sittingbourne Hub and bookstock for mobile library service attending at
Newington.

Social Care £63.33 per dwelling x 126 = £7979.58 Towards Changing Place Facility in
Sittingbourne Hub

Kent Highways- has requested that the developer explore making contributions
towards local bus services in order to retain and possibly expand services to meet the
aims of their travel plan. This matter was to be left to the negotiation stage of S106.

Swale Borough Council;

Greenspaces- If the applicant is to provide and manage the proposed greenspace
and play area themselves the Council only requires details of the play equipment. If the
Council is to provide the greenspace and play area, a contribution of £861 per dwelling
is required. There would need to be details of facilities such as litter and dog bins. If the
land is to be transferred to the Council a 10 year commuted sum maintenance
contribution is required.

SPA Mitigation- £223.58 per dwelling with a proportional contribution for the Extra
Care facility based on residents ability to recreate on the SPA which was unresolved.
Wheelie Bins- 2 per dwelling = £75 per dwelling, with potential for larger more
expensive Euro bins to be provided for the extra care facility.

Highway Improvements - £88,935.

Swale Borough Council would charge a 5% monitoring fee of the total amount of all
contributions.

In addition, and further to Paragraphs 7.01 and 9.12 above, the Section 106
agreement will also need to make appropriate provision for affordable housing.

Medway Council;

Secondary Pupils- £286,322.40

Sixth Form Pupils- £83,720

| have contacted both Medway and KCC to ask whether they have coordinated their
responses so that the applicant does not get charged twice for the same school places
but a combined response has not yet been received.

The NHS Swale and NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical
Commissioning Groups- requests a contribution of £151,920 (reduced to reflect
amended 126 dwellings proposed) towards GP facilities in the area but did not
demonstrate CIL Regulation compliance in the request, which | have sought. This
amount is based on its assumption that each dwelling would contain 2.4 people and
each extra care unit would contain 2 people and it charges £360 per person.

9.35 Itis not sensible to try and provide a total amount of developer contributions requested
because this will inevitably change, potentially quite significantly. This issue would
have been resolved through normal negotiations of the S106 if the appeal had not
been submitted, and should not form a reason for refusal.

Utilities

116
Page 123



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

9.36

UK Power Networks raises no objection with regard to electricity supply. Southern Gas
Networks raises no objection with regard to gas supply but provides general guidance
for the applicant. Southern Water initially provided comments that made no reference
to the Utility Law document submitted with the application. | sought clarification from
Southern Water as to whether this document had been considered by them. Further
comments have been received essentially reiterating its initial request for drinking
water, surface water drainage and foul sewerage provision at the site to be dealt with
by pre-commencement condition. Surface water is being dealt with under the SUDS
but drinking water and foul sewage are deal with by condition below. It is considered
that this condition is justified because Southern Water has clarified that if the developer
utilises their statutory right to connect to public sewer the necessary capacity upgrades
may not keep pace with the development and lead to flooding problems which should
clearly be avoided. Relevant utility companies raise no objection to the proposal and
this is not considered to be an impediment to development.

Sustainability measures

9.37

The Council’s Climate Change officer has raised concerns about contradictions within
the submission about what sustainability measures would be included within the
development. However, it is clear from the NPPF - Planning Update: Written statement
- HCWSA488 that the code for sustainable homes has been abolished and the Council
has no basis to attach conditions requiring the achievement of a particular level under
the Code. However, it is appropriate to require the development to incorporate
sustainable design and construction measures in respect of the proposed dwellings
and, in respect of the care home, a level under the BREEAM system. Such conditions
are set out below.

Whether sustainable development?

9.38

9.39

9.40

9.41

In terms of the three strands of sustainable development - economic, social and
environmental- paragraphs 7 to 9 of the NPPF expects developments to seek
improvements across all three.

The additional dwellings including affordable dwellings and the extra care facility
represent social gains. Some limited weight is to be given to the serviced land for a
doctors’ surgery. The construction phase and longer term employment generation
from the extra care facility are economic gains but these are partially offset by the loss
of agricultural land and potential mineral reserves (subject to clarification) and their
attendant economic benefits. The highways impacts are now acceptable. As a result,
the proposal would result in some economic gains.

In terms of environmental considerations, the visual and landscape impacts are
considered acceptable, but there would be a loss of BMV agricultural land and
potential mineral deposits (subject to clarification). Heritage, transport, air quality and
ecological impacts have been demonstrated to be acceptable. Therefore, the proposal
goes provide environmental gains overall.

Overall, the proposal manages to secure gains across all three strands and as such
represents sustainable development. It is concluded that they comply with policy SP1
of the adopted local plan and policies ST1 and ST5 of the emerging local plan. In my
opinion and subject to clarification of the implications for brickearth extraction, the
adverse impacts of the development would be significantly and demonstrably
outweighed by the benefits given that the two significant costs associated with it,

117
Page 124



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

10.0

10.01

11.0

namely loss of agricultural land and potential minerals, do not amount to reasons for
refusal in their own right.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the proposed development would represent sustainable
development and is acceptable.

RECOMMENDATION — This application is, as explained above, the subject of a
planning appeal. As such the application will not be determined by Swale Borough
Council, however, the decision of the committee will indicate to the Secretary of State
the Council’s intended decision.

Had the appeal not be submitted, and subject to further information in respect of
brickearth, the recommendation would have been to grant planning permission subject
to a Section 106 Agreement and conditions as set out below.

The following conditions are recommended;

CONDITIONS to include

1)

2)

3)

4)

Details relating to the layout, scale and appearance of the proposed buildings, the
access thereto (excluding the access details for the vehicle access from London Road
which have already been provided) and the landscaping of the site shall be submitted
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before any development is
commenced.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Application for approval of reserved matters referred to in Condition (1) above must be
made not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant of
outline planning permission.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than

the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters or, in the
case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such matter to be
approved.

Reason: In pursuance of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition 1 above shall include a tree
belt along the north boundary of the extent the dwellings to be constructed and a
replacement hedge to the south of the visibility splays of the new vehicle access on to
London Road. The agreed measures shall be incorporated into the development in
accordance with a development phasing schedule to be agreed in writing.

Reason: In order to soften the impact on the setting of the grade Il listed building and
the former farm outbuildings to the north and to mitigate for the necessary removal of
the existing hedge along London Road.

118
Page 125



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

5)

6)

7

8)

9)

The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 shall include a lighting design for the site
and shall be designed to minimise the impact on bats. An ecologist shall be involved in
the design and it shall accord with the Bat Conservation Trusts Bat and Lighting in the
UK guidelines. The agreed measures shall be incorporated into the development in
accordance with a development phasing schedule to be agreed in writing.

Reason: In order to protect roosting, foraging and commuting bats.

The details submitted pursuant to condition 1 shall include details of on site ecological
enhancements. The agreed measures shall be incorporated into the development in
accordance with a development phasing schedule to be agreed in writing.

Reason: To secure ecological enhancements.

No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in

title, has secured the implementation of;

(1) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority; and

(i) following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure
preservation in situ of important archaeological remains and/or further
archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a specification
and timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority

Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through
preservation in situ or by record.

No impact pile driving in connection with the construction of the development shall take
place on the site on any Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day
except between the following times :-

Monday to Friday 0900 - 1700 hours unless in association with an emergency or with
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

No construction work and associated deliveries in connection with the development
shall take place on any Sunday or Bank Holiday, nor on any other day except between
the following times :-

Monday to Friday 0730 - 1800 hours, Saturdays 0830 - 1300 hours unless in
association with an emergency or with the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of residential amenity.

10) No development approved by this permission shall be commenced prior to a

contaminated land assessment (and associated remediation strategy if relevant),
being submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority,
comprising:

a) A desk study and conceptual model, based on the historical uses of the site and
proposed end-uses, and professional opinion as to whether further investigative
works are required. A site investigation strategy, based on the results of the desk

119
Page 126



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

study, shall be approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to any intrusive
investigations commencing on site.

b) An investigation, including relevant soil, soil gas, surface and groundwater
sampling, carried out by a suitably qualified and accredited consultant/contractor in
accordance with a Quality Assured sampling and analysis methodology.

c) A site investigation report detailing all investigative works and sampling on site,
together with the results of analyses, risk assessment to any receptors and a
proposed remediation strategy which shall be of such a nature as to render
harmless the identified contamination given the proposed end-use of the site and
surrounding environment, including any controlled waters.

Reason: To ensure any contaminated land is adequately dealt with.

11) Prior to the commencement of development details shall be submitted (or as part of

reserved matters) for the installation of electrical services and fixed telecommunication
infrastructure and High Speed Fibre Optic (minimal internal speed of 100mb)
connections to multi point destinations and all buildings including residential,
commercial and community. This shall provide sufficient capacity, including duct sizing
to cater for all future phases of the development with sufficient flexibility to meet the
needs of existing and future residents. The infrastructure shall be laid out in
accordance with the approved details and at the same time as other services during
the construction process. The development shall not resort to the erection of
distribution poles and overhead lines, and notwithstanding the provisions of the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 no
distribution pole or overhead line shall be erected other than with the express consent
of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to secure appropriate high quality communications infrastructure.

12) Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage

13)

scheme for the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall demonstrate that the surface water
generated by this development (for all rainfall durations and intensities up to and
including the climate change adjusted critical 100yr storm) can be accommodated and
disposed of through infiltration features designed and constructed with due regard to
ground and groundwater risks.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into
this proposal, to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions and to protect
vulnerable groundwater resources.

No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until details of the implementation,
maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall
be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the
approved details. Those details shall include:

0] a timetable for its implementation, and

(ii) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker,
or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable drainage system
throughout its lifetime.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into
this proposal, to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions and to protect
vulnerable groundwater resources.

120
Page 127



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

14) No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the
express written consent of the local planning authority (in consultation with the
Environment Agency); this shall only be given for those parts of the site where it has
been demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters.
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval details.

Reason: To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into
this proposal, to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions and to protect
vulnerable groundwater resources.

15) No work shall commence on the development site until the off-site highway works
shown on the approved drawings have been carried out in accordance with a design
and specification to be approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority and to be
fully implemented.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and amenity.

16) Before any work is commenced on site, a Construction Management Plan, including
details of delivery routes and the timing of these, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not proceed other
than in accordance with the approved programme.

Reason: In the interests highway safety and amenity.

17) During construction provision shall be made on the site to accommodate operatives'
and construction vehicles loading, off-loading or turning on the site.

Reason: To ensure that vehicles can be parked or manoeuvred off the highway in the
interests of highway safety.

18) Prior to the works commencing on site details of parking for site personnel / operatives
visitors shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and
thereafter shall be provided and retained throughout the construction of the
development. The approved parking shall be provided prior to the commencement of
the development.

Reason: To ensure provision of adequate off-street parking for vehicles in the
interests of highway safety and to protect the amenities of local residents.

19) Provision shall be made within the site for the disposal of surface water so as to
prevent its discharge onto the highway details of which shall have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

20) As an initial operation on site, adequate precautions shall be taken during the progress
of the works to guard against the deposit of mud and similar substances on the public
highway in accordance with proposals to be submitted to, and agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of amenity and road safety.

21) The access details shown on the approved plans shall be completed prior to the
commencement of any other works authorised by this permission, the occupation of

121
Page 128



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

any buildings hereby approved, the use of the site being commenced, and the access
shall thereafter be maintained.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

22) The details submitted in pursuance of reserved matters shall show adequate land
reserved for parking in accordance with the Approved County Parking Standards and,
upon approval of the details this area shall be provided, surfaced and drained before
any building is occupied and shall be retained for the use of the occupiers of, and
visitors to, the premises. Thereafter, no permanent development, whether or not
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be
carried out on the land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access
to the reserved vehicle parking area.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the parking
of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users and detrimental
to highway safety and amenity.

23) The proposed estate roads, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, street lighting,
sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water outfall, vehicle overhang
margins, embankments, visibility splays, accesses, carriageway gradients, drive
gradients, car parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid out in
accordance with details to be submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority
in writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections,
indicating as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and method of
construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a satisfactory
manner.

24) Before the first occupation of a dwelling / premises the following works between that
dwelling / premises and the adopted highway shall be completed as follows:
(A) Footways and/or footpaths shall be completed, with the exception of the
wearing course;
(B) Carriageways completed, with the exception of the wearing course, including
the provision of a turning facility beyond the dwelling together with related:
(1) highway drainage, including off-site works,
(2) junction visibility splays,
(3) street lighting, street nameplates and highway structures if any.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

25) Prior to the commencement of development details of the proposed means of water
supply and foul water disposal and an implementation timetable shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and timetable.

Reason: To ensure sufficient sewerage capacity to serve the development.

26) The areas shown on the approved drawings as proposed open space including
proposed equipped area of play and community orchard shall be reserved for the
general amenity of the area. Play spaces shall be surfaced and equipped with play
equipment, in accordance with a schedule agreed by the Local Planning Authority
before development is commenced and shall be provided before the last dwelling is

122
Page 129



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

occupied; no permanent development whether permitted by the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or not shall be
carried out in the areas so shown without the prior written approval of the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that these areas are made available in the interests of the
residential amenities of the area.

27) Prior to the commencement of development a scheme outlining the phasing of
development, including site layout plan identifying land uses such as formal and
informal open space and infrastructure, shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved phasing scheme.

Reason: In order to secure the appropriate phasing of the development.

28) The extra care facility hereby permitted shall be used solely for this purpose and for no
other purpose, including any other purposes in Class C2 of the Schedule to the Town
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).

Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area.

29) The development shall proceed in accordance with the following approved plans; site
location plan 6363-L-01 rev C, development framework plan 6363-L-03 rev |, Ashley
helme associates 1466/01 rev A.

Reason: For the sake of clarity and in the interests of proper planning.

30) None of the dwellings hereby approved shall be occupied until a Management Plan for
the Pond Farm outbuildings has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The buildings shall then be managed in accordance with the
plan in perpetuity.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding these heritage assets.

31) The care home building hereby approved shall be constructed to BREEAM ‘Very
Good’ Standard or an equivalent standard and prior to the use of the building the
relevant certification shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority confirming that
the required standard has been achieved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

32) The dwellings hereby approved shall incorporate sustainable design and construction
measures, and no development shall take place until details have been submitted to,
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which set out what measures
will be taken to ensure that the development incorporates sustainable construction
techniques such as rainwater harvesting, water conservation, energy efficiency and,
where appropriate, the use of local building materials; and provisions for the
production of renewable energy such as wind power, or solar thermal or solar photo
voltaic installations. Upon approval, the details shall be incorporated into the
development as approved.

Reason: In the interest of promoting energy efficiency and sustainable development.

123
Page 130



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

33) The details submitted in pursuance of condition (1) above shall be in accordance with a
Development Brief that shall first have been agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority and which shall include the following:

(a) Details of the road layout for the site;

(b) A comprehensive network of segregated pedestrian and cycle routes;

(c) An overall landscape strategy for the application site;

(d) A strategy for the architectural treatment of the buildings on the site, including
elevational treatment, roof design and the palette of colours;

(e) A lighting plan for the site, to include details of the lighting columns, the type and
luminance of the lighting units with glare shields and details of lux levels, both inside
and outside the site;

(f) A strategy for dwelling storey heights;

(g) A strategy for cycle parking.

Reasons: In the interests of promoting a consistent quality of development, sustainable
development, ecological protection and enhancement, and of visual and landscape amenity.

INFORMATIVES

1. The clearance of vegetation from the site should take place outside the breeding bird
season (March to August inclusive) or following a check by an experienced ecologist.

2. The applicant is advised to contact KCC Public Rights of Way to discuss its
requirements for works to the Right of Way on site by telephoning 03000 418142.

3. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby
approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where
required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in
order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. The
applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in
every aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is
therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to
progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site.

The Council's approach to this application:

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF), the Council takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. We work with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:

Offering pre-application advice.

Where possible, suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome.

As appropriate, updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the processing of
their application.

In this instance:

The applicant/agent was provided formal pre-application advice.
Amendments were sought from the application in order to overcome identified problems.

124
Page 131



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

NB For full details of all papers submitted with this application please refer to the relevant
Public Access pages on the council’s website.
The conditions set out in the report may be subject to such reasonable change as is
necessary to ensure accuracy and enforceability.

125
Page 132



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

APPENDIX

HABITATS REGULATIONS ASSESSMENT SCREENING
Context

This HRA has been undertaken without information provided by the applicant. SPAs are
protected sites classified in accordance with Article 4 of the EC Birds Directive. They are
classified for rare and vulnerable birds and for regularly occurring migratory species. Article
4(4) of the Birds Directive (2009/147/EC) requires

Member States to take appropriate steps to avoid pollution or deterioration of habitats or any
disturbances affecting the birds, in so far as these would be significant having regard to the
objectives of this Article.

For proposals likely to have a significant effect on a European site, the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations (2010) requires the Council to make an appropriate
assessment of the implications for the site. Para. 119 of the NPPF states that “The
presumption in favour of sustainable development ... does not apply where development
requiring appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered,
planned or determined.”

Given the scales of housing development proposed around the North Kent SPAs, the North

Kent Environmental Planning Group (NKEPG) commissioned a number of reports to assess

the current and future levels of recreational activity on the North Kent Marshes SPAs and

Ramsar sites. NKEPG comprises Canterbury, Dartford, Gravesham, Medway and Swale local

authorities, together with Natural England and other stakeholders. The following evidence has

been compiled:

»  Bird Disturbance Study, North Kent 2010/11 (Footprint Ecology).

+ What do we know about the birds and habitats of the North Kent Marshes? (Natural
England Commissioned Report 2011).

* North Kent Visitor Survey Results (Footprint Ecology 2011).

*  Estuary Users Survey (Medway Swale Estuary Partnerships, 2011).

*  North Kent Comparative Recreation Study (Footprint Ecology 2012).

* Recent Wetland Bird Surveys results produced by the British Trust for Ornithology.

+ Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries — Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014).

In July 2012, an overarching report summarised the evidence to enable the findings to be used

in the assessment of development. The report concluded (in summary):

*  There have been marked declines in the numbers of birds using the three SPAs.

» Disturbance is a potential cause of the declines. The bird disturbance study provided
evidence that the busiest locations support particularly low numbers of birds.

*  Within the Medway, the areas that have seen the most marked declines are the area north
of Gillingham, including the area around Riverside Country Park. This is one of the busiest
areas in terms of recreational pressure.

» Access levels are linked to local housing, with much of the access involving frequent use
by local residents.

»  Bird disturbance study - dog walking accounted for 55% of all major flight observations,
with a further 15% attributed to walkers without dogs along the shore.

» All activities (i.e. the volume of people) are potentially likely to contribute to additional
pressure on the SPA sites. Dog walking, and in particular dog walking with dogs off leads,
is currently the main cause of disturbance.

» Development within 6km of the SPAs is particularly likely to lead to increase in
recreational use.

126
Page 133



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Natural England’s advice to the affected local authorities is that it is likely that a significant
effect will occur on the SPAs/Ramsar sites from recreational pressure arising from new
housing proposals in the North Kent coastal area. The agreed response between Natural
England and the local authorities is to put in place strategic mitigation to avoid this effect — a
‘strategic solution.” This provides strategic mitigation for the effects of recreational disturbance
arising from development pressure on international sites and will normally enable residential
development to proceed on basis of mitigation provided avoiding a likely significant effect.

This strategic approach is set out in the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries — Strategic
Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014). It will normally
require the creation of on-site mitigation, such as the creation of open space suitable for dog
walking and, secondly, via payment of a dwelling tariff for off-site impacts. The money
collected from the tariff would be used by the North Kent Councils and its partners for
mitigation projects such as wardening, education, diversionary projects and habitat creation.
The policy context for such actions is provided by policies CP7 and DM28 of the ELP.

Associated information

The applicant’s ecological appraisal dated October 2014 contains some information to assist

the HRA. These matters have been considered, particularly those contained in Section 4.

However, the appraisal does not include sufficient information to enable the HRA to be

undertaken in its own right. As an example, it does not appear to contain a full assessment of

the evidence collected by NKEPG but it does commit the applicant to a per dwelling payment
for off-site mitigation as recommended by The Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries —

Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (Footprint Ecology 2014). Natural

England’s letter to SBC has also been considered; in particular that they have raised no

objections to the proposals in terms of their impact on designated nature

conservation sites. In advising SBC on the requirements relating to the Habitats Regulations

Assessment, and to assist it in screening for the likelihood of significant effects, based upon

the information provided, Natural England offered the following advice:

e The proposal are not necessary for the management of the European sites.

e That subject to an appropriate contribution being made to strategic mitigation, the
proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect on any of the European sites mentioned
above, and can therefore be screened out from any requirement for further assessment.

e Proportionate contributions for the extra care facility if they include permanent staff
accommodation and or the residents are able to recreate on the SPA.

The applicant has confirmed in section 4.12 of the Ecological Appraisal dated October

2014 submitted in support of the application that they will make a financial contribution to

the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries Strategic Access Management and Monitoring
Strategy in accordance with the recommendations of the North Kent Environmental Planning
Group. This strategic mitigation will need to be in place before the first dwelling is occupied.
As detailed in their letter of the 6 January 2015, Natural England has confirmed that a suite of
strategic measures similar to those set out in the Thames, Medway and Swale Estuaries
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy will provide appropriate mitigation.
However, they consider it is up to the local authorities to ensure that appropriate measures are
in place to allow the strategic mitigation to be delivered. This would include consideration of
the appropriate tariff.

The Assessment of Pond Farm

The application site is located within some 2-2.5 km of a popular access point Medway SPA at
Lower Halstow. The statement in para. 4.7 of the applicant’s Ecological Appraisal is not
accepted. Whilst there is not a direct point to point footpath between the application site and
the SPA, a mixture of footpaths and rural lanes make the SPA readily assessable on foot at

127
Page 134



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 2.5

Lower Halstow. In any event, recreational impacts are equally likely to occur as a result of
visitors arriving by car. This assessment has taken into account proposals for on-site
mitigation, such as dog-walking areas and the availability of other inland public footpaths close
to the site. Whilst these would no doubt supplement many day-to-day recreational activities,
the coastal SPA is nevertheless considered likely to be a likely draw of activity for residents
and as such these factors will not be sufficient to prevent off site recreation taking place on the
SPA.

Conclusions

Taking a precautionary approach, given the applicants commitment to provide on site
mitigation in the form of greenspace and financial contributions towards the SAMM it leads to
the conclusion that the proposals would not give rise to likely significant effects on the SPA. It
is concluded that the proposals can be screened out for purposes of Appropriate Assessment.
These would not lead to likely significant effects on the SPA.

128
Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 PART 5
PLANNING COMMITTEE - 28 APRIL 2016 PART 5
Report of the Head of Planning

PART 5

Decisions by County Council and Secretary of State, reported for information

o Item 5.1 — 226 Chequers Road, Minster
APPEAL ALLOWED

Observations

COMMITTEE REFUSAL.:

The Inspector concluded that given the special circumstances of this case, the
proposal would meet the policy requirements of achieving high standards of
design and consistency with context ,as it would provide a much more
coherent and balanced front elevation than existing ,albeit at the expense of
further increasing the size of the original bungalow.

. Item 5.2 — 1 New House, Broom Street, Graveney

APPEAL DISMISSED AND THE ENFORCEMENT NOTICE UPHELD WITH
AMENDMENTS

Observations

APPEAL AGAINST ENFORCEMENT NOTICE:

The Inspector has fully supported the Council’s actions on legal grounds and
supported our concern on amenity issues. He has however, suggested a
simpler way of addressing the concern, one which | had felt might be open to
a criticism of ambiguity, and which we will now have to interpret to ensure full
effect to the Inspector’s decision.

129
Page 137



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 5.1

| f@ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision

Site visit made on 8 March 2016

by Mrs A Wood DipArch MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Sacretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 24 March 2016

Appeal Ref: APP/V2255/D/15/3139729
226 Chequers Road, Minster on Sea, Kent ME12 351

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.

The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs P Sumner against the decision of Swale Borough
Coundil.

The application Ref:15/506335/FULL, dated 4 August 2015, was refused by notice dated
20 October 2015,

The development proposed is first floor side extension to dwelling and balcony, amend
elevations of conservatory permitted under application SW/15/502985/FULL.

Decision

1.

The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for first floor side
extension to dwelling and balcony, amend elevations of conservatory permitted
under application SW/15/502989/FULL at 226 Cheguers Road, Minster on Sea,
Kent ME12 35], in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref:
15/506335/FULL, dated 4 August 2015, subject to the following condibions:

1)  The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years
from the date of this decision.

2)  The development hereby permitted shall be carmied out in accordance
with the following approved plans: 339/PL/02, 539/PLA05, 539/PL/06G,
539/PL/07, 539B/P/03, and 539B/P/03A.

3) The matenals to be used in the construchion of the external surfaces of
the development hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing
building.

4)  The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a
1.8m high ohscure glazed panel iz installed on the side boundary on the
eastern side of the first floor balcony. The panel shall thereafter be
permanently retained as installed.

Main Issue

2.

The main issue is the effect that the proposal would have on the appearance of
the existing building and on the character and appearance of the surrounding
area.

wwwplanningportal.gov. uk/planninginspeciorate

130
Page 139



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 5.1

Appeal Decision APPNV2255/DV15/3139729

Reasons

3.

10.

The appeal property lies in a countryside location and is subject to the
restrictive Policy E6 of the Swale Borough Local Plan 2008, The policy aims to
protect and, where possible, enhance the quality, character and amenity value
of the Borough's wider countryside. To those ends, development in the
countryside would only be permitted in the limited circumstances listed in the
policy. Modest extensions to buildings already in residential use features in the
list. Policy RC4 reiterates that only modest extensions to dwellings in the rural
area will be permitted, and such extensions are expected to be of an
appropriate scale, mass and appearance to the location.

Alterations and extensions to existing buildings are subject to the criteria listed
in Policy E24. The list is short but addresses considerations of high quality
design, scale, compatibility with surroundings and residential amenity.

The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) sesks to restrict
extension to a property in the rural area to 60% of its original floorspace. The
SPG dates back to 1993, so its relevance in the context of current planning
policies 15 guestionable.

The National Planning Policy Framework (MPPF) is also concerned with
achieving high quality design responding to local character and reflective of the
identity of local surroundings and matenals. It is in those terms that I am
applying the policies mentioned eadier, and Policies E1 (general development
chteria) and E19 {achieving high quality design and distinctiveness), rather
than the prescriptive approach recommended in an outdated guidance. Though,
it must be said that even the SPG allows for flexibility to suit particular
circumstances. The emarging Local Plan is currently under consideration and so
carries limited weight. In any case, the relevant policies referred to in the
evidence are similar to those in the adopted Plan.

The proposal would extend the property at first floor level by approximately
4.5m. It would also provide accommodation at ground floor level in place of the
conservatory granted permission under application ref: SW/15/50298%/FULL.
Az with the permitted scheme, the appeal proposal would entail demolition of a
garage at the front and a single storey extension on the eastern side of the
property.

The dwelling was originally a small bungalow with a floor area of approximately
75 sqm. It has been the subject of a number of applications since 1985 and
now has a floorspace of some 153.5 sqm. The scale of increase of 105% could
not by any means be descnbed as modest. With the appeal scheme in place,
the dwelling would have grown in size by some 180% owver the original. But in
itself that should not be held against the scheme, given the circumstances of
the building’s current appearance and the site context, as 1 explain below.

As it currently stands, the building is a mismatch of flat-roofed extensions to
the rear and side, with what appears to be the onginal bungalow discemible
anly at the front. Even then, the front is poorly proportioned with a top-heawy
roof in which the two existing dormer windows appear out of scale with the
remainder of the roof.

The appeal scheme would transform the appearance of the building by drawing
together disparate forms under a single roof extending over an elongated first

wwwplanningportal.gov. uk/planninginspeciorate 2

131

Page 140



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 5.1

Appeal Decision APPNV2255/DV15/3139729

floor. In my view, the result would be a much more coherent and balanced
front elevation, albeit at the expense of further increasing the size of the
original bungalow. Consistency of window and door styles and a glass fronted
balcony extending across the rear would further unify and upgrade the
building’s appearance, particularly when viewed from the rear. The scheme
would result in a design of high guality but without markedly altering the
overall scale of the building or the amount of accommedation to be provided.

11. Looking at impact on the surrounding area. Improvements to the appearance
of the existing dwelling would be apparent when viewed from the street. That
would have a beneficial visual impact far cutweighing the effects of sesing the
additional accommodation at first floor level. The extended first floor would not
look out of place, given the size of neighbouring buildings either side of the
appeal property and others in the near vicinity. Furthermore, without any
significant changes to the scale of the existing building, the proposal would no
more intrude on the character of the countryside or views from it than is
presently the case.

12. In the light of my observations, it follows that the proposal would meet the
policy requirements of achieving high standards of design and consistency with
context. For the reasons given, which are very specific to the circumstances of
this case, I do not believe that allowing the appeal would undermine the
Council’s countryside policies.

13. To sum up, the proposal for extending and altering the existing property would
hawe a beneficial impact on its appearance and would not harm or impose upon
the streetscene or the countryside in which it is situated. The fact that a less
attractive or bulkier scheme might be achieved by using permitted
development nghts has no bearnng on the consideration of the ments of the
scheme before me.

14. The Council’s written evidence confirms that the neighbours’ living conditions
would not be adversely affected by the development. Provided that measures
are secured to obscure views from the side of the balcony, I agree with the
Council on that point. None of the other matters raised is sufficient to alter the
balance of my considerations or the condusion that the propasal would be
acceptable in terms of the main issues identified. The breach with the *maodest’
element of Policies E6 and RC4 is justified on the basis of the wider
improvements that the proposal would bring to the appearance of the property.
In all other respects it would accord with the development plan and should be
allowed.

15. Turmning to conditions, the time limit imposed is standard. The development is
to be undertaken in accordance with the approved plans, in the interest of
certainty. External matenals to match the existing are necessary to ensure that
the works of alteration and extension fit in with the existing building. To protect
neighbours” privacy, a 1.8m high obscured side panel to the eastern part of the
balcony should be installed and permanently retained. Conditions are imposed
accordingly to secure these items.

Ava Wood
Inspector

wwwplanningportal.gov. uk/planninginspeciorate 3

132
Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 5.2

| f@ The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decisions
Site visit made on 14 March 2016

by Mrs H M Higenbottam BA (Hons) MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Sacretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 13 April 2016

Appeal A: APP/V2255/C/15/3062068
Appeal B: APP/V2255/C/15/3062069
1 New Houses, Broom Street, Graveney, Faversham, Kent ME13 9DW

+ The appeals are made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1550 as
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.

+  Appeal A is made by Mrs Sarah Jefferys and Appeal B by Mr Brian Jeffarys agzinst an
enforcement notica issusd by Swale Borough Council.
The notice was issued on & May 2015,
The breach of planning contral as alleged in the notice is "Without planning permission,
the insartion of a rooflight window in extension not shown on plans granted under
application SW/12/0987.’

*+ The requirements of the notice are:

(i} Remowve the rooflight window from the extension;

(ii} Restore the roof as shown on the original plans on application SW/12/0987;

{ili} Remowve any materials or debris caused by compliance with (i) above,

*+ The period for compliance with the requirements is 2 months.

*+ The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2) (c) and (f) of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amendead.

Decisions
1. It is directed that the enforcement notice is comected by

+ The deletion from paragraph 3 of the words "in extension not shown on
plans granted under application SW/12/0987" and the substitution therefore
of the words "on the western roof slope of the rear extension’ in paragraph
3

And varied by

+ The deletion in paragraph 4 of the whole of the requirements (i), (i) and
(i) and the substtution therefor of the following:

1. The rooflight window shall be ohscure glazed: and
2. The rooflight window shall be non-opening.

2. Subject to these corrections and vanations Appeals A and B are dismissed and
the enforcement notice is upheld.

Preliminary Matters

3. The Town and Country Planning {General Permitted Development) (England)
Crder 1995 as amended (1995 GPDO) has now been replaced by the Town and

133
Page 143



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 5.2

Appeal Decisions APP/W2235/C/15/3062068 B 3062065

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015,
which came into force on 15 Apnl 2015, However, it was in force at the time
the works in question are said to have taken place and is therefore the relevant
Statutory Instrument for the purposes of my decision.

The Notice

4, The appeal property is an end of terrace two storey dwelling with
accommodation in the roof space. The other two properties within the terrace
are Mo 2 and Wayside. It is clear from the evidence submitted by both parties
that the rooflight window attacked by the Notice is on the west roof slope of
the rear extension granted under reference SW/12/0987, facing towards No 2
and Wayside. For the sake of clanty I will correct the allegation to “Without
planning permission, the insertion of a rooflight window on the western roof
slope of the rear extension.’

Appeal on ground (c)

5. In appealing on ground (c), the burden of proof s firmly on the appellants to
demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that the matters stated in the
enforcement notice do not amount to a breach of planning control.

6. Planning permission was granted for a two storey side and rear extension at
the appeal property under reference SW/12/0987. There is no rooflight
window shown on the approved plans of that permission on the western roof
slope of the rear extension. The appellants state that the extension was
constructed between Apnl and July 2013 and it was substantially complete in
July 2013 pending the manufacture and installation of a bespoke heating
systemn. In August 2013 re-plastering and decorating continued in the existing
property. In September 2013 the appellants appointed Mr John Bush to do
further work on the internal loft space including the installation of the window.
& letter from BJH Bush Estate Management confirms these dates. Assent
Building Control have confirmed that the two storey side and rear extensions
were substantially complete in July 2013.

7. The Council record in their statement that information was received in the
summer of 2014 that a “velux” window had been inserted into the recently built
two storey side and rear extension and the window was clear glazed and
capable of opening.

8. The rooflight window the subject of the Notice when inserted into the western
roof slope of the rear extension was clear glazed and capable of being opened.
It was not shown on the plans granted planning permission under reference
SW/12/0987. As such, it did not benefit from an express grant of planning
pErmission.

9, Class C of Part 1 of Schedule Z to the 1995 GPDO grants deemed planning
permission for any other alterations to the roof of a dwellinghouse. The
roofhght window is located on a roof slope forming a side elevation of the
dwellinghouse and at the time it was inserted it was clear glazed and openable
and less than 1.7m above the floor of the room in which the rooflight window
was installed. As such, it failed to comply with Conditions C.2 (a) and (b) of
Class C.

10. Therefore, whether or not the rooflight window was inserted as a separate
building operation after the construction of the extension granted express

2

134
Page 144



Planning Committee Report — 28 April 2016 ITEM 5.2

Appeal Decisions APP/W2235/C/15/3062068 B 3062065

planning permission it failed to comply with the relevant conditions of Class C
of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 1995 GPDO and thus required planning
permission. As such, the appeals on ground (<) fail.

Appeal on ground (f)

11. This ground of appeal is that the requirements of the notice are excessive and
lesser steps would overcome the objections. The appellants hawve undertaken
works to the rooflight window to fix it shut and have applied a film to the
glazing to obscure it. They consider that this addresses the overlooking issue
with the adjacent occupiers and with these alterations to the rooflight it would
be allowable "under permitted development” and it is excessive to require its
removal.

12. The Council state that if an application to retain the rooflight window had been
made it would be likely to be supported subject to conditions being imposed to
require obscure glazing and fixed nature of the window. In its view without
such conditions the window cold become unfixed and clear glazing installed
with impunity thus causing demonstrable harm to residential amenity. Local
residents have also stated that the rooflight window has resulted in loss of
privacy.

13. The purpose of the notice is therefore to remedy any injury to amenity. I
consider that a clear glazed and openable rooflight window on the western roof
slope results in significant overlooking and loss of privacy to the occupiers of
Mo 2 and Wayside. However, I am satisfied that this loss of privacy can be
satisfactorily addressed by varying the requirements to achieve an obscure
glazed and non-openable rooflight window.

14. Section 181 of the Act provides that compliance with an enforcement notice
does not discharge it. This means that if an enforcement notice 1s complied
with and the development is subsequently resumed there is a contravention of
the notice.

15. I will therefore vary the terms of the Notice to require the rooflight window to
be obscure glazed and non-opening. The appeals on ground (f) succeed to that
extent.

Hilda Higenbottam

Inspector

135
Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 8

By virtue of paragraph(s) 5, 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	6 Report of the Head of Planning
	Index
	2.1 - 46 Hartlip Hill, Hartlip
	2.2 - 6 Sheerstone, Iwade
	2.3 - Ceres Court, Eagles Close, Sittingbourne
	2.4 - Central Park Stadium, Church Road, Sittingbourne
	2.5 - Land off London Road, Newington
	Part 5 Index
	5.1
	5.2

	8 Report of the Head of Planning

